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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

MARCH 31, 2019 AND DECEMBER 31, 2018
(In thousands)

 March 31,  December 31,

 
2019  2018

ASSETS (unaudited)   
CURRENT ASSETS:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 49,522  $ 67,359
Trade receivables — net of allowance for uncollectible accounts — 2019 — $2,406 and 2018 —
$2,355 146,488  137,174

Other receivables 10,694  11,879

Inventories 198,922  197,536

Prepaid expenses and current other assets 11,220  11,326

Prepaid income taxes 3,620  3,627

Income tax refund receivables 1,317  933

    
Total current assets 421,783  429,834

    
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:    

Land and land improvements 26,764  26,801

Buildings 152,974  151,251

Manufacturing equipment 225,402  221,029

Furniture and fixtures 55,378  54,765

Leasehold improvements 34,221  33,678

Construction-in-progress 61,304  53,491

    
Total property and equipment 556,043  541,015

    
Less accumulated depreciation (215,279)  (209,563)

    
Property and equipment — net 340,764  331,452

    
OTHER ASSETS:    

Intangible assets:    
Developed technology — net of accumulated amortization — 2019 — $113,765 and 2018 —
$102,357 371,603  383,147

Other — net of accumulated amortization — 2019 — $52,469 and 2018 — $49,136 77,104  79,566

Goodwill 334,951  335,433

Deferred income tax assets 3,083  3,001

Right-of-use operating lease assets 80,453  —

Other assets 60,052  57,579

    
Total other assets 927,246  858,726

    
TOTAL $ 1,689,793  $ 1,620,012

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.   (continued)
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

MARCH 31, 2019 AND DECEMBER 31, 2018
(In thousands)

 March 31,  December 31,

 
2019  2018

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (unaudited)   
    
CURRENT LIABILITIES:    

Trade payables $ 51,680  $ 54,024

Accrued expenses 91,310  96,173

Current portion of long-term debt 22,000  22,000

Short-term operating lease liability 11,825  —

Income taxes payable 1,644  3,146

    
Total current liabilities 178,459  175,343

    
LONG-TERM DEBT 362,187  373,152

    
DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 56,324  56,363

    
LONG-TERM INCOME TAXES PAYABLE 392  392

    
LIABILITIES RELATED TO UNRECOGNIZED TAX BENEFITS 3,013  3,013

    
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PAYABLE 12,480  11,219

    
DEFERRED CREDITS 2,227  2,261

    
LONG-TERM OPERATING LEASE LIABILITY 72,243  —

    
OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 62,357  65,494

    
Total liabilities 749,682  687,237

    
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 5, 10, 11, 14 and 15)  
    
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:    

Preferred stock — 5,000 shares authorized as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018; no shares
issued —  —
Common stock, no par value; shares authorized — 2019 and 2018 - 100,000; issued and outstanding
as of March 31, 2019 - 54,995 and December 31, 2018 - 54,893 574,946  571,383

Retained earnings 369,713  363,425

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,548)  (2,033)

    
Total stockholders’ equity 940,111  932,775

    
TOTAL $ 1,689,793  $ 1,620,012

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.   (concluded)
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019 AND 2018
(In thousands, except per share amounts - unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 
2019  2018

NET SALES $ 238,349  $ 203,035
    

COST OF SALES 133,713  114,979
    

GROSS PROFIT 104,636  88,056
    

OPERATING EXPENSES:    
Selling, general and administrative 78,270  64,913
Research and development 16,043  14,322
Contingent consideration expense 775  40
Acquired in-process research and development 25  —

    

Total operating expenses 95,113  79,275
    

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 9,523  8,781
    

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):    
Interest income 357  146
Interest expense (2,764)  (2,398)
Other expense - net (270)  (170)

    

Total other expense — net (2,677)  (2,422)
    

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 6,846  6,359
    

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 651  1,090
    

NET INCOME $ 6,195  $ 5,269

    

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:    
Basic $ 0.11  $ 0.10

    

Diluted $ 0.11  $ 0.10

    

AVERAGE COMMON SHARES:    
Basic 54,917  50,277

    

Diluted 56,490  51,910

    

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.   
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019 AND 2018
(In thousands - unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2019  2018

Net income $ 6,195  $ 5,269
Other comprehensive income (loss):    

Cash flow hedges (2,577)  1,992
Income tax benefit (expense) 663  (512)

Foreign currency translation adjustment (615)  2,592
Income tax benefit 14  —

Total other comprehensive income (loss) (2,515)  4,072

Total comprehensive income $ 3,680  $ 9,341

    

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.   
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019 AND 2018

(In thousands - unaudited)

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 Accumulated Other

 
 

 Common Stock  Retained  Comprehensive

 Total  Shares  Amount  Earnings  Loss

BALANCE — January 1, 2019 $ 932,775  54,893  $ 571,383  $ 363,425  $ (2,033)
          

Net income 6,195      6,195   
Reclassify deferred gain on sale-leaseback upon adoption of ASC 842 93      93   
Other comprehensive loss (2,515)        (2,515)
Stock-based compensation expense 1,766    1,766     
Options exercised 1,365  95  1,365     
Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase Plans 432  7  432     

         

BALANCE — March 31, 2019 $ 940,111  54,995  $ 574,946  $ 369,713  $ (4,548)

          

          

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 Accumulated Other

 
 

 Common Stock  Retained  Comprehensive

 Total  Shares  Amount  Earnings  Income

BALANCE — January 1, 2018 $ 676,334  50,248  $ 353,392  $ 321,408  $ 1,534
          

Net income 5,269      5,269   
Other comprehensive income 4,072        4,072
Stock-based compensation expense 1,256    1,256     
Options exercised 1,286  91  1,286     
Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase Plans 294  7  294     

         

BALANCE — March 31, 2018 $ 688,511  50,346  $ 356,228  $ 326,677  $ 5,606

          

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.         
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019 AND 2018
(In thousands - unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2019  2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:    
Net income $ 6,195  $ 5,269

    

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    
Depreciation and amortization 22,348  15,284
Loss on sales and/or abandonment of property and equipment 288  351
Amortization of right-of-use operating lease assets 2,964  —
Write-off of patents and intangible assets —  57
Acquired in-process research and development 25  —
Amortization of deferred credits (35)  (36)
Amortization of long-term debt issuance costs 201  201
Stock-based compensation expense 1,766  1,256
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:    

Trade receivables (11,557)  (13,166)
Other receivables 1,070  898
Inventories (1,340)  (5,388)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 19  (1,223)
Prepaid income taxes (53)  (72)
Income tax refund receivables (442)  (205)
Other assets (2,092)  (491)
Trade payables (878)  8,409
Accrued expenses (3,450)  (2,395)
Income taxes payable (879)  (480)
Deferred compensation payable 1,261  3
Operating lease liabilities (3,054)  —
Other long-term obligations 1,148  (337)

    

Total adjustments 7,310  2,666
    

Net cash provided by operating activities 13,505  7,935
    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:    
Capital expenditures for:    

Property and equipment (18,255)  (16,239)
Intangible assets (853)  (885)

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment 3  3
Cash paid in acquisitions, net of cash acquired (1,942)  (100,195)

    

Net cash used in investing activities (21,047)  (117,316)
    

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.   (continued)
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019 AND 2018
(In thousands - unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2019  2018

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:    
Proceeds from issuance of common stock $ 1,733  $ 1,511
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 43,119  256,971
Payments on long-term debt (54,119)  (148,971)
Contingent payments related to acquisitions (554)  (15)

    

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (9,821)  109,496
    

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH (474)  1,720
    

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (17,837)  1,835
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:    
Beginning of period 67,359  32,336

    

End of period $ 49,522  $ 34,171

    

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION    
Cash paid during the period for:    

Interest (net of capitalized interest of $241 and $146, respectively) $ 2,721  $ 2,383

    

Income taxes $ 1,934  $ 1,810

    

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Property and equipment purchases in accounts payable $ 4,588  $ 1,752

    

Right-of-use operating lease assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $ 1,162  $ —

    

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.   (concluded)
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)
 
1. Basis of Presentation. The interim consolidated financial statements of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. ("Merit," "we" or "us") for the three-month periods
ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 are not audited. Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements for unaudited
interim periods and, consequently, do not include all disclosures required to be made in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. In the opinion of our management, the accompanying consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments, consisting of
normal recurring accruals, necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and our results of
operations and cash flows for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. The results of operations for the three-month periods ended March 31,
2019 and 2018 are not necessarily indicative of the results for a full-year period. These interim consolidated financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K (the "2018 Form 10-K") for the year ended December 31, 2018, which
was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on March 1, 2019.

2. Inventories. Inventories at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, consisted of the following (in thousands):

 March 31,  December 31,

 
2019  2018

Finished goods $ 117,112  $ 117,703
Work-in-process 20,192  14,380
Raw materials 61,618  65,453
    

Total Inventories $ 198,922  $ 197,536

 

3. Stock-Based Compensation Expense. The stock-based compensation expense before income tax expense for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
2018, consisted of the following (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 
2019  2018

Cost of sales $ 252  $ 184
Research and development 192  124
Selling, general and administrative 1,322  948

Stock-based compensation expense before taxes $ 1,766  $ 1,256

We recognize stock-based compensation expense (net of a forfeiture rate) for those awards which are expected to vest on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period. We estimate the forfeiture rate based on our historical experience and expectations about future forfeitures. As of March 31, 2019, the
total remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options, net of expected forfeitures, was approximately $32.8 million and was
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.48 years.

During the three-month period ended March 31, 2019, we granted stock-based awards representing 909,603 shares of our common stock. During the three-
month period ended March 31, 2018, we granted stock-based awards representing 492,002 shares of our common stock. We use the Black-Scholes
methodology to value the stock-based compensation expense for options. In applying the Black-Scholes methodology to the option grants, the fair value of
our stock-based awards granted was estimated using the following assumptions for the periods indicated below:
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 Three Months Ended March 31,

 

2019  2018

Risk-free interest rate 2.42% - 2.56%  2.63%
Expected option term 3.0 - 5.0 years  5.0 years
Expected dividend yield —  —
Expected price volatility 28.93% - 33.69%  34.32%

The average risk-free interest rate is determined using the U.S. Treasury rate in effect as of the date of grant, based on the expected term of the stock
options. We determine the expected term of the stock options using the historical exercise behavior of employees. The expected price volatility was
determined using a weighted average of daily historical volatility of our stock price over the corresponding expected option term and implied volatility based
on recent trends of the daily historical volatility. For options with a vesting period, compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
service period, which corresponds to the vesting period. 

4. Earnings Per Common Share (EPS). The computation of weighted average shares outstanding and the basic and diluted earnings per common share for
the following periods consisted of the following (in thousands, except per share amounts):

 
Net

Income  Shares  
Per Share
Amount

Three-month period ended March 31, 2019:
 

 
 

 
 

Basic EPS $ 6,195  54,917  $ 0.11

Effect of dilutive stock options   1,573   
      
Diluted EPS $ 6,195  56,490  $ 0.11

      
Stock options excluded from the calculation of common stock equivalents as the
impact was anti-dilutive   976   

      

Three-month period ended March 31, 2018:      
Basic EPS $ 5,269  50,277  $ 0.10

Effect of dilutive stock options   1,633   
      
Diluted EPS $ 5,269  51,910  $ 0.10

      
Stock options excluded from the calculation of common stock equivalents as the
impact was anti-dilutive   184   
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5. Acquisitions. On March 28, 2019, we paid $2 million to acquire convertible participating preferred shares of Fluidx Medical Technology, LLC ("Fluidx"),
owner of certain technology proposed to be used in the development of embolic and adhesive agents for use in arterial, venous, vascular graft and
cardiovascular applications inside and outside the heart and related appendages. Our investment in Fluidx has been recorded as an equity investment
accounted for at cost and reflected within other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets because we are not able to exercise significant
influence over the operations of Fluidx. Our total current investment in Fluidx represents an ownership of approximately 12.7% of the outstanding equity
interests of Fluidx.

On December 14, 2018, we consummated an acquisition transaction contemplated by an asset purchase agreement with Vascular Insights, LLC and VI
Management, Inc. (combined "Vascular Insights") and acquired Vascular Insight's intellectual property rights, inventory and certain other assets, including,
the ClariVein® IC system and the ClariVein OC system. The ClariVein systems are specialty infusion and occlusion catheter systems with rotating wire tips
designed for the controlled 360-degree dispersion of physician-specified agents to the targeted treatment area. We accounted for this acquisition as a business
combination. The purchase consideration included an upfront payment of $40 million, and we are obligated to pay up to an additional $20 million based on
achieving certain revenue milestones specified in the asset purchase agreement. The sales and results of operations related to this acquisition have been
included in our cardiovascular segment. During the three-month period ended March 31, 2019, net sales of products acquired from Vascular Insights were
approximately $1.5 million. It is not practical to separately report earnings related to the products acquired from Vascular Insights, as we cannot split out sales
costs related solely to the products we acquired from Vascular Insights, principally because our sales representatives sell multiple products (including the
products we acquired from Vascular Insights) in our cardiovascular business segment. Acquisition-related costs associated with the Vascular Insights
acquisition, which were included in selling, general and administrative expenses during the year ended December 31, 2018, were not material. We are in the
process of finalizing the net working capital adjustment pursuant to the asset purchase agreement. The purchase price was preliminarily allocated as follows
(in thousands):

 Inventories $ 1,353
 Intangibles  
 Developed technology 32,750
 Customer list 840
 Trademarks 1,410
 Goodwill 21,847
   

 Total net assets acquired $ 58,200

We are amortizing the developed technology intangible asset acquired from Vascular Insights over 12 years, the related trademarks over nine years and the
customer list on an accelerated basis over eight years. The total weighted-average amortization period for these acquired intangible assets is approximately
11.8 years.

On November 13, 2018, we consummated an acquisition transaction contemplated by a merger agreement to acquire Cianna Medical, Inc. ("Cianna
Medical"). The purchase consideration consisted of an upfront payment of $135 million plus a final working capital adjustment of approximately $1.2 million
in cash, with potential earn-out payments of up to an additional $15 million for achievement of supply chain and scalability metrics and up to an additional
$50 million for the achievement of sales milestones. Cianna Medical developed the first non-radioactive, wire-free breast cancer localization system. Its
SCOUT® and SAVI® Brachy technologies are FDA-cleared and address unmet needs in the delivery of radiation therapy, tumor localization and surgical
guidance. We accounted for this acquisition as a business combination. During the three-month period ended March 31, 2019, net sales of Cianna Medical
products were approximately $12.8 million. It is not practical to separately report earnings related to the products acquired from Cianna Medical, as we
cannot split out sales costs related solely to the products we acquired from Cianna Medical, principally because our sales representatives sell multiple
products (including the products we acquired from Cianna Medical) in our cardiovascular business segment. Acquisition-related costs associated with the
Cianna Medical acquisition, which were included in selling, general and administrative expenses during the year ended December 31, 2018, were
approximately $3.5 million. The following table summarizes the preliminary purchase price allocated to the net assets acquired from Cianna Medical (in
thousands):
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Assets Acquired  
Trade receivables $ 6,151
Inventories 5,803
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 315
Property and equipment 1,047
Other long-term assets 14
Intangibles  

Developed technology 134,510
Customer lists 3,330
Trademarks 7,080
Goodwill 65,802

Total assets acquired 224,052
  

Liabilities Assumed  
Trade payables (1,497)
Accrued expenses (2,384)
Other long-term liabilities (1,527)
Deferred income tax liabilities (30,363)

Total liabilities assumed (35,771)
  

Total net assets acquired $ 188,281

We are amortizing the developed technology intangible assets of Cianna Medical over 11 years, the related trademarks over ten years and the customer lists
on an accelerated basis over eight years. The total weighted-average amortization period for these acquired intangible assets is approximately 10.7 years.

On May 23, 2018, we entered into an asset purchase agreement with DirectACCESS Medical, LLC (“DirectACCESS”) to acquire its assets, including, certain
product distribution agreements for the FirstChoice™ Ultra High Pressure PTA Balloon Catheter. We accounted for this acquisition as a business
combination. The purchase price for the assets was approximately $7.3 million. The sales and results of operations related to the acquisition have been
included in our cardiovascular segment since the acquisition date and were not material. Acquisition-related costs associated with the DirectACCESS
acquisition, which were included in selling, general and administrative expenses during the year ended December 31, 2018, were not material. The purchase
price was preliminarily allocated as follows (in thousands):

Inventories $ 971
Intangibles  

Developed technology 4,840
Customer list 120
Trademarks 400
Goodwill 938

  

Total net assets acquired $ 7,269

We are amortizing the developed technology intangible asset of DirectACCESS over ten years, the related trademarks over ten years and the customer list on
an accelerated basis over five years. The total weighted-average amortization period for these acquired intangible assets is approximately 9.9 years.

    
On February 14, 2018, we acquired certain divested assets from Becton, Dickinson and Company ("BD"), for an aggregate purchase price of $100.3 million.
The assets acquired include the soft tissue core needle biopsy products sold under the tradenames of Achieve® Programmable Automatic Biopsy System,
Temno® Biopsy System, Tru-Cut® Biopsy Needles as well as Aspira® Pleural Effusion Drainage Kits, and the Aspira® Peritoneal Drainage System. We
accounted for this acquisition as a business
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combination. During the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, our net sales of BD products were approximately $11.6 million and $6.3
million, respectively. It is not practical to separately report earnings related to the products acquired from BD, as we cannot split out sales costs related solely
to the products we acquired from BD, principally because our sales representatives sell multiple products (including the products we acquired from BD) in
our cardiovascular business segment. Acquisition-related costs associated with the BD acquisition, which were included in selling, general and administrative
expenses during the year ended December 31, 2018, were approximately $1.8 million. The following table summarizes the purchase price allocated to the
assets acquired from BD (in thousands):

Inventories $ 5,804
Property and equipment 748
Intangibles  

Developed technology 74,000
Customer list 4,200
Trademarks 4,900
In-process technology 2,500
Goodwill 9,728

  

Total net assets acquired $ 101,880

We are amortizing the developed technology intangible assets acquired from BD over eight years, the related trademarks over nine years and the customer
lists on an accelerated basis over seven years. The total weighted-average amortization period for these acquired intangible assets is eight years.

The following table summarizes our consolidated results of operations for the three-month period ended March 31, 2018, as well as unaudited pro forma
consolidated results of operations as though the acquisition of Cianna Medical and Vascular Insights had occurred on January 1, 2017 (in thousands, except
per common share amounts):

  Three Months Ended

  March 31, 2018

  As Reported  Pro Forma

Net sales  $ 203,035  $ 222,440
Net income  5,269  (2,050)
Earnings per common share:     

Basic  $ 0.10  $ (0.04)

Diluted  $ 0.10  $ (0.04)

* The pro forma results for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 are not included in the table above because the
operating results for the Cianna Medical and Vascular Insights acquisitions were included in our consolidated statements of income for this period.

The unaudited pro forma information set forth above is for informational purposes only and includes adjustments related to the step-up of acquired
inventories, amortization expense of acquired intangible assets and interest expense on long-term debt. The pro forma information should not be considered
indicative of actual results that would have been achieved if the acquisition of Cianna Medical and Vascular Insights had occurred on January 1, 2017, or
results that may be obtained in any future period. The pro forma consolidated results of operations do not include the acquisition of assets from BD because it
was deemed impracticable to obtain information to determine net income associated with the acquired product lines which represent a small product line of a
large, consolidated company without standalone financial information. The pro forma consolidated results of operations do not include the DirectACCESS
acquisition as we do not deem the pro forma effect of this transaction to be material.

    
The goodwill arising from the acquisitions discussed above consists largely of the synergies and economies of scale we hope to achieve from combining the
acquired assets and operations with our historical operations. The goodwill recognized from certain acquisitions is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

6. Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
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In accordance with Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) ("ASC 606"), we recognize revenue
when a customer obtains control of promised goods. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for these
goods.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The disaggregation of revenue is based on type of product and geographical region. For descriptions of our product offerings and segments, see Note 13 in
our 2018 Form 10-K.

The following tables present revenue from contracts with customers for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31, 2019  Three Months Ended March 31, 2018

 United States  International  Total  United States  International  Total

Cardiovascular            
Stand-alone devices $ 53,400  $ 42,027  $ 95,427  $ 44,010  $ 39,236  $ 83,246
Cianna Medical 12,849  —  12,849  —  —  —
Custom kits and procedure trays 22,055  10,888  32,943  22,318  10,954  33,272
Inflation devices 7,972  14,045  22,017  7,668  14,751  22,419
Catheters 19,412  23,627  43,039  15,270  18,595  33,865
Embolization devices 4,706  7,121  11,827  5,033  7,554  12,587
CRM/EP 10,098  2,280  12,378  8,838  1,628  10,466

Total 130,492  99,988  230,480  103,137  92,718  195,855
            

Endoscopy            
Endoscopy devices 7,568  301  7,869  6,918  262  7,180

            

Total $ 138,060  $ 100,289  $ 238,349  $ 110,055  $ 92,980  $ 203,035

7. Segment Reporting. We report our operations in two operating segments: cardiovascular and endoscopy. Our cardiovascular segment consists of
cardiology and radiology medical device products which assist in diagnosing and treating coronary artery disease, peripheral vascular disease and other non-
vascular diseases and includes embolotherapeutic, cardiac rhythm management ("CRM"), electrophysiology ("EP"), critical care, interventional oncology and
spine devices, and our Cianna Medical product line. Our endoscopy segment focuses on the gastroenterology, pulmonary and thoracic surgery specialties,
with a portfolio consisting primarily of stents, dilation balloons, certain inflation devices, guide wires, and other disposable products, as well as the products
related to our distribution agreement with NinePoint Medical Inc. ("NinePoint Medical"). We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on
net sales and operating income. 

Financial information relating to our reportable operating segments and reconciliations to the consolidated totals for the three-month periods ended March 31,
2019 and 2018, are as follows (in thousands):
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 Three Months Ended March 31,

 
2019  2018

Net Sales
 

 
 

Cardiovascular $ 230,480  $ 195,855
Endoscopy 7,869  7,180
Total net sales $ 238,349  $ 203,035

    
Operating Income    

Cardiovascular 7,619  6,397
Endoscopy 1,904  2,384
Total operating income 9,523  8,781

    

Total other expense - net (2,677)  (2,422)
    

Income tax expense 651  1,090
    

Net income $ 6,195  $ 5,269

8. Recently Issued Financial Accounting Standards.

Recently Adopted

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842)
("ASC 842"), which requires lessees to recognize right-of-use ("ROU") assets and related lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases greater than one
year in duration. We adopted ASC 842 on January 1, 2019 using a modified retrospective transition approach for leases existing at, or entered into after, the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. The modified retrospective approach did not require any transition
accounting for leases that expired before the earliest comparative period presented. The adoption of this standard resulted in the recording of ROU assets and
lease liabilities for all of our lease agreements with original terms of greater than one year. The adoption of ASC 842 did not have a significant impact on our
consolidated statements of operations or cash flows. See Note 14 for the required disclosures relating to our lease agreements.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment
Accounting, which simplifies the accounting for nonemployee share-based payment transactions by expanding the scope of ASC Topic 718, Compensation -
Stock Compensation, to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. Under the new standard, most of the
guidance on stock compensation payments to nonemployees would be aligned with the requirements for share-based payments granted to employees. This
standard became effective for us on January 1, 2019. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects
from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, which allows a reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings for
stranded tax effects resulting from U.S. federal tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, which was enacted in December 2017 (the
"2017 Tax Act"). ASU 2018-02 became effective for us on January 1, 2019. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities, which
expands and refines hedge accounting for both financial and non-financial risk components, aligns the recognition and presentation of the effects of hedging
instruments and hedge items in the financial statements, and includes certain targeted improvements to ease the application of current guidance related to the
assessment of hedge effectiveness. ASU 2017-12 became effective for us on January 1, 2019. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on
our consolidated financial statements.
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We do not believe any other issued and not yet effective accounting standards will be relevant to our consolidated financial statements.

9. Income Taxes. Our provision for income taxes for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was a tax expense of approximately $651,000 and
$1.1 million, respectively, which resulted in an effective tax rate of 9.5% and 17.1%, respectively. The decrease in the income tax expense and effective
income tax rate for the first quarter of 2019 as compared to the first quarter of 2018 was primarily due to an increase in the discrete tax benefit related to
share-based payment awards.

10. Revolving Credit Facility and Long-Term Debt. Principal balances outstanding under our long-term debt obligations as of March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, consisted of the following (in thousands):

 March 31, 2019  December 31, 2018

2016 Term loan $ 68,750  $ 72,500
2016 Revolving credit loans 308,750  316,000
Collateralized debt facility 7,000  7,000
Less unamortized debt issuance costs (313)  (348)
Total long-term debt 384,187  395,152
Less current portion 22,000  22,000

Long-term portion $ 362,187  $ 373,152

2016 Term Loan and Revolving Credit Loans

On July 6, 2016, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (as amended to date, the “Second Amended Credit Agreement”), with
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, swingline lender and a lender, and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as sole lead arranger and
sole bookrunner. In addition to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Bank of America, N.A., U.S. Bank, National Association, and HSBC Bank USA,
National Association, are parties to the Second Amended Credit Agreement as lenders. The Second Amended Credit Agreement amends and restates in its
entirety our previously outstanding Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and all amendments thereto. The Second Amended Credit Agreement was
amended on September 28, 2016 to allow for a new revolving credit loan to our wholly-owned subsidiary, on March 20, 2017 to allow flexibility in how we
apply net proceeds received from equity issuances to prepay outstanding indebtedness, on December 13, 2017 to increase the revolving credit commitment by
$100 million to $375 million, and on March 28, 2018 to amend certain debt covenants.

The Second Amended Credit Agreement provides for a term loan of $150 million and a revolving credit commitment up to an aggregate amount of $375
million, which includes a reserve of $25 million to make swingline loans from time to time. The term loan is payable in quarterly installments in the amounts
provided in the Second Amended Credit Agreement until the maturity date of July 6, 2021, at which time the term and revolving credit loans, together with
accrued interest thereon, will be due and payable. At any time prior to the maturity date, we may repay any amounts owing under all revolving credit loans,
term loans, and all swingline loans in whole or in part, subject to certain minimum thresholds, without premium or penalty, other than breakage costs.

Revolving credit loans denominated in dollars and term loans made under the Second Amended Credit Agreement bear interest, at our election, at either a
Base Rate or Eurocurrency Base Rate (as such terms are defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) plus the applicable margin, which increases as
our Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) increases. Revolving credit loans denominated in an
Alternative Currency (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) bear interest at the Eurocurrency rate plus the applicable margin. Swingline
loans bear interest at the Base Rate plus the applicable margin. Upon an event of default, the interest rate may be increased by 2.0%. The revolving credit
commitment also carries a commitment fee of 0.15% to 0.40% per annum on the unused portion.

The Second Amended Credit Agreement is collateralized by substantially all our assets. The Second Amended Credit Agreement contains covenants,
representations and warranties, and other terms customary for loans of this nature. The Second Amended Credit Agreement requires that we maintain certain
financial covenants, as follows:
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   Covenant Requirement
Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (1)   
 January 1, 2018 and thereafter  3.5 to 1.0
Consolidated EBITDA (2)  1.25 to 1.0
Consolidated Net Income (3)  $0
Facility Capital Expenditures (4)  $30 million

(1) Maximum Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) as of any fiscal quarter end.

(2) Minimum ratio of Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement and adjusted for certain expenditures) to Consolidated
Fixed Charges (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters.

(3) Minimum level of Consolidated Net Income (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) for certain periods, and subject to certain
adjustments.

(4) Maximum level of the aggregate amount of all Facility Capital Expenditures (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) in any fiscal year.

Additionally, the Second Amended Credit Agreement contains customary events of default and affirmative and negative covenants for transactions of this
type. As of March 31, 2019, we believe we were in compliance with all covenants set forth in the Second Amended Credit Agreement.

As of March 31, 2019, we had outstanding borrowings of approximately $377.5 million under the Second Amended Credit Agreement, with additional
available borrowings of approximately $65.5 million, based on the leverage ratio required pursuant to the Second Amended Credit Agreement. Our interest
rate as of March 31, 2019 was a fixed rate of 2.62% on $175 million as a result an interest rate swap (see Note 11) and a variable floating rate of 4.00% on
$202.5 million. Our interest rate as of December 31, 2018 was a fixed rate of 2.12% on $175 million as a result of an interest rate swap and a variable floating
rate of 3.52% on $213.5 million.

Collateralized Debt Facility

On January 11, 2019, we renewed our loan agreement with HSBC Bank USA, National Association ("HSBC Bank") whereby HSBC Bank agreed to provide
us with a loan in the amount of $7.0 million. The loan matured and was settled on April 10, 2019. The loan agreement bore interest at the three-month
London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 1.0%, which reset quarterly. The loan was secured by assets having a value not less than the outstanding
loan balance. The loan contained covenants, representations and warranties and other terms customary for loans of this nature. As of March 31, 2019, our
interest rate on the loan was a variable rate of 3.43%.

Future Payments

Future minimum principal payments on our long-term debt as of March 31, 2019, are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending  Future Minimum

December 31  Principal Payments

Remaining 2019  $ 18,250
2020  17,500
2021  348,750

Total future minimum principal payments  $ 384,500

11. Derivatives.
 
General. Our earnings and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, and we seek to mitigate
a portion of these risks by entering into derivative contracts. The derivatives we use are interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward contracts. We
recognize derivatives as either assets or liabilities at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, regardless of whether or not hedge
accounting is applied. We report cash flows arising from our hedging instruments consistent with the classification of cash flows from the underlying hedged
items. Accordingly, cash flows associated with our derivative instruments are classified as operating activities in the accompanying consolidated statements of
cash flows.

18



Table of Contents

We formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of transactions that receive hedge accounting initially and on an ongoing basis. Changes in the
fair value of derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting treatment are recorded, net of applicable taxes, in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),
a component of stockholders’ equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. When the hedged transaction occurs, gains or losses are reclassified
into earnings in the same line item associated with the forecasted transaction and in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects
earnings. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated as hedging instruments are recorded in earnings throughout the term of the derivative.

Interest Rate Risk. A portion of our debt bears interest at variable interest rates and, therefore, we are subject to variability in the cash paid for interest
expense. In order to mitigate a portion of this risk, we use a hedging strategy to reduce the variability of cash flows in the interest payments associated with a
portion of the variable-rate debt outstanding under our Second Amended Credit Agreement that is solely due to changes in the benchmark interest rate.

Derivative Instruments Designated as Cash Flow Hedges

On August 5, 2016, we entered into a pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap with a current notional amount of $175 million with Wells Fargo to fix the
one-month LIBOR rate at 1.12%. The variable portion of the interest rate swap is tied to the one-month LIBOR rate (the benchmark interest rate). On a
monthly basis, the interest rates under both the interest rate swap and the underlying debt reset, the swap is settled with the counterparty, and interest is paid.
The interest rate swap is scheduled to expire on July 6, 2021.

At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our interest rate swap qualified as a cash flow hedge. The fair value of our interest rate swap at March 31, 2019
was an asset of approximately $4.3 million, which was partially offset by approximately $1.1 million in deferred taxes. The fair value of our interest rate swap
at December 31, 2018 was an asset of approximately $5.8 million, which was offset by approximately $1.5 million in deferred taxes.

Foreign Currency Risk. We operate on a global basis and are exposed to the risk that our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could be
adversely affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates. To reduce the potential effects of foreign currency exchange rate movements on net
earnings, we enter into derivative financial instruments in the form of foreign currency exchange forward contracts with major financial institutions. Our
policy is to enter into foreign currency derivative contracts with maturities of up to two years. We are primarily exposed to foreign currency exchange rate
risk with respect to transactions and balances denominated in Euros, British Pounds, Chinese Renminbi, Mexican Pesos, Brazilian Reals, Australian Dollars,
Hong Kong Dollars, Swiss Francs, Swedish Krona, Canadian Dollars, Danish Krone, Japanese Yen, Korean Won, and Singapore Dollars. We do not use
derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. We are not subject to any credit risk contingent features related to our derivative
contracts, and counterparty risk is managed by allocating derivative contracts among several major financial institutions.

Derivative Instruments Designated as Cash Flow Hedges

We enter into forward contracts on various foreign currencies to manage the risk associated with forecasted exchange rates which impact revenues, cost of
sales, and operating expenses in various international markets. The objective of the hedges is to reduce the variability of cash flows associated with the
forecasted purchase or sale of the associated foreign currencies. We enter into approximately 150 cash flow foreign currency hedges every month. As of
March 31, 2019, we had entered into foreign currency forward contracts, which qualified as cash flow hedges, with the following notional amounts (in
thousands and in local currencies):

Currency Symbol Forward Notional Amount
Australian Dollar AUD 3,100
Canadian Dollar CAD 3,850
Swiss Franc CHF 2,125
Chinese Renminbi CNY 238,000
Danish Krone DKK 15,725
Euro EUR 18,065
British Pound GBP 4,915
Japanese Yen JPY 1,305,000
Korean Won KRW 3,750,000
Mexican Peso MXN 215,500
Swedish Krona SEK 25,180
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Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Cash Flow Hedges

We forecast our net exposure in various receivables and payables to fluctuations in the value of various currencies, and we enter into foreign currency forward
contracts to mitigate that exposure. We enter into approximately 20 foreign currency fair value hedges every month. As of March 31, 2019, we had entered
into foreign currency forward contracts related to those balance sheet accounts, with the following notional amounts (in thousands and in local currencies):

Currency Symbol Forward Notional Amount
Australian Dollar AUD 11,400
Brazilian Real BRL 9,000
Canadian Dollar CAD 1,136
Swiss Franc CHF 500
Chinese Renminbi CNY 50,920
Danish Krone DKK 4,550
Euro EUR 7,293
British Pound GBP 3,350
Hong Kong Dollar HKD 11,000
Japanese Yen JPY 265,000
Korean Won KRW 5,500,000
Mexican Peso MXN 18,000
Swedish Krona SEK 12,000
Singapore Dollar SGD 8,500

Balance Sheet Presentation of Derivative Instruments. As of March 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, all derivative instruments, both those designated as
hedging instruments and those that were not designated as hedging instruments, were recorded gross at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets. We are
not subject to any master netting agreements.

The fair value of derivative instruments on a gross basis was as follows on the dates indicated (in thousands):

    Fair Value

  Balance Sheet Location  March 31, 2019  December 31, 2018

Derivative instruments designated as hedging instruments     
Assets       
Interest rate swap  Other assets (long-term)  $ 4,321  $ 5,772

Foreign currency forward contracts  Prepaid expenses and other assets  636  613

Foreign currency forward contracts  Other assets (long-term)  162  151

       
Liabilities       
Foreign currency forward contracts  Accrued expenses  (1,458)  (711)

Foreign currency forward contracts  Other long-term obligations  (194)  (101)

       
Derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments     
Assets       
Foreign currency forward contracts  Prepaid expenses and other assets  $ 633  $ 814

Liabilities       
Foreign currency forward contracts  Accrued expenses  (405)  (796)

Income Statement Presentation of Derivative Instruments.

Derivative Instruments Designated as Cash Flow Hedges

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges had the following effects, before income taxes, on other comprehensive income and net earnings in our
consolidated statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income and consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):
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Amount of Gain/(Loss)

recognized in OCI   
Consolidated Statements of

Income  
Amount of Gain/(Loss)
reclassified from AOCI

 
Three Months Ended March

31,   Three Months Ended March 31,  
Three Months Ended March

31,

 2019  2018   2019  2018  2019  2018

Derivative instrument    Location in statements of income     
Interest rate swaps $ (857)  $ 2,120  Interest expense $ (2,764)  $ (2,398)  $ 595  $ 213

Foreign currency forward contracts (1,013)  174  Revenue 238,349  203,035  194  (151)

     Cost of sales (133,713)  (114,979)  (82)  241

As of March 31, 2019, approximately $1.1 million, or $0.8 million after taxes, was expected to be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income
to earnings in revenue and cost of sales over the succeeding twelve months. As of March 31, 2019, approximately $2.2 million, or $1.7 million after taxes,
was expected to be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings in interest expense over the succeeding twelve months.

Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

The following gains/(losses) from these derivative instruments were recognized in our consolidated statements of income for the periods presented (in
thousands):

    Three Months Ended March 31,

Derivative Instrument  Location in statements of income  2019  2018

Foreign currency forward contracts  Other expense  $ (266)  $ (1,115)
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12. Fair Value Measurements. Our financial assets and (liabilities) carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, consisted of the following (in thousands):

  
 

 Fair Value Measurements Using

 

 Total Fair  Quoted prices in  Significant other  Significant

 

 Value at  active markets  observable inputs  unobservable inputs

Description  March 31, 2019  (Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)

Interest rate contracts (1)  $ 4,321  $ —  $ 4,321  $ —
Foreign currency contract assets, current and long-term (2)  $ 1,431  $ —  $ 1,431  $ —
Foreign currency contract liabilities, current and long-term
(3)  $ (2,057)  $ —  $ (2,057)  $ —
Contingent receivable asset  $ 627  $ —  $ —  $ 627
Contingent consideration liabilities  $ (82,457)  $ —  $ —  $ (82,457)
         
  

 

 Fair Value Measurements Using

 

 Total Fair  Quoted prices in  Significant other  Significant

 

 Value at  active markets  observable inputs  unobservable inputs

Description  December 31, 2018  (Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)

Interest rate contracts (1)  $ 5,772  $ —  $ 5,772  $ —
Foreign currency contract assets, current and long-term (2)  $ 1,578  $ —  $ 1,578  $ —
Foreign currency contract liabilities, current and long-term
(3)  $ (1,608)  $ —  $ (1,608)  $ —
Contingent receivable asset  $ 607  $ —  $ —  $ 607
Contingent consideration liabilities  $ (82,236)  $ —  $ —  $ (82,236)

(1)    The fair value of the interest rate contracts is determined using Level 2 fair value inputs and is recorded as other assets or other long-term obligations in the consolidated balance sheets.
(2)    The fair value of the foreign currency contract assets (including those designated as hedging instruments and those not designated as hedging instruments) is determined using Level 2 fair
value inputs and is recorded as prepaid expenses and other assets or other long-term assets in the consolidated balance sheets.
(3)    The fair value of the foreign currency contract liabilities (including those designated as hedging instruments and those not designated as hedging instruments) is determined using Level 2
fair value inputs and is recorded as accrued expenses or other long-term obligations in the consolidated balance sheets.

Certain of our business combinations involve the potential for the payment of future contingent consideration, generally based on a percentage of future
product sales or upon attaining specified future revenue milestones. See Note 5 for further information regarding these acquisitions. The contingent
consideration liability is re-measured at the estimated fair value at the end of each reporting period with the change in fair value recognized within operating
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income for such period. We measure the initial liability and re-measure the liability on a recurring
basis using Level 3 inputs as defined under authoritative guidance for fair value measurements. Changes in the fair value of our contingent consideration
liability during the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, consisted of the following (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2019  2018

Beginning balance $ 82,236  $ 10,956
Fair value adjustments recorded to income during the period 775  (13)
Contingent payments made (554)  (15)

Ending balance $ 82,457  $ 10,928

As of March 31, 2019, approximately $59.2 million in contingent consideration liability was included in other long-term obligations and approximately $23.3
million was included in accrued expenses in our consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2018, approximately $58.5 million in contingent
consideration liability was included in other long-term obligations and $23.8 million was included in accrued expenses in our consolidated balance sheet.
Cash paid to settle the contingent consideration liability recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date (including measurement-period adjustments) has
been reflected as a cash outflow from financing activities in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.
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During the year ended December 31, 2016, we sold a cost method investment for cash and for the right to receive additional payments based on various
contingent milestones. We determined the fair value of the contingent payments using Level 3 inputs defined under authoritative guidance for fair value
measurements, and we recorded a contingent receivable asset, which as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 had a value of approximately $627,000
and $607,000, respectively, recorded as a current asset in other receivables in our consolidated balance sheets. We record any changes in fair value to
operating expenses as part of our cardiovascular segment in our consolidated statements of income. During the three months ended March 31, 2019, we
recorded a gain on the contingent receivable of approximately $20,000. During the three months ended March 31, 2018, we recorded a loss of approximately
$53,000 and received payments of approximately $153,000 related to the contingent receivable.

The recurring Level 3 measurement of our contingent consideration liability and contingent receivable included the following significant unobservable inputs
at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 (amounts in thousands):

Contingent consideration asset or
liability  

Fair value at March 31,
2019  

Valuation
technique  Unobservable inputs  Range

Revenue-based royalty  $ 9,966  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  14% - 25%
payments contingent liability     Projected year of payments  2019-2034
         

Supply chain milestone  $ 14,100  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  3.9%
contingent liability     Probability of milestone payment  95%
      Projected year of payments  2019
         

Revenue milestones  $ 58,391  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  3.1% - 15%
contingent liability     Projected year of payments  2019-2023
         

Contingent receivable  $ 627  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  10%
asset     Probability of milestone payment  68%
      Projected year of payments  2019
         
Contingent consideration asset or
liability  

Fair value at December
31, 2018  

Valuation
technique  Unobservable inputs  Range

Revenue-based royalty  $ 10,661  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  9.9% - 25%
payments contingent liability     Projected year of payments  2018-2037
         

Supply chain milestone  $ 13,593  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  5.3%
contingent liability     Probability of milestone payment  95%
      Projected year of payments  2019
         

Revenue milestones  $ 57,982  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  3.3% - 13%
contingent liability     Projected year of payments  2019-2023
         

Contingent receivable  $ 607  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  10%
asset     Probability of milestone payment  67%
      Projected year of payments  2019

 
The contingent consideration liability and contingent receivable are re-measured to fair value each reporting period using projected revenues, discount rates,
probabilities of payment, and projected payment dates. Projected contingent payment amounts are discounted back to the current period using a discounted
cash flow model. Projected revenues are based on our most recent internal operational budgets and long-range strategic plans. An increase (decrease) in either
the discount rate or the time to payment, in isolation, may result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value measurement. A decrease in the probability of any
milestone payment may result in lower fair value measurements. Our determination of the fair value of the contingent consideration liability and contingent
receivable could change in future periods based upon our ongoing evaluation of these significant unobservable inputs. We intend to record any such change in
fair value to operating expenses in our consolidated statements of income.

23



Table of Contents

During the three-month period ended March 31, 2019, we had losses of approximately $211,000, compared to losses of approximately $57,000 for the three-
month period ended March 31, 2018, related to the measurement of non-financial assets at fair value on a nonrecurring basis subsequent to their initial
recognition.

We believe the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and trade payables approximate fair value because of the immediate, short-term
maturity of these financial instruments. Our long-term debt re-prices frequently due to variable rates and entails no significant changes in credit risk and, as a
result, we believe the fair value of long-term debt approximates carrying value. The fair value of assets and liabilities whose carrying value approximates fair
value is determined using Level 2 inputs, with the exception of cash and cash equivalents, which are Level 1 inputs.

13. Goodwill and Intangible Assets. The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 were as follows (in
thousands):

 
2019

Goodwill balance at January 1 $ 335,433
Effect of foreign exchange (413)
Purchase price adjustments as the result of acquisitions (69)

Goodwill balance at March 31 $ 334,951

Total accumulated goodwill impairment losses aggregated to approximately $8.3 million as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. We did not have any
goodwill impairments for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. The total goodwill balance as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
was related to our cardiovascular segment.

Other intangible assets at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, consisted of the following (in thousands):

 
March 31, 2019

 
Gross Carrying

Amount  
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net Carrying
Amount

Patents $ 20,231  $ (5,467)  $ 14,764
Distribution agreements 8,012  (6,023)  1,989
License agreements 26,926  (7,941)  18,985
Trademarks 29,991  (7,298)  22,693
Covenants not to compete 1,028  (1,008)  20
Customer lists 39,965  (24,732)  15,233
In-process technology 3,420  —  3,420
      

Total $ 129,573  $ (52,469)  $ 77,104

 
December 31, 2018

 
Gross Carrying

Amount  
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net Carrying
Amount

Patents $ 19,378  $ (5,012)  $ 14,366
Distribution agreements 8,012  (5,766)  2,246
License agreements 26,930  (7,411)  19,519
Trademarks 29,998  (6,586)  23,412
Covenants not to compete 1,028  (1,000)  28
Customer lists 39,936  (23,361)  16,575
In-process technology 3,420  —  3,420
      

Total $ 128,702  $ (49,136)  $ 79,566

Aggregate amortization expense for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately $14.8 million and $8.5 million, respectively.
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Estimated amortization expense for the developed technology and other intangible assets for the next five years consists of the following as of March 31,
2019 (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31  

Remaining 2019 $ 44,351
2020 56,238
2021 48,864
2022 47,398
2023 46,136

14. Leases. We adopted ASC 842 using the modified retrospective approach, electing the practical expedient that allows us not to restate our comparative
periods prior to the adoption of the standard on January 1, 2019. As such, the disclosures required under ASC 842 are not presented for periods before the
date of adoption. For the comparative periods prior to adoption, we present the disclosures which were required under ASC 840.

We have operating leases for facilities used for manufacturing, R&D, sales and distribution, and office space, as well as leases for manufacturing and office
equipment, vehicles, and land (in Singapore and South Jordan, Utah). Our leases have remaining terms of approximately one year to 19 years. A number of
our lease agreements contain options to renew at our discretion for periods of up to 30 years and options to terminate the leases within one year. The lease
term used to calculate right-of-use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities includes renewal and termination options that are deemed reasonably certain to be
exercised. Lease agreements with lease and non-lease components are generally accounted for as a single lease component. We do not have any bargain
purchase options in our leases. For leases with an initial term of one year or less, we do not record a ROU asset or lease liability on our consolidated balance
sheet. Substantially all of the ROU assets and lease liabilities as of March 31, 2019 recorded on our consolidated balance sheet are related to our
cardiovascular segment.

We sublease a portion of one of our facilities to a third party. We also lease certain hardware consoles to customers through our distribution agreement with
NinePoint Medical and record rental revenue as a component of net sales. Rental revenue under such console leasing arrangements for the three months ended
March 31, 2019 and 2018 was insignificant.

The following was included in our consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Leases As of March 31, 2019

Assets  
ROU operating lease assets $ 80,453
  

Liabilities  
Short-term operating lease liabilities 11,825
Long-term operating lease liabilities 72,243

Total operating lease liabilities $ 84,068

During the year ended December 31, 2015, we entered into sale and leaseback transactions to finance certain production equipment for approximately $2.0
million. At that time, we deferred the gain from the sale and leaseback transaction, of which approximately $93,000 remained as of December 31, 2018. As
part of the adoption of ASC 842, we wrote-off the deferred gain as an adjustment to equity through retained earnings during the three months ended March
31, 2019.

We recognize lease expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The components of lease costs for the three months ended March 31, 2019 are
as follows, in thousands:
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  Three months ended
Lease Cost Classification March 31, 2019

Operating lease cost (a) Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 3,827
Sublease (income) (b) Selling, general and administrative expenses (146)
Net lease cost  $ 3,681

(a) Includes expense related to short-term leases and variable payments, which were insignificant.
(b) Does not include rental revenue from leases of NinePoint consoles, which was insignificant.

Supplemental cash flow information for the three months ended March 31, 2019 is as follows:

  Three Months Ended

  March 31, 2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities  $ 3,713
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations  $ 1,162

Generally, our lease agreements do not specify an implicit rate. Therefore, we estimate our incremental borrowing rate, which is defined as the interest rate
we would pay to borrow on a collateralized basis, considering such factors as length of lease term and the risks of the economic environment in which the
leased asset operates. As of March 31, 2019, the following disclosures for remaining lease term and incremental borrowing rates were applicable:

Supplemental disclosure  March 31, 2019

Weighted average remaining lease term  12 years
Weighted average discount rate  3.3%

As of March 31, 2019, maturities of operating lease liabilities were the following, in thousands:

Year ended December 31,  Amounts under Operating Leases

Remaining 2019  $ 10,380
2020  12,251
2021  11,109
2022  8,822
2023  7,026
Thereafter  53,203
Total lease payments  102,791
Less: Imputed interest  (18,723)

Total  $ 84,068

As previously disclosed in our 2018 Form 10-K under the prior guidance of ASC 840, minimum payments under operating lease agreements as of
December 31, 2018 were as follows, in thousands:

Year ended December 31,  Operating Leases

2019  $ 13,421
2020  11,319
2021  9,995
2022  8,053
2023  6,953
Thereafter  52,754

Total  $ 102,495

As of March 31, 2019, we had additional operating leases for office space that had not yet commenced. These leases will commence during 2019 and are not
significant.
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15. Commitments and Contingencies. In the ordinary course of business, we are involved in various claims and litigation matters. These claims and
litigation matters may include actions involving product liability, intellectual property, contract disputes, and employment or other matters that are significant
to our business. Based upon our review of currently available information, we do not believe any such actions are likely to be, individually or in the
aggregate, materially adverse to our business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

In addition to the foregoing matters, in October 2016, we received a subpoena from the U.S. Department of Justice seeking information on certain of our
marketing and promotional practices. We are in the process of responding to the subpoena, which we anticipate will continue during 2019. We have incurred,
and anticipate that we will continue to incur, substantial costs in connection with the matter. The investigation is ongoing and at this stage we are unable to
predict its scope, duration or outcome. Investigations such as this may result in the imposition of, among other things, significant damages, injunctions, fines
or civil or criminal claims or penalties against our company or individuals. Legal expenses we incurred in responding to the U.S. Department of Justice
subpoena for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 were approximately $1.7 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

In the event of unexpected further developments, it is possible that the ultimate resolution of any of the foregoing matters, or other similar matters, if resolved
in a manner unfavorable to us, may be materially adverse to our business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. Legal costs for these matters,
such as outside counsel fees and expenses, are charged to expense in the period incurred.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements in this report, other than statements of historical fact, are “forward-
looking statements” for purposes of these provisions, including, without limitation, any projections of earnings, revenues or other financial items, any
statements of the plans and objectives of our management for future operations, any statements concerning proposed new products or services, any statements
regarding the integration, development or commercialization of the business or any assets acquired from other parties, any statements regarding future
economic conditions or performance, and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. All forward-looking statements included in this
report are made as of the date hereof and are based on information available to us as of such date. We assume no obligation to update any forward-looking
statement. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,”
“intends,” “seeks,” “believes,” “estimates,” “potential,” “forecasts,” “continue,” or other forms of these words or similar words or expressions, or the negative
thereof or other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements contained herein are
reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations or any of the forward-looking statements will prove to be correct. Actual results will likely differ,
and could differ materially, from those projected or assumed in the forward-looking statements. Prospective investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on any
such forward-looking statements.

Our future financial condition and results of operations, as well as any forward-looking statements, are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties, including
the following:

• risks relating to managing growth, particularly if accomplished through acquisitions and the integration of acquired businesses;

• risks relating to protecting our intellectual property;

• claims by third parties that we infringe their intellectual property rights, which could cause us to incur significant legal or licensing expenses and
prevent us from selling our products;

• greater scrutiny and regulation by governmental authorities, including risks relating to the subpoena we received in October 2016 from the U.S.
Department of Justice seeking information on our marketing and promotional practices;

• risks relating to physicians’ use of our products in unapproved circumstances;

• FDA regulatory clearance processes and any failure to obtain and maintain required regulatory clearances and approvals;

• international regulatory clearance processes and any failure to obtain and maintain required regulatory clearances and approvals;

• disruption of our security of information technology systems to operate our business, our critical information systems or a breach in the security of
our systems;

• the effect of evolving U.S. and international laws and regulations regarding privacy and data protection;

• uncertainties about when, how or if the United Kingdom will withdraw from the European Union;

• risks relating to significant adverse changes in, or our failure to comply with, governing regulations;

• restrictions and limitations in our debt agreements and instruments, which could affect our ability to operate our business and our liquidity;

• uncertainties relating to the LIBOR calculation and potential phasing out of LIBOR after 2021;

• expending significant resources for research, development, testing and regulatory approval or clearance of our products under development and any
failure to develop the products, any failure of the products to be effective or any failure to obtain approvals for commercial use;
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• violations of laws targeting fraud and abuse in the healthcare industry;

• risks relating to healthcare reform legislation negatively affecting our financial results, business, operations or financial condition;

• loss of key personnel;

• termination or interruption of, or a failure to monitor, our supply relationships or increases in the price of our component parts, finished products,
third-party services or raw materials, particularly petroleum-based products;

• product liability claims;

• failure to report adverse medical events to the FDA or other governmental authorities, which may subject us to sanctions that may materially harm
our business;

• failure to maintain or establish sales capabilities on our own or through third parties, which may result in our inability to commercialize any of our
products in countries where we lack direct sales and marketing capabilities;

• employees, independent contractors, consultants, manufacturers and distributors engaging in misconduct or other improper activities, including
noncompliance;

• the addressable market for our product groups being smaller than our estimates;

• consolidation in the healthcare industry, group purchasing organizations or public procurement policies leading to demands for price concessions;

• our inability to compete in markets, particularly if there is a significant change in relevant practices or technology;

• fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates negatively impacting our financial results;

• inability to accurately forecast customer demand for our products or manage our inventory;

• international and national economic and industry conditions constantly changing;

• changes in general economic conditions, geopolitical conditions, U.S. trade policies and other factors beyond our control;

• failure to comply with export control laws, customs laws, sanctions laws and other laws governing our operations in the U.S. and other countries,
which could subject us to civil or criminal penalties, other remedial measures and legal expenses;

• inability to generate sufficient cash flow to fund our debt obligations, capital expenditures, and ongoing operations;

• risks relating to our revenues being derived from a few products and medical procedures;

• risks relating to work stoppage, transportation interruptions, severe weather and natural disasters;

• fluctuations in our effective tax rate adversely affecting our business, financial condition or results of operations;

• limits on reimbursement imposed by governmental and other programs;

• failure to comply with applicable environmental laws and regulations;

• volatility of the market price of our common stock and potential dilution from future equity offerings; and

• other factors referenced in our press releases and in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

All forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. Our
actual results will likely differ, and may differ materially, from anticipated results. Financial estimates are subject to change and are not intended to be relied
upon as predictions of future operating results, and we assume no obligation
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to update or disclose revisions to those estimates. If we do update or correct one or more forward-looking statements, investors and others should not
conclude that we will make additional updates or corrections. Additional factors that may have a direct bearing on our operating results are discussed in
Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in the 2018 Form 10-K.

Disclosure Regarding Trademarks

This report includes trademarks, tradenames and service marks that are our property or the property of other third parties. Solely for convenience, such
trademarks and tradenames sometimes appear without any “™” or “®” symbol. However, failure to include such symbols is not intended to suggest, in any
way, that we will not assert our rights or the rights of any applicable licensor, to these trademarks and tradenames.

OVERVIEW

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related condensed notes thereto, which are included in Part I of this Report.

We design, develop, manufacture and market single-use medical products for interventional and diagnostic procedures. For financial reporting purposes, we
report our operations in two operating segments: cardiovascular and endoscopy. Our cardiovascular segment consists of cardiology and radiology devices,
which assist in diagnosing and treating coronary arterial disease, peripheral vascular disease and other non-vascular diseases and includes embolotherapeutic,
cardiac rhythm management, electrophysiology, critical care and interventional oncology and spine devices, as well as our Cianna Medical product line. Our
endoscopy segment focuses on the gastroenterology, pulmonary and thoracic surgery specialties, with a portfolio consisting primarily of stents, dilation
balloons, certain inflation devices, guidewires, and other disposable products. Within those two operating segments, we offer products focused in six core
product groups: peripheral intervention, cardiac intervention, interventional oncology and spine, cardiovascular and critical care, breast cancer localization
and guidance, and endoscopy.

For the three-month period ended March 31, 2019, we reported sales of approximately $238.3 million, up approximately $35.3 million or 17.4%, over sales
from the three-month period ended March 31, 2018 of approximately $203.0 million.

 
Gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to 43.9% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 as compared to 43.4% for the three-month period
ended March 31, 2018.

Net income for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 was approximately $6.2 million, or $0.11 per share, as compared to $5.3 million, or $0.10 per
share, for the three-month period ended March 31, 2018.

Recent Developments and Trends

In addition to the trends identified in the 2018 Form 10-K under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations - Overview,” we believe that our business in 2019 will be impacted by the following recent events and trends:

• Although uncertainty over the future of Brexit negotiations in the United Kingdom continues, we currently believe that due to our newly operational
distribution and training center in Reading, United Kingdom and other plans we have in place, we are prepared to avoid material disruption to our
business.

• Several new products are scheduled for introduction in the remainder of 2019, including the TEMNO Elite™ biopsy device, next generation
Heartspan® transseptal needle, PreludeSYNC DISTAL hemostasis device and HeRO® arterial graft component, among others. We currently believe
these new products will contribute to future sales growth and margin improvement.

• Our transition of the manufacturing activities associated with the products we acquired from BD in February 2018 to our facility in Tijuana, Mexico
is currently on schedule to be completed by the end of 2019.

• Our acquisition of Cianna Medical is complete, and our integration of the Cianna Medical operations continues according to our expectations. We
currently expect regulatory approval of the SAVI SCOUT® product for sale in Europe in the coming months.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain operational data as a percentage of sales for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, as indicated:

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 
2019  2018

Net sales 100%  100%
Gross profit 43.9  43.4
Selling, general and administrative expenses 32.8  32.0
Research and development expenses 6.7  7.1
Contingent consideration expense 0.3  0.0
Income from operations 4.0  4.3
Other expense - net (1.1)  (1.2)
Income before income taxes 2.9  3.1
Net income 2.6  2.6

Sales

Sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 increased by 17.4%, or approximately $35.3 million, compared to the corresponding period in 2018.
Listed below are the sales by product category within each of our two financial reporting segments for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and
2018 (in thousands, other than percentage changes):

   Three Months Ended March 31,

 
% Change  2019  2018

Cardiovascular      
Stand-alone devices 14.6%  95,427  83,246
Cianna Medical n/a  12,849  —
Custom kits and procedure trays (1.0)%  32,943  33,272
Inflation devices (1.8)%  22,017  22,419
Catheters 27.1%  43,039  33,865
Embolization devices (6.0)%  11,827  12,587
CRM/EP 18.3%  12,378  10,466

Total 17.7%  230,480  195,855
      
Endoscopy      

Endoscopy devices 9.6%  7,869  7,180
      

Total 17.4%  $ 238,349  $ 203,035

Cardiovascular Sales. Our cardiovascular sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 were approximately $230.5 million, up 17.7% when
compared to the corresponding period for 2018 of approximately $195.9 million. Sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 were favorably
affected by increased sales of (a) our stand-alone devices (particularly our MAPTM Merit Angioplasty Packs, Merit Laureate® Hydrophilic Guide Wires,
CorVocetTM Biopsy device, and wires, as well as sales from products we acquired from BD and Vascular Insights) of approximately $95.4 million, up 14.6%
from the corresponding period for 2018; (b) Cianna Medical products of approximately $12.8 million from our acquisition of Cianna Medical; and (c)
catheters (particularly our Impress® Diagnostic Catheters, Prelude® Ideal and Prelude® Radial Sheath product lines, and our Merit Maestro®
Microcatheters) of approximately $43.0 million, up 27.1% from the corresponding period for 2018. Sales were unfavorably impacted for the three months
ended March 31, 2019 by decreased sales of our embolization devices (particularly our Embosphere® and Quadrasphere® product lines).

Endoscopy Sales. Our endoscopy sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 were approximately $7.9 million, up 9.6%, when compared to sales
in the corresponding period of 2018 of approximately $7.2 million. This increase was
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primarily related to an increase in sales of our Elation® Balloon Dilator, products acquired from BD and products sold pursuant to our distribution agreement
with NinePoint.

International Sales. International sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 were approximately $100.3 million, or 42.1% of net sales, up 7.9%
when compared to the corresponding period in 2018. The increase in our international sales for the first quarter of 2019 compared to the first quarter of 2018
was primarily related to (a) sales increases in China of approximately $2.6 million, or 11% when compared to the corresponding period in 2018, (b) sales
increases in the UK of approximately $0.9 million, or 24.2% when compared to the corresponding period in 2018, and (c) sales associated with our
acquisition of certain product lines from BD.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to 43.9% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019, compared to 43.4% for the three-month period
ended March 31, 2018. This increase was primarily due to changes in product mix, partially offset by increased amortization as a result of acquisitions and
negative foreign currency exchange impacts in the first quarter of 2019 compared to the first quarter of 2018.

Operating Expenses

Selling, General and Administrative Expense. Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses increased approximately $13.4 million, or 20.6%, for
the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 compared to the three-month period ended March 31, 2018. As a percentage of sales, SG&A expenses were
32.8% of sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019, compared to 32.0% the three-month period ended March 31, 2018. The increase in SG&A
expense was primarily related to increased headcount and increased amortization as a result of acquisitions.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development ("R&D") expenses for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 were approximately
$16.0 million, up 12.0%, when compared to R&D expenses in the corresponding period of 2018 of approximately $14.3 million. This increase in R&D
expenses was largely due to hiring additional research and development personnel to support various new core and acquired product developments.

Operating Income

The following table sets forth our operating income by financial reporting segment for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018
(in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 
2019  2018

Operating Income    
Cardiovascular $ 7,619  $ 6,397
Endoscopy 1,904  2,384

Total operating income $ 9,523  $ 8,781

Cardiovascular Operating Income. Our cardiovascular operating income for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 was approximately $7.6 million,
compared to operating income of approximately $6.4 million for the three-month period ended March 31, 2018. The increase in cardiovascular operating
income was primarily related to increased sales, improved gross margin percentage, and lower acquisition and integration-related costs, partially offset by
costs related to increased headcount and increased amortization as a result of acquisitions.

Endoscopy Operating Income. Our endoscopy operating income for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 was approximately $1.9 million, compared
to approximately $2.4 million for the three-month period ended March 31, 2018. This decrease was primarily the result of lower gross margins and higher
operating expenses as a percentage of sales.

Effective Tax Rate

Our effective income tax rate for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was 9.5% and 17.1%, respectively. The decrease in the income tax
expense and effective income tax rate for the first quarter of 2019 compared to the first quarter of 2018 was primarily due to an increase in discrete tax benefit
related to share-based payment awards.
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Other Income (Expense)

Our other income (expense) for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately $(2.7) million and $(2.4) million, respectively.
The increase in other expense was primarily a result of increased interest expense and foreign currency losses, partially offset by increased accrued interest
income, primarily as a result of our loan to NinePoint Medical.

Net Income

Our net income for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately $6.2 million and $5.3 million, respectively. The increase in
net income was primarily due to increased sales, improved gross margins and a lower effective tax rate, partially offset by higher SG&A expenses as a
percentage of sales.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Capital Commitments, Contractual Obligations and Cash Flows

At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $49.5 million and $67.4 million respectively, of which
approximately $41.0 million and $57.3 million, respectively, were held by foreign subsidiaries. For each of our foreign subsidiaries, we make an evaluation as
to whether the earnings are intended to be repatriated to the United States or held by the foreign subsidiary for permanent reinvestment. We are not
permanently reinvested with respect to our historic unremitted foreign earnings; a deferred tax liability has been accrued for the earnings that are available to
be repatriated to the United States.

In addition, cash held by our subsidiary in China is subject to local laws and regulations that require government approval for the transfer of such funds to
entities located outside of China. As of March 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $20.6 million and $18.6
million, respectively, held by our subsidiary in China.

Cash flows provided by operating activities. Cash provided by operating activities during the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was
primarily the result of net income excluding non-cash items, offset by changes in working capital. Our working capital as of March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018 was approximately $243.3 million and $254.5 million, respectively. The decrease in working capital as of March 31, 2019 compared to
December 31, 2018 was primarily the result of the recording of current operating lease liabilities as a result of the adoption of ASC 842 and a decrease in
cash, partially offset by an increase in trade receivables and decreases in trade payables and accrued expenses. As of March 31, 2019, and December 31,
2018, we had a current ratio of 2.36 to 1 and 2.45 to 1, respectively.

During the three-month period ended March 31, 2019, our inventory balance increased approximately $1.4 million, from approximately $197.5 million as of
December 31, 2018 to approximately $198.9 million as of March 31, 2019. The increase in the inventory balance was primarily due to increased inventory
levels associated with increased sales and the initial placement of inventory in our new warehouse and distribution facility in Reading, United Kingdom. The
trailing twelve-month inventory turns as of March 31, 2019 was 2.77, compared to 2.80 for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2018.

Cash flows provided by/used in financing activities. Cash used in financing activities for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 was approximately
$9.8 million compared to cash provided by financing activities of approximately $109.5 million for the three-month period ended March 31, 2018, a decrease
of approximately $119.3 million. The decrease was primarily the result of additional borrowings in 2018 to fund the acquisition of certain assets from BD.

    
In January 2019, we renewed our loan agreement with HSBC Bank whereby HSBC Bank agreed to provide us with a loan in the amount of $7.0 million. The
loan matured and was settled on April 10, 2019. The loan agreement bore interest at the three-month LIBOR rate plus 1.0%, which reset quarterly. The loan
was secured by assets having a value not less than the outstanding loan balance. The loan contained covenants, representations and warranties and other terms
customary for loans of this nature. As of March 31, 2019, our interest rate on the loan was a variable rate of 3.43%.

The Second Amended Credit Agreement provides for a term loan of $150 million and a revolving credit commitment up to an aggregate amount of $375
million, which includes a reserve of $25 million to make swingline loans from time to time. The term loan is payable in quarterly installments in the amounts
provided in the Second Amended Credit Agreement until the maturity date of July 6, 2021, at which time the term and revolving credit loans, together with
accrued interest thereon, will be due and payable. At any time prior to the maturity date, we may repay any amounts owing under all revolving credit loans,
term loans, and all swingline loans in whole or in part, subject to certain minimum thresholds, without premium or penalty, other than breakage costs.

Revolving credit loans denominated in dollars and term loans made under the Second Amended Credit Agreement bear interest, at our election, at either a
Base Rate or Eurocurrency Base Rate (as such terms are defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) plus the applicable margin, which increases as
our Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) increases. Revolving credit loans denominated in an
Alternative Currency (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) bear interest at the Eurocurrency rate plus the applicable margin. Swingline
loans bear interest at the Base Rate plus the applicable margin. Upon an event of default, the interest rate may be increased by 2.0%. The revolving credit
commitment will also carry a commitment fee of 0.15% to 0.40% per annum on the unused portion.

The Second Amended Credit Agreement is collateralized by substantially all our assets. The Second Amended Credit Agreement contains covenants,
representations and warranties and other terms customary for loans of this nature. The Second Amended Credit Agreement requires that we maintain certain
financial covenants, as follows:
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   Covenant Requirement
Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (1)   
 January 1, 2018 and thereafter  3.5 to 1.0
Consolidated EBITDA (2)  1.25 to 1.0
Consolidated Net Income (3)  $0
Facility Capital Expenditures (4)  $30 million
    

(1) Maximum Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) as of any fiscal quarter end.

(2) Minimum ratio of Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement and adjusted for certain expenditures) to
Consolidated Fixed Charges (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters.

(3) Minimum level of Consolidated Net Income (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) for certain periods, and subject to certain
adjustments.

(4) Maximum level of the aggregate amount of all Facility Capital Expenditures (as defined in the Second Amended Credit Agreement) in any
fiscal year.

Additionally, the Second Amended Credit Agreement contains customary events of default and affirmative and negative covenants for transactions of this
type. As of March 31, 2019, we believe we were in compliance with all covenants set forth in the Second Amended Credit Agreement.

As of March 31, 2019, we had outstanding borrowings of approximately $377.5 million under the Second Amended Credit Agreement (a decrease in long-
term debt of approximately $11.0 million from December 31, 2018 as we paid down the balance), with additional available borrowings of approximately
$65.5 million, based on the leverage ratio required pursuant to the Second Amended Credit Agreement. Our interest rate as of March 31, 2019 was a fixed
rate of 2.62% on $175 million as a result of an interest rate swap (see Note 11 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of
this Quarterly Report) and a variable floating rate of 4.00% on $202.5 million. Our interest rate as of December 31, 2018 was a fixed rate of 2.12% on $175
million as a result of an interest rate swap and a variable floating rate of 3.52% on $213.5 million.

Cash flows used in investing activities. Our cash flows used in investing activities for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 was approximately $21.0
million compared to approximately $117.3 million for the three-month period ended March 31, 2018, a decrease of approximately $96.3 million. This
decrease was primarily a result of a decrease of approximately $98.3 million in net cash paid for acquisitions during the three months ended March 31, 2019,
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2018 (see Note 5 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this
Quarterly Report), partially offset by a $2.0 million increase in capital expenditures for property and equipment. Capital expenditures for property and
equipment were approximately $18.3 million and $16.2 million for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

We currently believe that our existing cash balances, anticipated future cash flows from operations and borrowings under the Second Amended Credit
Agreement will be adequate to fund our current and currently planned future operations for the next twelve months and the foreseeable future. In the event we
pursue and complete significant transactions or acquisitions in the future, additional funds will likely be required to meet our strategic needs, which may
require us to raise additional funds in the debt or equity markets.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Under SEC regulations, we are required to disclose our off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on
our financial condition, such as changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources
that are material to investors. As of March 31, 2019, we have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The SEC has requested that all registrants address their most critical accounting policies. The SEC has indicated that a “critical accounting policy” is one
which is both important to the representation of the registrant’s financial condition and results and requires management’s most difficult, subjective or
complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. We base our estimates on past
experience and on various other assumptions our
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management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results will differ, and may differ materially from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. Additionally, changes in accounting estimates could occur in the future from period to period. The following paragraphs identify
our most critical accounting policies:

    
Inventory Obsolescence. Our management reviews on a quarterly basis inventory quantities on hand for unmarketable and/or slow-moving products that
may expire prior to being sold. This review includes quantities on hand for both raw materials and finished goods. Based on this review, we provide
adjustments for any slow-moving finished good products or raw materials that we believe will expire prior to being sold or used to produce a finished good
and any products that are unmarketable. This review of inventory quantities for unmarketable and/or slow-moving products is based on forecasted product
demand prior to expiration lives.

    
Forecasted unit demand is derived from our historical experience of product sales and production raw material usage. If market conditions become less
favorable than those projected by our management, additional inventory write-downs may be required. During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016, we recorded obsolescence expense of approximately $8.2 million, $6.1 million and $3.9 million, respectively, and wrote off approximately $7.9
million, $2.9 million and $2.8 million, respectively. Based on this historical trend, we believe that our inventory balances as of March 31, 2019 have been
accurately adjusted for any unmarketable and/or slow-moving products that may expire prior to being sold.

    
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. A majority of our receivables are with hospitals which, over our history, have demonstrated favorable collection rates.
Therefore, we have experienced relatively minimal bad debts from hospital customers. In limited circumstances, we have written off bad debts as the result of
the termination of our business relationships with foreign distributors. The most significant write-offs over our history have come from U.S. and international
distributors, as well as from U.S. custom procedure tray manufacturers who bundle our products in surgical trays.

    
We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts relating to estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. These
allowances are based upon historical experience and a review of individual customer balances. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

    
Stock-Based Compensation. We measure stock-based compensation cost at the grant date based on the value of the award and recognize the cost as an
expense over the term of the vesting period. Judgment is required in estimating the fair value of stock-based awards granted and their expected forfeiture rate.
If actual results differ significantly from these estimates, stock-based compensation expense and our results of operations could be materially impacted.

    
Income Taxes. Under our accounting policies, we initially recognize a tax position in our financial statements when it becomes more likely than not that the
position will be sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. Such tax positions are initially and subsequently measured as the largest aggregate amount
of tax positions that have a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the tax authorities assuming full knowledge of the
position and all relevant facts. Although we believe our provisions for unrecognized tax positions are reasonable, we can make no assurance that the final tax
outcome of these matters will not be different from that which we have reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals. The tax law is subject to varied
interpretations, and we have taken positions related to certain matters where the law is subject to interpretation. Such differences could have a material impact
on our income tax provisions and operating results in the period(s) in which we make such determination.

    
Goodwill and Intangible Asset Impairment and Contingent Consideration. We allocate any excess purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible
and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination to goodwill. We test our goodwill balances for impairment as of July 1 of each year, or
whenever impairment indicators arise. We utilize several reporting units in evaluating goodwill for impairment. We assess the estimated fair value of
reporting units using a combination of a guideline public company market-based approach and a discounted cash flow income-based approach. If the carrying
amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, an impairment charge is recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the carrying
amount of the reporting unit goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodwill. This analysis requires significant judgment, including estimation of future
cash flows and the length of time they will occur, which is based on internal forecasts, and a determination of a discount rate based on our weighted average
cost of capital. During our annual test of goodwill balances in 2018, which was completed during the third quarter of 2018, we determined that the fair value
of each reporting unit with goodwill exceeded the carrying amount by a significant amount.

    
We evaluate the recoverability of intangible assets subject to amortization whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset's carrying
amount may not be recoverable. This analysis requires similar significant judgments as those discussed
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above regarding goodwill, except that undiscounted cash flows are compared to the carrying amount of intangible assets to determine if impairment exists. In-
process technology intangible assets, which are not subject to amortization until projects reach commercialization, are assessed for impairment at least
annually and more frequently if events occur that would indicate a potential reduction in the fair value of the assets below their carrying value.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we compared the carrying value of the amortizing intangible assets acquired in our July 2015 acquisition of
certain assets from Quellent, LLC ("Quellent"), all of which pertained to our cardiovascular segment, to the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from
the asset group and determined that the carrying amount was not recoverable. We then determined the fair value of the amortizing assets related to the
Quellent acquisition based on estimated future cash flows discounted back to their present value using a discount rate that reflects the risk profiles of the
underlying activities. Some of the factors that influenced our estimated cash flows were slower than anticipated sales growth in the products acquired from
our Quellent acquisition and uncertainty about future sales growth. The excess of the carrying value compared to the fair value was recognized as
an intangible asset impairment charge. We recorded an impairment charge for Quellent of approximately $657,000.

Contingent consideration is an obligation by the buyer to transfer additional assets or equity interests to the former owner upon reaching certain performance
targets. Certain of our business combinations involve the potential for the payment of future contingent consideration, generally based on a percentage of
future product sales or upon attaining specified future revenue or other milestones. In connection with a business combination, any contingent consideration is
recorded on the acquisition date based upon the consideration expected to be transferred in the future. We utilize a discounted cash flow method, which
includes a probability factor for milestone payments, in valuing the contingent consideration liability. We re-measure the estimated liability each quarter and
record changes in the estimated fair value through operating expense in our consolidated statements of income. Significant increases or decreases in our
estimates could result in changes to the estimated fair value of our contingent consideration liability, as the result of changes in the timing and amount of
revenue estimates, as well as changes in the discount rate or periods.
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Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DICSLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Currency Risk

Our principal market risk relates to changes in the value of the following currencies relative to the U.S. Dollar (USD):
• Euro (EUR)
• Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CNY), and
• British Pound (GBP).

We also have a limited market risk relating to the following currencies (among others):
• Hong Kong Dollar (HKD),
• Mexican Peso (MXN),
• Australian Dollar (AUD),
• Canadian Dollar (CAD),
• Brazilian Real (BRL),
• Swiss Franc (CHF),
• Swedish Krona (SEK),
• Danish Krone (DKK),
• Singapore Dollars (SGD),
• South Korean Won (KRW), and
• Japanese Yen (JPY).

Our consolidated financial statements are denominated in, and our principal currency is, the U.S. Dollar. For the three-month period ended March 31, 2019, a
portion of our net sales (approximately $75.9 million, representing approximately 31.9% of our aggregate net sales), was attributable to sales that were
denominated in foreign currencies. All other international sales were denominated in U.S. Dollars.

Our Euro-denominated revenue represents our largest single currency risk. However, our Euro-denominated expenses associated with our European
operations (manufacturing sites, a distribution facility and sales representatives) provide a natural hedge. Accordingly, changes in the Euro, and in particular a
strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro, generally have a positive effect on our operating income. As we continue to expand our operations in
China, we have been increasingly exposed to currency risk related to our CNY-denominated revenue. In general, a strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against
CNY has a negative effect on our operating income. The following table presents the USD impact to reported operating income related to a hypothetical
positive and negative 10% exchange rate fluctuation in the value of the U.S. Dollar relative to both the EUR and CNY (annual amounts):

(in thousands)  
 USD Relative to Other Currency

 10% Strengthening 10% Weakening

Impact to Operating Income of:   
EUR $ 4,500 $ (4,500)
CNY $ (6,700) $ 6,700
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During the three months ended March 31, 2019, exchange rate fluctuations of foreign currencies against the U.S. Dollar had the following impact on sales,
cost of sales and gross profit (in thousands, except basis points):

 Three Months Ended

 March 31, 2019

 Currency Impact to Reported Amounts

 Increase/(Decrease) Percent Increase/(Decrease)

Net Sales $ (4,790) (2.0)%
Cost of Sales $ (1,040) (0.8)%
Gross Profit (1) $ (3,750) (3.5)%

(1) Represents approximately 68 basis points decrease in gross margin percentage for the three months ended March
31, 2019.

The impact to sales for the three months ended March 31, 2019 was primarily a result of unfavorable impacts due to sales denominated in EUR, CNY, AUD
and GBP. The impact to cost of sales was primarily a result of favorable impacts from EUR fluctuations related to manufacturing costs from our facilities in
Europe denominated in EUR and MXN fluctuations on our manufacturing costs from our facility in Tijuana, Mexico denominated in MXN.

We forecast our net exposure related to sales and expenses denominated in foreign currencies. As of March 31, 2019, we had entered into foreign currency
forward contracts, which qualified as cash flow hedges, with the following notional amounts (in thousands and in local currencies):

Currency Symbol Forward Notional Amount
Australian Dollar AUD 3,100
Canadian Dollar CAD 3,850
Swiss Franc CHF 2,125
Chinese Renminbi CNY 238,000
Danish Krone DKK 15,725
Euro EUR 18,065
British Pound GBP 4,915
Japanese Yen JPY 1,305,000
Korea Won KRW 3,750,000
Mexican Peso MXN 215,500
Swedish Krona SEK 25,180

We also forecast our net exposure in various receivables and payables to fluctuations in the value of various currencies, and we enter into foreign currency
forward contracts to mitigate that exposure. As of March 31, 2019, we had entered into the following foreign currency forward contracts (which were not
designated as hedging instruments) related to those balance sheet accounts (amounts in thousands and in local currencies):
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Currency Symbol Forward Notional Amount
Australian Dollar AUD 11,400
Brazilian Real BRL 9,000
Canadian Dollar CAD 1,136
Swiss Franc CHF 500
Chinese Renminbi CNY 50,920
Danish Krone DKK 4,550
Euro EUR 7,293
British Pound GBP 3,350
Hong Kong Dollar HKD 11,000
Japanese Yen JPY 265,000
Korean Won KRW 5,500,000
Mexican Peso MXN 18,000
Swedish Krona SEK 12,000
Singapore Dollar SGD 8,500

See Note 11 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report for a discussion of our foreign currency
forward contracts.

Interest Rate Risk. As discussed in Note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements, as of March 31, 2019, we had outstanding borrowings of
approximately $377.5 million under the Second Amended Credit Agreement, a decrease in long-term debt of approximately $11.0 million from December 31,
2018 as we paid down balances. Our earnings and after-tax cash flow are affected by changes in interest rates. On August 5, 2016, we entered into a pay-
fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap with Wells Fargo, which as of March 31, 2019 had a notional amount of $175 million, to fix the one-month LIBOR
rate at 1.12%. The interest rate swap is scheduled to expire on July 6, 2021. This instrument is intended to reduce our exposure to interest rate fluctuations and
was not entered into for speculative purposes. Excluding the amount that is subject to a fixed rate under the interest rate swap and assuming the current level
of borrowings remained the same, it is estimated that our interest expense and income before income taxes would change by approximately $2.0 million
annually for each one percentage point change in the average interest rate under these borrowings.

In the event of an adverse change in interest rates, our management would likely take actions to mitigate our exposure. However, due to the uncertainty of the
actions that would be taken and their possible effects, additional analysis is not possible at this time. Further, such analysis would not consider the effects of
the change in the level of overall economic activity that could exist in such an environment.
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Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate disclosure controls and procedures for our company. Consequently, our
management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act as of March 31, 2019. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures,
management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the
desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that
management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. Based on that evaluation,
our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and
are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
During the quarter ended March 31, 2019, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934).
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 15 “Commitments and Contingencies” set forth in the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this
Quarterly Report.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to other information set forth in this Report, readers should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of the 2018
Form 10-K, as well as the amended and updated risk factors included below (which replace equivalent risk factors disclosed in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors"
of the 2018 Form 10-K). Such risk factors could materially affect our business, financial condition or future results.

The risks described in our 2018 Form 10-K are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently
deem to be immaterial also may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

The following exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are filed herewith or have been filed previously with the SEC as indicated below:

Exhibit No.  Description

3.1  Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (1)

3.2  Third Amended and Restated Bylaws (1)

10.1  Merit Medical Systems, Inc. 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2)

10.2  Merit Medical Systems, Inc. 2019 Executive Bonus Plan

10.3  
Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Vascular Insights, LLC, VI Management, Inc. and Merit Medical Systems, Inc., dated
December 14, 2018

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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The following financial information from the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. for the quarter ended
March 31, 2019, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Income, (ii)
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows,
and (v) Condensed Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Incorporated by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 31, 2018 (as amended).

(2) Incorporated by reference from our Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on June 4, 2018.
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC.

REGISTRANT

  
Date: May 3, 2019 By: /s/ FRED P. LAMPROPOULOS
  

 

Fred P. Lampropoulos, President and
   

Chief Executive Officer
    

Date: May 3, 2019 By: /s/ RAUL PARRA
 

 
 

Raul Parra
 

  

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Exhibit 10.2

MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC.
2019 EXECUTIVE BONUS PLAN

Merit Medical Systems, Inc. a Utah corporation (the “Company”), has adopted this 2019 Executive Bonus Plan (the “Plan”) effective as of January
1, 2019.
 

1.      Background and Purpose. The purposes of the Plan are to motivate and reward eligible executive employees by making a portion of their
annual cash compensation dependent on the achievement of certain pre-determined corporate performance goals, to align the interests of participating
executives with those of the Company, and to attract and retain superior executive employees by providing a competitive bonus program that rewards
outstanding performance.

 
2.      Definitions. For purposes of this Plan, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

 
(a) “Affiliate” means any corporation or other entity controlled by the Company.

(b) “Award” means a bonus award pursuant to the Plan, the payment of which shall be contingent on the attainment of Committee-
specified Performance Goals with respect to a Performance Period as determined by the Committee pursuant to Section 6 below.

(c) “Award Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(a) below.
 

(d) “Base Salary” means a Participant’s annualized rate of base salary in effect on the last day of the Performance Period before any
deductions for taxes or benefits, and before deferrals of compensation pursuant to any Company-sponsored Code Section 401(k), nonqualified deferred
compensation or similar plans.

 
(e) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company, as constituted from time to time.

 
(f) “CEO” means the Company’s Chief Executive Officer.

(g) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, including any regulations or authoritative
guidance promulgated thereunder and successor provisions thereto.

 
(h) “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

 
(i) “Company” means Merit Medical Systems, Inc., a Utah corporation, and any successor thereto.

 
(j) “Eligible Executives” mean (i) the CEO and (ii) such other executive officers of the Company (as defined in Rule 3b-7 under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) and other management personnel as are designated from time to time by the Committee.

(k) “Employment Agreement” as to any Participant as of any date means the written employment agreement between the Company
and the Participant as in effect on such date.

(l) “GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles as consistently applied by the Company from period to
period.

(m) “Participant” means as to any Performance Period, the CEO and such other Eligible Executives, if any, as are designated by the
Committee to participate in the Plan for that Performance Period.

(n) “Performance Criteria” means, with respect to any Award for a given Performance Period, such financial or other objective
business measures or criteria with respect to the Company, its subsidiaries or its business divisions as the Committee determines and designates in the
applicable Award Notice, and upon which the Performance Goals for the Performance Period in question are based. The applicable Performance Criteria for a
given Award may include one or more of the following: (i) net earnings or net income (before or after taxes); (ii) basic or diluted earnings per share (before or
after taxes); (iii) net revenue or net revenue growth; (iv) gross revenue, gross profit or gross profit growth; (v) net operating profit (before or after taxes); (vi)
return on assets, capital, invested capital, equity, or sales; (vii) cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow, free cash flow, and cash flow
return on capital); (viii) earnings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation and/or amortization; (ix)
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gross or operating margins; (x) improvements in capital structure; (xi) budget and expense management; (xii) productivity ratios; (xiii) economic value added
or other value added measurements; (xiv) Company share price (including, but not limited to, growth measures and total shareholder return); (xv) expense
targets; (xvi) margins; (xvii) operating efficiency; (xviii) working capital targets; (xix) enterprise value; (xx) completion of acquisitions or business
expansions; and (xxi) such other measures as the Committee determines. Designated Performance Criteria may be computed on both a GAAP or non-GAAP
basis, and may vary from year to year and from Participant to Participant.

(o) “Performance Goals” means, with respect to any Award for a given Performance Period, the quantitative goals selected by the
Committee in its discretion with respect to each of the Performance Criteria for the Performance Period in question applicable to such Award, as set forth in
the applicable Award Notice.  Designated Performance Goals may vary from year to year and from Participant to Participant.

(p) “Performance Period” means, with respect to any Award, the period for which attainment of the applicable Performance Goals
is calculated, which unless otherwise indicated by the Committee shall be the Company’s fiscal year to which the Award relates.

(q) “Plan” means the Merit Medical Systems, Inc. 2019 Executive Bonus Plan as hereafter amended from time to time.

(r) “Target Award Amount” means the target performance-based bonus amount payable under the Plan to a Participant for a
particular Performance Period, as determined by the Committee, set forth in the applicable Award Notice, and expressed as a percentage of the Participant’s
Base Salary.

3.      Administration.
 

(a) Administration by the Committee. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee.

(b) Authority of the Committee. Subject to the provisions of the Plan and applicable law, the Committee shall have the power, in
addition to other express powers and authorizations conferred on the Committee by the Plan, to: (i) designate Participants; (ii) determine the terms and
conditions of any Award, including the applicable Performance Period, Performance Criteria and Performance Goals; (iii) determine whether, to what extent,
and under what circumstances Awards may be forfeited or suspended; (iv) interpret, administer, reconcile any inconsistency, correct any defect and/or supply
any omission in the Plan or any notice, instrument or agreement relating to, or Award granted under, the Plan; (v) establish, amend, suspend, or waive any
rules for the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan; (vi) determine the degree to which applicable Performance Goals are attained; and (vii)
make any other determination and take any other action that the Committee deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan.

(c)    Decisions Binding. All determinations and decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of the Plan shall be final,
conclusive and binding on all persons, and shall be given the maximum deference permitted by law.

(d)    Agents; Limitation of Liability. The Committee may appoint agents to assist in administering the Plan. The Committee and each
member thereof shall be entitled to rely in good faith or act upon any report or other information furnished to it or him by any officer or employee of the
Company, the Company’s certified public accountants, consultants or any other agent assisting in the administration of the Plan. Members of the Committee
and any officer or employee of the Company acting at the direction or on behalf of the Committee shall not be personally liable for any action or
determination taken or made in good faith with respect to the Plan, and shall, to the extent permitted by law, be fully indemnified and protected by the
Company with respect to any such action or determination.

 
4.      Eligibility and Participation. Only Eligible Executives may participate in the Plan. The CEO shall automatically participate in the Plan for each

Performance Period. Other Eligible Executives may participate in the Plan for a given Performance Period only if and to the extent the Committee, in its
discretion, selects such other Eligible Executives to be Participants for that Performance Period. An Eligible Executive who is designated by the Committee
as a Participant for a given Performance Period is not guaranteed or assured of being selected for participation in any subsequent Performance Period;
provided that the CEO shall automatically be a Participant for all Performance Periods.

 
5.      Establishment of Target Award Amounts and Performance Goals.

 
(a) Determination of Target Award Amounts and Performance Goals. Reasonably promptly following the commencement of each

Performance Period (and in the case of the initial Performance Period commencing January 1, 2019, not
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later than May 31, 2019) the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall establish and set forth in a written notice (an “Award Notice”) delivered to each
Participant promptly thereafter, the following:

(i)     The applicable Performance Period with respect to the Award and the applicable Performance Criteria and Performance
Goals for such Performance Period;

(ii)    The Target Award Amount for the Participant for such Performance Period, the payment of which shall be conditioned on the
degree to which the applicable Performance Goals for that Performance Period are achieved;

(iii)    With respect to the applicable Performance Criteria, the relative percentage weighting to be accorded to each such
Performance Criteria in the calculation of the amount of the Award that is payable; and

(iv)    The formula for computation of the Award amount payable and, with respect to each applicable Performance Goal, the
degree to which attainment of such Performance Goal will be credited under that formula. Such formula may include minimum
performance levels below which no credit will be given, maximum performance levels above which no additional credit will be given, and
levels of applicable Performance Goal attainment within designated performance ranges with respect to which varying percentages of credit
will be given (computed on an interpolated or stepped basis, or a combination thereof as determined by the Committee).

 
(b) Adjustments. The Committee is authorized to adjust or modify the previously-set Performance Goals for a given Performance

Period in its sole discretion/in connection with any one or more of the following events occurring within the applicable Performance Period:
 

(i) material acquisitions or divestitures by the Company; 

(ii)      significant Company litigation or claim judgments or settlements;
 

(iii)    intervening changes in tax laws, accounting standards or principles, or other laws or regulatory rules affecting reporting
results materially affecting the Company;

 
(iv)      extraordinary nonrecurring items with respect to the Company as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30

(or any successor pronouncement thereto) and/or in management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations
appearing in the Company’s annual report to shareholders for the applicable year or period;

 
(v)      material Company asset write-downs; and

(vi)    such pre-determined events as are set forth in the Award Notice in question.

6.      Calculation and Payment of Awards.
 

(a) Determination of Performance Level Attained and Bonus Payable. Following the completion of each Performance Period, the
Committee shall determine the extent to which each of the applicable Performance Goals for that Performance Period have been achieved or exceeded. Based
on the level of performance achieved, the Committee shall then compute the amount of annual Award payable hereunder to each Participant for the
Performance Period in question pursuant to the formula set forth in the applicable Award Notice. The Committee shall provide to each Participant for the
Performance Period in question a written statement setting forth the computation of his or her Award.

(b) Other Adjustments. In determining the amount of each Award to be paid, the Committee may, in addition to any adjustments
under Section 5(b), reduce, eliminate or increase (but not above 110% of the applicable Award amount otherwise payable) the amount of an Award if, in its
sole discretion, such reduction, elimination or increase is appropriate.

(c) Form and Timing of Payment. Except as otherwise provided herein, as soon as practicable following the Committee’s
determination pursuant to Section 6 of the Award payable for the applicable Performance Period, each Participant shall receive a cash lump sum payment of
his or her Award, less required withholding. In no event shall such payment be made later than the 15th day of the third month following the end of the
Performance Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant may elect in writing to defer receipt of all or a portion of an Award earned for a specified
time as and to the extent otherwise permitted under the terms of any other Company-sponsored plan that permits a Participant Employee to defer the payment
of the
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Award provided herein.

(d) Employment Requirement. Any provision herein to the contrary notwithstanding, no Award shall be paid to any Participant who
is not employed by the Company on and through the close of last day of the Performance Period.

 
7.      Termination of Employment. If a Participant’s employment with the Company terminates for any reason on or prior to the last day of the

Performance Period in question, all the Participant’s rights to an Award for that Performance Period shall be forfeited.
     

8.    Claw-back. If the Board determines in its discretion that: (a) a significant restatement of the Company’s financial results for any of the three
prior fiscal years for which audited financial statements have been prepared is required; and (b) the Participant’s Award amount would have been lower had
the financial results been properly calculated, the Board has the authority to require the Participant to reimburse the Company for any portion of any Award
previously paid to such Participant that is greater than the Award that would have been paid if calculated based upon the restated financial results. The Board
in its discretion may require the Participant to provide such reimbursement by (i) immediate repayment of such excess Award; (ii) repayment of the excess
through offsetting reduction of future compensation otherwise payable to the Participant by the Company or through other methods; or (iii) by a combination
of such methods. The action permitted to be taken by the Board under this Section 8 is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any and all other rights of the Board
and/or the Company under applicable law or any other claw-back or similar policy of the Company.

9.      General Provisions.
 

(a) Compliance with Legal Requirements. The Plan and the granting of Awards shall be subject to all applicable federal and state
laws, rules and regulations, and to such approvals by any regulatory or governmental agency as may be required.

 
(b) Non-transferability. A person’s rights and interests under the Plan, including any Award previously made to such person or any

amounts payable under the Plan may not be assigned, pledged, or transferred, except in the event of the Participant’s death, to a designated beneficiary in
accordance with the Plan, or in the absence of such designation, by will or the laws of descent or distribution.

 
(c) No Right to Employment. Nothing in the Plan or in any Award Notice shall confer upon any Participant the right to continue in

the employment of the Company or any Affiliate or affect the right of the Company or any Affiliate to terminate the employment of any Participant at will.
 

(d) No Right to Award. Unless otherwise expressly set forth in an employment or other agreement signed by the Company and a
Participant, a Participant shall not have any right to any Award under the Plan until such Award has been paid to such Participant and participation in the Plan
in one Performance Period does not connote any right to become a Participant in the Plan in any future Performance Period.

 
(e) Withholding. The Company shall have the right to withhold from any Award, any federal, state or local income and/or payroll

taxes required by law to be withheld and to take such other action as the Committee may deem advisable to enable the Company and Participants to satisfy
obligations for the payment of withholding taxes and other tax obligations relating to an Award.

 
(f) Amendment or Termination of the Plan. The Board or the Committee may, at any time, amend, suspend or terminate the Plan in

whole or in part. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment shall adversely affect the rights of any Participant to Awards earned prior to such amendment,
suspension or termination.

 
(g) Unfunded Status. Nothing contained in the Plan, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be construed to

create a trust of any kind or a fiduciary relationship between the Company and any Participant, beneficiary or legal representative or any other person. To the
extent that a person acquires a right to receive payments under the Plan, such right shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured general creditor of the
Company. All payments to be made hereunder shall be paid from the general funds of the Company and no special or separate fund shall be established and
no segregation of assets shall be made to assure payment of such amounts except as expressly set forth in the Plan. The Plan is not intended to be subject to
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

 
(h) Governing Law. The Plan shall be construed, administered and enforced in accordance with the laws of Utah without regard to

conflicts of law.
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(i) Beneficiaries. To the extent that the Committee permits beneficiary designations, any payment of Awards due under the Plan to a

deceased Participant shall be paid to the beneficiary duly designated by the Participant in accordance with the Company’s practices. If no such beneficiary has
been designated or survives the Participant, payment shall be made by will or the laws of descent or distribution, as applicable.

 
(j) Section 409A of the Code. It is intended that payments under the Plan qualify as short-term deferrals exempt from the

requirements of Section 409A of the Code. If any Award does not qualify for treatment as an exempt short-term deferral, it is intended that such amount will
be paid in a manner that satisfies the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, and in no event other than in the calendar year commencing immediately
after the end of the Performance Period. The Plan shall be interpreted and construed accordingly.

 
(k) Expenses. All costs and expenses in connection with the administration of the Plan shall be paid by the Company.

 
(l) Severability. If any provision of the Plan shall be considered illegal or invalid for any reason, such illegality or invalidity shall

not affect the remaining provisions of the Plan, but shall be fully severable, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid provision
had never been contained therein.

 
(m) Gender and Number. Except where otherwise indicated by the context, wherever used, the masculine pronoun includes the

feminine pronoun; the plural shall include the singular, and the singular shall include the plural.

(n) Non-Exclusive. Nothing in the Plan shall limit the authority of the Company, the Board or the Committee to adopt such other
compensation arrangements, as it may deem desirable for any Participant.

(o) Successors. All obligations of the Company under the Plan with respect to Awards granted hereunder shall be binding upon any
successor to the Company, whether the existence of such successor is the result of a direct or indirect purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise, of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company.

(p) Relationship to Employment Agreements. Awards paid under this Plan shall be treated as annual bonuses for purposes of any
employment, change in control, or similar agreement between the Company and a Participant.

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Plan to be executed by its duly authorized officer as of the date first set forth above.

                    

MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC.
 

By: /s/ Fred P. Lampropoulos
Name: Fred P. Lampropoulos
Title: Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Asset Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of December 14, 2018, by and among Vascular Insights, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“VI”), and VI Management, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation (“Management” and, collectively with VI,
the “Sellers”), and Merit Medical Systems, Inc., a Utah corporation (“Purchaser”). Capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the
meaning ascribed to them in Exhibit A.

WHEREAS, the parties wish to provide for the sale and transfer to Purchaser of substantially all of Sellers’ assets, including but not
limited to, all of the assets of the Sellers owned, licensed, used or held for use by the Sellers in connection with, relating to or necessary for the
operation of the business of Sellers of designing, developing, manufacturing and marketing the ClariVein®IC system and the ClariVein®OC
system, which are specialty infusion and occlusion catheter systems with rotating wire tips designed for the controlled 360-degree dispersion of
physician-specified agents to the targeted treatment area (the “Business”), in each case, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in
this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, VI directly and indirectly through Management operates the Business.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties to this Agreement, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

1. Purchase and Sale of Purchased Assets; Related Transactions.

1.1    Sale of Purchased Assets; Excluded Assets; Excluded Liabilities; Assumed Liabilities.

(a)    Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, each Seller shall sell, assign, transfer convey and deliver
the Purchased Assets to Purchaser, at the Closing, free and clear of any Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances), on the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, the “Purchased Assets” shall mean all of the assets,
properties and rights of the Sellers (but, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding the Excluded Assets), including, without limitation, the
following:

(i)    training materials and equipment, mechanical and spare parts, trade fixtures, production supplies, molds, tools,
tooling and dyes;

(ii)    all sales and marketing materials (including all product literature, advertising materials, customer lists and price
lists), all current and prospective client lists and customer data of the Sellers and all customer relationship management (CRM) data;

(iii)    all prepayments, security deposits, rebates, refunds, prepaid expenses, rights of set-off, right of recoupment, and
charges associated with Purchased Assets, including as related to the sales and marketing of Business Products and Services;

(iv)    all Seller Intellectual Property and Seller Technology, in each case including the applications and registrations
related thereto and including all income or payments receivable in connection therewith to the extent generated following the Closing,
and including all damages and payments for infringement or misappropriation of Seller Transferred Intellectual Property and Seller
Technology (whether past or future), the right to recover for infringements or misappropriations of Seller Intellectual Property and
Seller Technology (whether past or future), and any and all corresponding rights that have been secured throughout the world with
respect to any Seller Intellectual Property and Seller Technology, and all claims or causes of action or damages in connection therewith
or arising therefrom (whether past or future) and all goodwill and going concern value associated therewith relating to the Business, the
Business Products and
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Services (collectively, the “Seller Transferred Intellectual Property”);

(v)    copies of the Registrations, supported by and including: (A) documents in the possession of Sellers evidencing
such Registrations issued to the Sellers by a Governmental Body, in each case to the extent assignable with or without requiring the
consent of the issuing Governmental Body; (B) all related Registration applications, clinical research and trial agreements, data results
and records of clinical trials and marketing research, all other clinical documents required to be kept by applicable Legal Requirements,
all documents required to be kept under any other Legal Requirement regulating the design or manufacture of Medical Devices, design
history files, technical files, drawings, manufacturing, packaging and labeling specifications, validation documentation, packaging
specifications, quality control standards and other documentation, research tools, laboratory notebooks, files and correspondence with
regulatory agencies and quality reports and all relevant pricing information and correspondence with Governmental Bodies with respect
to such pricing matters, in each case; and (C) any and all documentation related to the design, development, manufacture, test, release,
distribution, worldwide market registration and clearance or approval, and post market surveillance and history of usage of such
products and proposed future products, as well as all quality system documentation;

(vi)    all Contracts, including Intellectual Property Licenses, listed on Schedule 1.1(a)(vi) (the “Purchased Contracts”);

(vii)    all inventories, including raw materials, works in process, semi-finished and finished products, stores,
replacement and spare parts, packaging materials, operating supplies and inventory on consignment, in transit or deposited in a
warehouse;

(viii)    all claims, causes of action, choses in action, rights of recovery and rights of set-off of any kind attributable to
the Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities (including all damages and payments for future infringement or misappropriation of the
Seller Intellectual Property and any and all corresponding rights that may be secured throughout the world with respect to the Seller
Intellectual Property), whether arising by way of counterclaim or otherwise, except to the extent any of the foregoing exclusively relate
to (x) Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities, or (y) intercompany receivables between Sellers or a Seller and any of its Affiliates;

(ix)    all books, records, files, emails, correspondence, and data (the “Transferred Data”), including, but not limited to
books of account, ledgers and general, financial and accounting records, machinery and equipment maintenance files, customer lists,
customer purchasing histories, price lists, distribution lists, supplier lists, production data, quality control records and procedures,
customer complaints and inquiry files, research and development files, records and data (including all correspondence with any
Governmental Body), sales material and records (including pricing history, total sales, terms and conditions of sale, sales and pricing
policies and practices), strategic plans, internal financial statements, marketing and promotional surveys, material and research and files
relating to the Seller Intellectual Property and the Intellectual Property Licenses, and books, records, files and data relating to Taxes,
except to the extent any of the foregoing relate exclusively to (x) Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities, or (y) intercompany
receivables between Sellers or a Seller and any of its Affiliates;

(x)    all permits (including, without limitation, the authorizations set forth as items 1-4 on Section 2.13 of the
Disclosure Schedule), licenses, certifications, authorizations, registrations, variances, approvals and similar rights from all permitting,
licensing, accrediting and certifying agencies (including any Governmental Body), and the rights to all data and records held by such
permitting, licensing and certifying agencies (including any Governmental Body);

(xi)    all computer software data and information, and all related hardware, except to the extent any of the foregoing
relate exclusively to (x) Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities, or (y) intercompany receivables between Sellers or a Seller and any
of its Affiliates; and
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(xii)    all goodwill and going concern value of the Business and Purchased Assets.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in Section 1.1(a), in no event shall Purchaser purchase from Sellers,
and in no event shall Sellers sell, convey, assign, transfer or deliver to Purchaser, any of the following assets of Sellers (the “Excluded
Assets”):

(i)    tangible personal property and interests therein, including machinery, equipment, owned and leased motor
vehicles, mobile telephones, computer hardware and related software in connection with Business Employees that are not Transferred
Employees, other computer equipment, communications equipment, PDA bar code readers, fixtures, furniture, furnishings, office
equipment and supplies and other miscellaneous supplies (excluding any of the foregoing identified as a Purchase Asset in Section
1.1(a));

(ii)    all cash and cash equivalents, securities and negotiable instruments on hand, in lock boxes, in financial
institutions or elsewhere, including any cash residing in any collateral cash account securing any obligation or contingent obligation;

(iii)    all prepayments, security deposits, rebates, refunds, prepaid expenses, rights of set-off, right of recoupment, and
charges not principally associated with the Purchased Assets (including any such item relating to the payment of Taxes);

(iv)    all insurance policies and benefits, including the right to receive amounts under any insurance policy (whether in
the form of refunds or premiums previously paid, in the form of claims paid, or otherwise), or the right to make claims under any
insurance policy;

(v)    all income or payments receivable (but excluding any damages, payments, rights, claims or causes of action
identified in Section 1.1(a)(iv)) in connection with Seller Intellectual Property therewith to the extent generated prior to Closing;

(vi)    all intercompany receivables between Sellers, or between any Seller and any Affiliate of such Seller, and all
accounts, notes and other receivables of the Business prior to Closing, whether current or noncurrent, including all file documentation
related to such accounts, notes and other similar receivables, including invoices, shipping documents, communications and
correspondence submitted to or received from customers related to such sales;

(vii)    each Seller’s Organizational Documents, all qualifications to do business as a foreign entity, all arrangements
with registered agents, all minute books, stock records, stock ledgers, transfer books and blank share or equity ownership certificates,
VI’s ownership interest in Management and all other documents related to the organization, maintenance and existence of such Seller
as a corporation or limited liability company, as applicable;

(viii)    all of Sellers’ rights and interests arising under the Transaction Documents or any other Contract, instrument or
document delivered or executed in connection with the Transactions;

(ix)    all books, records, files, emails, correspondence, and data other than Transferred Data;

(x)    all refunds and credits of Taxes of the Sellers along with any returns, records, reports, supporting materials or
other similar items reflecting or relating to Sellers’ Taxes;

(xi)    Sellers’ real property lease;

(xii)    all Plans and assets attributable thereto;
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(xiii)    each Seller’s rights to claim, assert, waive or terminate attorney-client privilege with respect to any
communication, email, document or information (whether in oral, written or electronic form, and including, without limitation, all
internal communications of any officer, manager, employee or advisor of a Seller) to or from a Seller or any of its officers, managers,
employees or advisors with any attorney or law firm regarding or relating to any of the Transaction Documents or the Transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby;

(xiv)    all Contracts that are not identified on Schedule 1.1(a)(vi); and

(xv)    the other assets listed on Schedule 1.1(b)(xv).

(c)    At the Closing, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, Purchaser shall assume and agree to
perform and discharge only the following Liabilities (but, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding the Excluded Liabilities) (the
“Assumed Liabilities”), and no other Liabilities:

(i)    the Warranty Obligations; and

(ii)    all Liabilities in respect of the Purchased Contracts arising or accruing after the Closing Date, but only to the
extent that a Seller’s rights and benefits under such Purchased Contracts are validly assigned to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement.

(d)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, in no event shall Purchaser assume or be liable for,
and Purchaser will have no responsibility related to, any Liabilities of a Seller of any kind or nature, other than the Assumed Liabilities
(all such Liabilities, other than Assumed Liabilities, collectively, the “Excluded Liabilities”). Sellers retain sole liability for all
Excluded Liabilities and shall pay or otherwise fully discharge all Excluded Liabilities, including any Pre-Closing Taxes.

1.2    Purchase Price and Payment. As consideration for the sale and contribution by the Sellers of the Purchased Assets to Purchaser,
Purchaser shall (i) assume the Assumed Liabilities, (ii) pay to VI the aggregate amount of (a) $40,000,000 (the “Base Cash Amount”), less (b)
$4,000,000 (the “Escrow Amount”), which Escrow Amount shall be deposited into an escrow account (the “Escrow Account”) established
pursuant to the terms of an Escrow Agreement entered into on the date hereof among VI, the Purchaser and U.S. Bank National Association, as
escrow agent (the “Escrow Agent”) in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Escrow Agreement”), the “Closing Date Cash Purchase
Price”), and (iii) pay to VI any Contingent Payments pursuant to Section 1.4 (such payments made to VI in the aggregate, the “Cash
Consideration”).

1.3    Inventory Adjustment.

(a)    Inventory Adjustment.

(i)    Within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, Purchaser shall prepare and deliver to VI a statement (the
“Inventory Statement”) setting forth its calculation of the book value of the Inventory calculated in accordance with GAAP as of the
Closing Date (such value, the “Inventory Amount”).

(ii)    The “Inventory Adjustment” shall be an amount equal to the Inventory Amount minus $1,097,366 (the “Target
Inventory Amount”). If the Inventory Adjustment is a positive number, Purchaser shall pay to VI an amount equal to the Inventory
Adjustment. If the Inventory Adjustment is a negative number, Seller and Purchaser shall immediately execute a joint instruction to the
Escrow Agent directing the Escrow Agent to pay to Purchaser an amount equal to the absolute value of the Inventory Adjustment out
of the Escrow Fund (as defined in the Escrow Agreement).

(b)    Examination and Review.

(i)    Examination. After receipt of the Inventory Statement, VI shall have thirty (30) days
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(the “Review Period”) to review the Inventory Statement. During the Review Period, VI shall have reasonable access to the relevant
books and records of Purchaser, the personnel and Representatives of, and work papers prepared by, Purchaser to the extent that they
relate to the Inventory Statement as VI may reasonably request for the purpose of reviewing the Inventory Statement and to prepare a
Statement of Objections (defined below), provided, that such access shall be in a manner that does not interfere with the normal
business operations of Purchaser.

(ii)    Objection. On or prior to the last day of the Review Period, VI may object to the Inventory Statement by
delivering to Purchaser a written statement setting forth VI’s objections in reasonable detail, indicating each disputed item or amount
and the basis for VI’s disagreement therewith (the “Statement of Objections”). If VI fails to deliver the Statement of Objections before
the expiration of the Review Period, the Inventory Statement and the Inventory Adjustment, as the case may be, reflected in the
Inventory Statement shall be deemed to have been accepted by VI. If VI delivers the Statement of Objections before the expiration of
the Review Period, Purchaser and VI shall negotiate in good faith to resolve such objections within thirty (30) days after the delivery of
the Statement of Objections (the “Resolution Period”), and, if the same are so resolved within the Resolution Period, the Inventory
Adjustment and the Inventory Statement, with such changes as agreed to in writing by Purchaser and VI, shall be final and binding.

(iii)    Resolution of Disputes. If VI and Purchaser fail to reach an agreement with respect to all of the matters set forth
in the Statement of Objections before expiration of the Resolution Period, then any amounts remaining in dispute (the “Disputed
Amounts”; any amounts not so disputed, the “Undisputed Amounts”) shall be submitted for resolution to the Chicago, Illinois office of
Grant Thornton LLP or, if Grant Thornton LLP is unable to serve, Purchaser and VI shall appoint by mutual agreement the office of an
impartial nationally recognized firm of independent certified public accountants (the “Independent Accounting Firm”) who, acting as
experts and not arbitrators, shall resolve the Disputed Amounts only and make any adjustments to the Inventory Adjustment, as the
case may be, and the Inventory Statement. The parties hereto agree that all adjustments shall be made without regard to materiality. The
Independent Accounting Firm shall only decide the specific items under dispute by the parties and their decision for the Disputed
Amount must be within the range of values assigned to each such item in the Inventory Statement and the Statement of Objections,
respectively.

(iv)    Fees of the Independent Accounting Firm. The fees and expenses of the Independent Accounting Firm shall be
paid by VI, on the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other hand, as follows: (a) Purchaser shall pay a portion of such fees and expenses
equal to the quotient of the amount awarded to VI by the Independent Accounting Firm out of the Disputed Amount, divided by the
Disputed Amount; and (b) VI shall pay all such fees and expenses not required to be paid by Purchaser in subsection (a) hereof.

(v)    Determination by the Independent Accounting Firm. The Independent Accounting Firm shall make a
determination as soon as practicable within thirty (30) days (or such other time as the parties hereto shall agree in writing) after their
engagement, and their resolution of the Disputed Amounts and their adjustments to the Inventory Statement and/or the Inventory
Adjustment shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties hereto.

(vi)    Payments of Inventory Adjustment. Except as otherwise provided herein, any payment of the Inventory
Adjustment, together with interest calculated as set forth below, shall be due (A) within five (5) Business Days of acceptance of the
applicable Inventory Statement or (B) if there are Disputed Amounts, then within five (5) Business Days of the resolution described in
clause (ii) above, or clause (v) above, as applicable. If Purchaser is required to pay the Inventory Adjustment, it shall be paid by
Purchaser to VI by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account as is directed by VI. If Seller is required to pay the
Inventory Adjustment, Seller and Purchaser shall immediately execute a joint instruction to the Escrow Agent directing the Escrow
Agent to pay to Purchaser an amount equal to the absolute value of the Inventory Adjustment out of the Escrow Fund.

(vii)    Adjustments for Tax Purposes. Any payments made pursuant to Section 1.3 shall be
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treated as an adjustment to the amounts set forth in Section 1.2 by the parties for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law

1.4    Additional Payments.

(a)    Contingent Payments. As additional consideration for the Transactions, but subject to the set-off rights of Purchaser
pursuant to Section 1.4(e)(iii) and Section 4 hereof, if applicable, after the Closing, Purchaser may be required to make certain contingent
payments (the “Contingent Payments”) to VI in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.4. The Contingent Payments shall include the
First Sales Contingent Payment and the Second Sales Contingent Payment, but only to the extent that any of such payments becomes payable in
accordance with this Section 1.4.

(b)    First Sales Contingent Payment. Subject to the set-off rights of Purchaser pursuant to Section 1.4(f) and Section 4 hereof,
if during the period beginning on the Closing Date and ending on December 31, 2023 (the “Contingent Payment Period”), aggregate Worldwide
Net Sales of the Systems for such period determined as of the end of any calendar quarter exceed $15,000,000, Purchaser shall make a
Contingent Payment (the “First Sales Contingent Payment”) in an amount (the “First Sales Contingent Payment Amount”) equal to Ten Million
Dollars ($10,000,000).

(c)    Second Sales Contingent Payment. Subject to the set-off rights of Purchaser pursuant to Section 1.4(f) and Section 4
hereof, if, during the Contingent Payment Period, aggregate Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems for such period determined as of the end of
any calendar quarter exceed $20,000,000, Purchaser shall make a Contingent Payment (the “Second Sales Contingent Payment”) in an amount
(the “Second Sales Contingent Payment Amount” and, together with the First Sales Contingent Payment Amount, the “Contingent Payment
Amounts” and each, a “Contingent Payment Amount”) equal to Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000). For the avoidance of doubt, the Second
Sales Contingent Payment is in addition to and not duplicative of the First Sales Contingent Payment, and the same amounts included in
Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems shall apply for purposes of determining whether each milestone is achieved.

(d)    Sales Contingent Payments.

(i)    Sales Contingent Payment Certificates. Within forty-five (45) days following each calendar quarter during the
Contingent Payment Period, Purchaser shall deliver to VI a certificate (each, a “Sales Contingent Payment Certificate”), setting forth
Purchaser’s determination of the Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems for each such calendar quarter and for the period beginning on
the first day of the Contingent Payment Period and ending on the last day of such calendar quarter. Purchaser shall not be required to
deliver a Sales Contingent Payment Certificate after the Second Sales Contingent Payment has been made.

(ii)    Audit Rights; Objection Process. VI shall have a period of thirty (30) calendar days (the “Contingent Objection
Period”) following the delivery of each Sales Contingent Payment Certificate in which to provide written notice to Purchaser of any
objections thereto (the “Contingent Objection Notice”). During the Contingent Objection Period, Purchaser hereby grants VI and its
accountants (subject to any such accountant executing a non-disclosure agreement in respect of confidential information with respect to
such inquiry in customary form and substance) the right to examine the books and records of the Purchaser of Worldwide Net Sales of
the Systems for the Contingent Payment Period, at the location of such records on prior written notice of at least three (3) days for the
purpose of verifying the amount of Worldwide Net Sales for the Contingent Payment Period or applicable portion thereof with respect
to which such Sales Contingent Payment Certificate has been delivered (the “Contingent Payment Audit”). For the purpose of
conducting a Contingent Payment Audit, VI may hire, at its expense, an auditor or attorney of its choosing to assist in such
examination. VI shall have access to such books and records during normal business hours commencing on the date on which access to
such books and records is made available to VI and concluding upon the end of the Contingent Objection Period; provided, that any
review of such books and records conducted on Purchaser’s
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premises shall be completed within fourteen (14) days from commencement of such review. Any Contingent Objection Notice shall set
forth in reasonable detail the specific item set forth on the Contingent Payment Certificate to which each such objection relates and the
specific basis for each such objection. The Contingent Payment Certificate shall be deemed to be accepted by the Sellers, and shall
become final and binding on the parties on the later of the expiration of the Contingent Objection Period or the date on which all
objections have been resolved by the parties or the Independent Accounting Firm. If VI delivers any such Contingent Objection Notice
within the Contingent Objection Period, then VI and Purchaser shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute concerning the item(s)
subject to such Contingent Objection Notice. If VI and Purchaser do not resolve any dispute arising in connection with the calculations
relating to the Contingent Payment Certificate within thirty (30) calendar days after the date of delivery of the Contingent Objection
Notice, which thirty (30) calendar day period may be extended by written agreement of Purchaser and VI (such period, as it may be
extended, the “Contingent Initial Resolution Period”), such dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the procedures set forth in
Section 1.4(d)(iii) below.

(iii)    If VI and Purchaser have not been able to resolve a dispute arising in connection with the calculation of
Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems for the Contingent Payment Period or applicable portion thereof with respect to which such Sales
Contingent Payment Certificate has been delivered, either party may submit such dispute to, and such dispute shall be resolved fully,
finally and exclusively through the use of an Independent Accounting Firm. In connection with the dispute resolution process, each of
VI and Purchaser shall provide to the Independent Account Firm its calculation of Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems for the relevant
calendar quarter, and the fees and expenses of the Independent Accounting Firm shall be paid fifty percent (50%) by VI, on the one
hand, and fifty percent (50%) by Purchaser, on the other hand, unless the Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems as determined by the
Independent Accounting Firm are more than 20% more, or less, than the mid-point between the calculation provided by VI and the
calculation provided by Purchaser; if the Worldwide Net Sales as determined by the Independent Account Firm are more than 20%
more, or less, than such mid-point, all of the fees and expenses of the Independent Account Firm shall be paid by the party whose
calculation was furthest from the Worldwide Net sales determined by the Independent Accounting Firm. Any dispute resolution
proceeding shall be commenced within thirty (30) calendar days after the expiration of the Contingent Initial Resolution Period. In the
event that the Contingent Payment Audit results in an increase to Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems for the Contingent Payment
Period or applicable portion thereof with respect to which such Sales Contingent Payment Certificate has been delivered that exceeds
ten percent (10%) of Purchaser’s determination of Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems for such period as reflected in such Sales
Contingent Payment Certificate, Purchaser shall additionally reimburse the reasonable third party fees and expenses of the Sellers
related to the Contingent Payment Audit, otherwise the Sellers shall bear all of their fees and expenses related to the Contingent
Payment Audit. The Independent Accounting Firm shall determine (and written notice thereof shall be given to VI and Purchaser) as
promptly as practicable, but in any event within sixty (60) calendar days following its appointment, based solely on written
submissions detailing the disputed items submitted to it by both parties, only (x) whether Purchaser's calculation of the Worldwide Net
Sales of the Systems for the Contingent Payment Period or portion thereof, as applicable, were accurate and prepared in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement, and (y) whether and to what extent (if any) the Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems for the
Contingent Payment Period or portion thereof, as applicable, require adjustment, including the basis therefor, and the Independent
Accounting Firm shall make no other determinations or calculations. For the avoidance of doubt, the Independent Accounting Firm
shall not be entitled to impose penalties or interest on any party. All negotiations pursuant to this Section 1.4(d)(iii) shall be treated as
compromise and settlement negotiations for purposes of Rule 408 of the Federal Rules of Evidence and comparable other Legal
Requirements including state rules of evidence, and all negotiations, submissions to the Independent Accounting Firm, and dispute
resolution proceedings under this Section 1.4(d)(iii) shall be treated as confidential information. The Independent Accounting Firm
shall be bound by a mutually agreeable confidentiality agreement. The procedures of this Section 1.4(d)(iii) are exclusive and, except
as set forth below, the determination of the Independent Accounting Firm shall be final and binding on the parties. The decision
rendered pursuant to this Section 1.4(d)(iii) may be filed as a judgment in any court of competent jurisdiction. Either party may seek
specific enforcement or take other necessary legal action to enforce any decision under this Section 1.4(d)(iii). The other party's only
defense to such a request for specific
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enforcement or other legal action shall be fraud by or upon the Independent Accounting Firm. Absent such fraud, such other party shall
reimburse the party seeking enforcement for its expenses related to such enforcement.

(e)    Purchaser’s Obligations.

(i)    During the Contingent Payment Period, Purchaser shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, use commercially
reasonable efforts, consistent with Purchaser’s ordinary course of conduct to market and sell the Systems in those jurisdictions where
they have been approved for sale; provided, that whether certain efforts by Purchaser are deemed to be “commercially reasonable” with
respect to the Systems shall be determined in light of all relevant factors, taken as a whole, including but not limited to past sales and
future market potential of the Systems (including reasonably anticipated and actual profit margin), the level of regulatory approval that
may be available for the Systems (including but not limited to the extent of the indications for which the Systems have been approved),
the level of reimbursement that is available for the Systems, the safety and efficacy of the Systems, the level of Intellectual Property
protection of the Systems, the presence of third-party Intellectual Property, technology and products that may impact the marketability
of the Systems, the effectiveness and pricing of alternative technologies on the market for the Systems, obsolescence of the Systems,
changes in conditions in any market relevant to the manufacturing, marketing or sale of the Systems and related reimbursements, the
presence or absence of particularly difficult manufacturing issues, and the likely availability and cost of necessary raw materials. For
purposes of determining whether or not Purchaser is complying with its obligations under the first sentence of this Section 1.4(e),
Purchaser’s marketing and sales efforts for the Systems shall be considered in the aggregate. Purchaser shall not be deemed to be in
breach of this Section 1.4(e) for any particular period unless (A) Purchaser’s marketing and sales efforts with respect to the Systems
during such period, taken as a whole, are not commercially reasonable based upon the factors identified above, (B) the Seller Designee
has reasonably identified to Purchaser by written notice the manner in which he or she believes the Purchaser’s marketing and sales
efforts are not commercially reasonable, and (B) Purchaser’s marketing and sales efforts continue to not be commercially reasonable
more than sixty (60) days following such written notice from the Seller Designee.

(ii)    Without limiting the foregoing, during the Contingent Payment Period, Purchaser shall not, and shall cause its
Subsidiaries not to, take any actions in bad faith and in the sales and marketing of the Systems or the operation of the Purchaser, which
are undertaken with the primary purpose of avoiding or delaying any Contingent Payments.

(iii)    During the Contingent Payment Period, Purchaser shall designate an individual management employee
representative who is associated with the marketing and sale of the Systems who will be available via telephone, video or in person
conference with a designee of the Sellers, who initially shall be James (Chip) Draper (the “Seller Designee”) and who has signed a
nondisclosure agreement in the form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser, on a semiannual basis, to provide an update
on progress toward the marketing and sale of the Systems, and who will provide such other relevant information related to the
marketing and sale of the Systems during such update conference, as is reasonably requested by the Sellers’ designee. Any replacement
designee of the Sellers shall be subject to the approval of Purchaser, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed.

(f)    Right of Set-Off. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the obligation of Purchaser to make any
Contingent Payment shall be subject to the right of Purchaser to reduce the amount of such Contingent Payment pursuant to Section 4. Except
to the extent specifically provided in Section 4, there shall be no set-off.

(g)    Payment of Contingent Payments. Within ten (10) Business Days of the earlier to occur of (i) the delivery of a Sales
Contingent Payment Certificate that indicates Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems have exceeded $15,000,000 or $20,000,000 during the
Contingent Payment Period, and (ii) the date on which a dispute
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regarding the amount of Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems for the Contingent Payment Period or applicable portion thereof is resolved
pursuant to Section 1.4(d) and the result of such resolution is a determination that the Worldwide Net Sales of the Systems have exceeded
$15,000,000 or $20,000,000 during the Contingent Payment Period, Purchaser shall deliver to VI the Contingent Payment Amount for such
Sales Contingent Payment.

(h)    No Security. VI and Purchaser understand and agree that (i) the rights to receive any Contingent Payment shall not be
represented by any form of certificate or other instrument, are not transferable, and do not constitute an equity or ownership interest in
Purchaser, (ii) VI shall not have any rights as a securityholder of Purchaser as a result of VI’s right to receive any Contingent Payment
hereunder, and (iii) no interest is payable with respect to any Contingent Payment.

(i)    Tax Treatment of Contingent Payments. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that each Contingent Payment is
intended to constitute a payment of additional purchase price for U.S. federal and applicable state and local income Tax purposes (other than
the portion thereof consisting of imputed interest or original issue discount) and each Contingent Payment is intended to be eligible to be
reported by each Seller as a payment pursuant to an “installment sale” within the meaning of Section 453 of the Code. No party shall file any
Tax Return or otherwise take any position inconsistent with the foregoing except as required by applicable Legal Requirement.

(j)    Assignment of Obligations On Sale or Transfer of Purchaser. If at any time during the Contingent Payment Period,
Purchaser, directly or indirectly, sells, transfers or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all of its assets, Purchaser shall make provision for
the transferee thereof to assume Purchaser’s obligations under this Section 1.4; provided further, however, that any such transfer or disposition
(other than to a nationally recognized manufacturer of medical devices of comparable scale to the Purchaser, and with operations in the market
for which the Products are intended to be sold) shall not relieve Purchaser of any of its obligations hereunder as provided in Section 1.4,
without the written consent of VI.

1.5    Closing and Closing Deliverables.

(a)    The consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (the “Closing”) shall occur at the
offices of Latham & Watkins LLP, 200 Clarendon Street, Boston, MA 02116, at 10:00 A.M. (or may take place electronically as
mutually agreed by VI and Purchaser) on the date hereof (the “Closing Date”).

(b)    At or prior to the Closing:

(i)    Purchaser shall pay to VI, in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account(s) specified by
VI prior to the Closing Date, an amount equal to the Closing Date Cash Purchase Price;

(ii)    Purchaser shall deposit the Escrow Amount with the Escrow Agent;

(iii)    Purchaser and the Sellers shall execute and deliver to one another an assignment and assumption agreement in
the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the “Assumption Agreement”) and a bill of sale in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D
(the “Bill of Sale”);

(iv)    Purchaser and VI shall execute and deliver to one another the Escrow Agreement;

(v)    the Sellers shall deliver to Purchaser (a) each of the Consents set forth on Schedule 1.5(b)(v)(a), each in a form
reasonably acceptable to Purchaser and (b) evidence satisfactory to Purchaser of the release of any and all Encumbrances
(including without limitation the Encumbrances set forth on Schedule 1.5(b)(v)(b)) and other security interests with respect to
the Purchased Assets;

(vi)    each Seller shall deliver to Purchaser at the Closing a certificate of non-foreign status under Treasury
Regulations section 1.1445-2(b);
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(vii)    the Sellers shall deliver to Purchaser a certificate executed on behalf of Seller’s secretary or similar authorized
officer (the “Secretary’s Certificate”) certifying on behalf of each Seller: resolutions of the board of managers or directors and
equityholders approving this Agreement and the Transactions;

(viii)    the Sellers shall deliver a good standing certificate from the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and the
Secretary of Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as applicable;

(ix)    the Sellers shall deliver an executed assignment of trademarks in respect of the Trademarks and related
applications and rights included in the Seller Transferred Intellectual Property, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E (the
“Trademarks Assignment”);

(x)    the Sellers shall deliver an executed assignment of patents in respect of the Patents and related applications and
rights included in the Seller Transferred Intellectual Property, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F (the “Patents
Assignment”);

(xi)    the Sellers shall deliver an executed assignment of the Seller Transferred Intellectual Property in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit G (the “IP Assignment”); and

(xii)    Purchaser and VI shall execute and deliver to one another an assignment, assumption, notice and estoppel
agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit H (the “Yale Assumption Agreement”) with respect to the Exclusive License
Agreement dated November 16, 2005, as amended, by and between the VI and Yale University.

1.6    Unobtained Consents. To the extent that the assignment by a Seller to Purchaser pursuant to the terms hereof of any Purchased
Contract is not permitted without the consent of another Person or Persons which has not been obtained, this Agreement shall not constitute an
agreement to assign the same if an attempted assignment would otherwise constitute a breach or other contravention under any Contract or
Legal Requirement, and such Purchased Contract a “Contingent Asset”) shall only become a Purchased Asset, if and when such consent is
obtained. The applicable Seller shall use its commercially reasonable efforts from the Agreement Date through the date that is six (6) months
after the Closing Date (the “Transfer Period”) to obtain any consents or waivers required to assign to Purchaser any Contingent Asset, without
any conditions to such transfer (including the making of any payments) or changes or modifications of terms thereunder. Purchaser agrees that
Sellers and their respective Affiliates shall not have any Liability to Purchaser arising out of or relating to the failure to obtain any such consent
that may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents or because of any
circumstances resulting therefrom. If any such consent is not obtained, the applicable Seller and Purchaser will work together from and after the
Closing at mutual expense in a mutually agreeable arrangement under which Purchaser would obtain all of the benefits and assume all of the
obligations and Liabilities arising after Closing thereunder to the fullest extent legally possible unless otherwise determined by VI and
Purchaser.  

1.7    Allocation. The Cash Consideration (plus Assumed Liabilities and any other amounts properly taken into account as purchase
price under the Code) shall be allocated among the Purchased Assets and the covenants not to compete contained in Section 5.4 of this
Agreement in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code and the Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder (and any similar provision of
state, local or foreign law, as appropriate) (the “Allocation”). The Allocation shall be delivered by Purchaser to Seller within 90 days of the
Closing Date, and shall be subject to the review and comment of VI. Purchaser shall consider in good faith all reasonable comments of VI
provided within 30 days of receipt of Purchaser’s Allocation, and the parties shall work together in good faith to resolve any differences and
agree on a final Allocation; provided that if no such agreement can be reached with respect to the Allocation, such matter shall be submitted to
the Independent Accounting Firm (whose fees with respect to such determination will be borne 50% by the Sellers and 50% by Purchaser) to
prepare the Allocation, which shall be final and binding on Purchaser and each Seller. Purchaser and the Sellers shall file all Tax Returns
(including, but not limited to, Internal Revenue Service Form 8594) consistent with the Allocation (as finally determined in accordance with the
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provisions of this Section 1.7) except as otherwise required by applicable Legal Requirement. Neither Purchaser nor the Sellers shall take any
Tax position inconsistent with such Allocation and neither Purchaser nor the Sellers shall agree to any proposed adjustment to the Allocation by
any Taxing authority without first giving the other party prior written notice; provided, however, that nothing contained herein shall prevent
Purchaser or the Sellers from settling any proposed deficiency or adjustment by any Tax authority based upon or arising out of the Allocation,
and neither Purchaser nor the Sellers shall be required to litigate before any court any proposed deficiency or adjustment by any taxing
authority challenging such Allocation.

2.    Representations and Warranties of the Sellers

Sellers represent and warrant, jointly and severally, as of the Closing Date, to Purchaser as follows, except as set forth in the Disclosure
Schedule, which shall be arranged in numbered Sections corresponding to the subsections in this Section 2 (and qualify such corresponding
subsections in this Section 2 regardless of whether such Disclosure Schedule is referenced in such corresponding subsection in this Section 2
where the applicability is reasonably discernable from the disclosure), that the statements contained in this Section 2 are true and correct (as
qualified therein):

2.1    Due Organization; Subsidiaries; Etc. Each Seller is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
jurisdiction of its organization. Each Seller is duly qualified, authorized, registered or licensed to do business, in good standing, in any
jurisdiction in which the business of such Seller requires it to be so qualified, authorized, registered or licensed to do business, except where the
failure to be so qualified would not have a Business Material Adverse Effect. Management is a wholly owned Subsidiary of VI. Management
does not have any Subsidiaries or own equity interests in any other Person. Aside from Management, VI does not have any Subsidiaries or own
equity interests in any other Person.

2.2    Authority; Binding Nature Of Agreements; Non-Contravention.

(a)    Each Seller has the full power and authority to enter into and to perform its obligations under each of the Transaction Documents
to which it is a party; and the execution, delivery and performance by such Seller of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party have been
duly authorized by all necessary corporation or company, as applicable, action on the part of Sellers. This Agreement and each of the other
Transaction Documents to which such Seller is a party constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such Seller, enforceable against such
Seller in accordance with their respective terms.

(b)    Neither the execution and delivery of any of the Transaction Documents, nor the consummation or performance of any of the
Transactions, will directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time): (i) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of, or give
any Governmental Body or other Person the right to challenge any of the Transactions or to exercise any remedy or obtain any relief under, any
Legal Requirement or any Order to which the Sellers, the Business, or any of the assets of the Sellers, are subject; (ii) contravene, conflict with
or result in a violation of any of the terms or requirements of, or give any Governmental Body the right to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel,
terminate or modify, any Governmental Authorization that is held by the Sellers or any employee of the Sellers; (iii) contravene, conflict with
or result in a violation or breach of, or result in a default under, any provision of any Contract that would be a Purchased Contract but for the
terms of Section 1.6; (iv) result in the imposition or creation of any Encumbrance upon or with respect to any of the Purchased Assets (other
than Permitted Encumbrances); or (v) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any provision of the Sellers’ Organizational
Documents. None of the Sellers nor the Business were, are and will be required to make any filing with or give any notice to, or to obtain any
Consent from, any Governmental Body or any Third Party in connection with the execution and delivery of any of the Transaction Documents
or the consummation or performance of any of the Transactions. The approval by the (x) board of directors (or similar governing body) of each
of the Sellers and (y) the equity holders of Seller of this Agreement and the Transactions, each of which has been obtained by the Sellers, are
the only approvals of any Person that are necessary to approve this Agreement and the Transactions under the laws of the State of Delaware and
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the Organizational Documents of each such Seller.

2.3    Financial Statements. Complete copies of the audited financial statements consisting of the balance sheets of the Business as at
December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 and the related statements of income and retained earnings, stockholders' equity and cash flow for
the years then ended (the “Audited Financial Statements”), and unaudited financial statements consisting of the balance sheet of the Business as
at October 31, 2018 and the related statements of income and retained earnings, stockholders' equity and cash flow for the ten-month period
then ended (the “Interim Financial Statements” and together with the Audited Financial Statements, the “Financial Statements”) have been
delivered to Purchaser. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the
periods involved, subject, in the case of the Interim Financial Statements, to normal and recurring year-end adjustments (the effect of which
will not be materially adverse) and the absence of notes (that, if presented, would not differ materially from those presented in the Audited
Financial Statements). The Financial Statements are based on the books and records of the Business, and fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition of the Business as of the respective dates they were prepared and the results of the operations of the Business for the
periods indicated. The balance sheet of the Business as of October 31, 2018 is referred to herein as the “Balance Sheet” and the date thereof as
the “Balance Sheet Date.”

2.4    Undisclosed Liabilities. Sellers have no material Liabilities with respect to the Business that would be required to be reflected or
reserved against on a consolidated balance sheet of the Sellers prepared in accordance with GAAP, except (a) those which are adequately
reflected or reserved against in the Balance Sheet as of the Balance Sheet Date, (b) expenses incurred in connection with the Transactions, (c)
Excluded Liabilities, and (d) those which have been incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business since the Balance Sheet Date and which are
not, individually or in the aggregate, material in amount.

2.5    Absence Of Changes. Since October 31, 2018, there has not been any:

(a)    event, occurrence or development that has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate,
a Business Material Adverse Effect;

(b)    material change in any method of accounting or accounting practice for the Business, except as required by GAAP or as
disclosed in the notes to the Financial Statements;

(c)    making of any loan or advance to any other Person, other than travel advances and other advances to employees for
customary business purposes;

(d)    entry into any Contract that would constitute a Material Contract;

(e)    sale or transfer, or lease or license, pledge or encumber any asset (including any Intellectual Property or Technology) to
any other Person, except for leases or licenses of assets by the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(f)    transfer, assignment, sale or other disposition of any of the material assets shown or reflected in the Balance Sheet, except
for the sale of Inventory in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(g)    cancellation of any debts or claims or amendment, termination or waiver of any material rights constituting, or that would
have constituted, Purchased Assets;

(h)    transfer or assignment of or grant of any license or sublicense under or with respect to any Intellectual Property or
Intellectual Property License (except non-exclusive licenses or sublicenses granted in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with
past practice);

(i)    abandonment or lapse of or failure to maintain in full force and effect any Registered Intellectual Property except as
disclosed on Section 2.5(i) of the Disclosure Schedule, or failure to take or
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maintain reasonable measures to protect the confidentiality or value of any Trade Secrets except where an act of misappropriation has
occurred despite the Sellers reasonable efforts to protect of the confidentiality or value of any Trade Secrets, and to the Knowledge of
Sellers, no such act of misappropriation has occurred;

(j)    material damage, destruction or loss, or any material interruption in use, of any Purchased Assets, whether or not covered
by insurance;

(k)    acceleration, termination, material modification to or cancellation of any Purchased Contract or Permit;

(l)    material capital expenditures which would constitute an Assumed Liability;

(m)    imposition of any Encumbrance upon any of the Purchased Assets;

(n)    (i) grant of any bonuses, whether monetary or otherwise, or increase in any wages, salary, severance, pension or other
compensation or benefits in respect of any current Business Employee or independent contractors or consultants of the Business, other
than as provided for in any written agreements, as required by applicable Law or in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practices, (ii) change in the terms of employment for any Business Employee, or (iii) action to accelerate the vesting or payment of any
compensation or benefit for any Business Employee or independent contractor of the Business;

(o)    adoption, modification or termination of any: (i) employment, severance, retention or other agreement with any current or
former employee, officer, director, independent contractor or consultant of the Business, (ii) Plan, or (iii) collective bargaining or other
agreement with a union, in each case whether written or oral;

(p)    any loan to (or forgiveness of any loan to), or entry into any other transaction with, any current or former directors,
officers or employees of the Business;

(q)    adoption of any plan of merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or dissolution or filing of a petition in
bankruptcy under any provisions of federal or state bankruptcy Law or consent to the filing of any bankruptcy petition against it under
any similar Law;

(r)    purchase, lease or other acquisition of the right to own, use or lease any property or assets in connection with the Business
for an amount in excess of $30,000, individually (in the case of a lease, per annum) or $100,000 in the aggregate (in the case of a lease,
for the entire term of the lease, not including any option term), except for purchases of Inventory or supplies in the Ordinary Course of
Business consistent with past practice;

(s)    with respect to any material Contract by which the Business or any of the assets owned or used by the Business is or was
bound, or under which the Business has or had any rights or interest, amendment or modification in a manner that has increased the
obligations of the Sellers thereunder or terminate such Contract (other than terminations of Contracts due to the expiration of the stated
term thereof); or

(t)    entrance into any Contract to do any of the foregoing.

2.6    Title To Purchased Assets. Each Seller has, and will convey to Purchaser, good and valid title to, or in the case of leased or
licensed properties and assets, valid leasehold interests or valid licenses in, all of the properties and assets (whether in tangible or intangible
form), real, personal and mixed, used or held for use in the Business by such Seller and constituting a Purchased Asset, free and clear of any
and all Encumbrances, except Permitted Encumbrances.

2.7    Condition and Sufficiency of Assets. Except as set forth in Section 2.7 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Purchased Assets are in
good working order. The Purchased Assets are sufficient for the continued manufacturing,
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marketing and selling of the Medical Devices after the Closing in substantially the same manner as conducted prior to the Closing.

2.8    Inventories. All Inventory of Sellers is of a quality and quantity usable and, with respect to finished goods, resalable in the
Ordinary Course of Business. None of such Inventory is slow-moving, obsolete, damaged, defective or of below-standard quality, other than
that which has been written off or written down to net realizable value on the Balance Sheet or the accounting records of Sellers as of the
Closing Date in accordance with GAAP. All Inventory of Sellers is held free and clear of all Encumbrances and no Inventory is held on a
consignment basis. All Inventory of Sellers is maintained at the facilities of Sellers’ contract manufacturers and the quantities of each item of
inventory (whether raw material, work-in-process or finished goods) are not excessive, but are reasonably in the present circumstances of
Sellers.

2.9    Suppliers; Customers.

(a)    Section 2.9(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth with respect to the Business (i) the 15 customers who paid the most aggregate
consideration to Sellers during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and the first ten months of 2018 (collectively, the “Material
Customers”); and (ii) the amount of consideration paid by each Material Customer during such periods. Neither Seller has received any notice,
and neither Seller has any reason to believe, that any of the Material Customers has ceased, or intends to cease after the Closing, to use the
goods or services of the Business or to otherwise terminate or materially reduce its relationship with the Business.

(b)    Section 2.9(b) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth with respect to the Business (i) the 15 suppliers to whom Seller has paid the
most aggregate consideration during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and the first ten months of 2018 (collectively, the “Material
Suppliers”); and (ii) the amount of purchases from or payment to each Material Supplier during such periods. Neither Seller has received any
notice, and neither Seller has any reason to believe, that any of the Material Suppliers has ceased, or intends to cease, to supply goods or
services to the Business or to otherwise terminate or materially reduce its relationship with the Business.

2.10    Intellectual Property.

(a)    Section 2.10(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and correct list of all Registered Intellectual Property,
including: (i) the record owner of such item, and, if different, the legal owner and beneficial owner of such item, (ii) the jurisdiction in which
such item is issued, registered or pending, and (iii) the issuance, registration or application date and number of such item. All necessary fees
and filings with respect to any Registered Intellectual Property have been timely paid or submitted to the relevant Governmental Bodies and
Domain Name registrars to maintain such Registered Intellectual Property in full force and effect. No issuance or registration obtained and no
application filed by the Sellers for any Registered Intellectual Property has been cancelled, abandoned, allowed to lapse or not renewed, except
where the Sellers have, in their reasonable business judgment, decided to cancel, abandon, allow to lapse or not renew such issuance,
registration or application. Sellers have provided Purchaser with true and complete copies of file histories, documents, certificates, office
actions, correspondence and other materials related to all Registered Intellectual Property.

(b)    The Sellers are the sole and exclusive owner of all right, title and interest in and to all Seller Transferred Intellectual
Property owned or purported to be owned by the Sellers, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances). To the
Knowledge of the Sellers, the Sellers have valid and continuing rights (pursuant to Intellectual Property Licenses in Contracts) to use, sell,
license and otherwise exploit, as the case may be, all other Seller Transferred Intellectual Property as the same is used, sold, licensed and
otherwise exploited by the Sellers in the Business as currently conducted by the Sellers, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than
Permitted Encumbrances). The Seller Transferred Intellectual Property constitutes all of the Intellectual Property and Technology necessary and
sufficient for the continued conduct of the Business immediately following the Closing in substantially
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the same manner as conducted prior to the Closing. The foregoing shall not be deemed a representation or warranty of non-infringement of
third party Intellectual Property.

(c)    The Seller Transferred Intellectual Property owned by the Sellers (including the Registered Intellectual Property) is
subsisting, and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, valid and enforceable. The Seller Transferred Intellectual Property exclusively licensed to the
Sellers is , to the Knowledge of Sellers, subsisting, enforceable and valid. The Sellers have obtained from all current and former employees,
consultants and contractors who have created any portion of, or otherwise who would have any rights in or to, the Seller Transferred
Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned by the Sellers valid and enforceable written assignments, pursuant to which such
employee, consultant or contractor makes a present assignment of any such Seller Transferred Intellectual Property and all rights therein to the
Sellers and irrevocably waives all of such person’s moral rights therein. The consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not
result in the loss or impairment of any right to own, use, practice or otherwise exploit any Seller Transferred Intellectual Property. Neither this
Agreement nor any transaction contemplated by this Agreement will result in the grant by the Sellers to any Person of any ownership interest or
other right with respect to any Seller Transferred Intellectual Property or any Intellectual Property or Technology owned by Purchaser or any of
its Affiliates pursuant to any Contract to which the Sellers are a party or by which any assets or properties of the Sellers are bound.

(d)    None of the following infringes, misappropriates, or violates or has infringed, misappropriated or violated, any
Intellectual Property or Technology of any Person: (i) any Seller Transferred Intellectual Property owned by or exclusively licensed to the
Sellers; (ii) any use, practice or other exploitation of any Seller Transferred Intellectual Property in the Business; (iii) any Business Products
and Services (or the making, having made, use, offer for sale, sale, import, export, lease, license, distribution, provision, rendering,
reproduction, performance, display, transmission, modification, creation of derivative works of or other disposal or exploitation of any Business
Products and Services); or (iv) any current conduct, operations or practices of the Business. None of the Sellers have received any written or, to
the Knowledge of the Sellers, unwritten claim from any Person, and there is no pending or threatened Proceeding: (A) alleging any
infringement, misappropriation, misuse or violation of any Intellectual Property or Technology or unfair competition, (B) inviting any Seller to
take a license under any Intellectual Property or consider the applicability of any Intellectual Property to any Business Products and Services or
the conduct of the Seller Business or (C) challenging the ownership, use, validity or enforceability of any Seller Transferred Intellectual
Property.

(e)    To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no Person is infringing, misappropriating, misusing, diluting or violating any Seller
Transferred Intellectual Property. None of the Sellers have made any written or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, unwritten claim against any
Person alleging any infringement, misappropriation, misuse, dilution or violation of any Seller Transferred Intellectual Property. The Sellers
have the right to bring actions for the infringement or other violation of all of the Seller Transferred Intellectual Property owned by or licensed
to the Sellers. None of the Seller Transferred Intellectual Property is subject to any outstanding Order. Neither Seller is a party, nor is the Seller
Transferred Intellectual Property or any property licensed under any Intellectual Property License involved in, any opposition, interference,
post-grant review, inter-partes review, or the like.

(f)    Section 2.10(f) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a correct, current and complete list of all Intellectual Property
Licenses, specifying for each the date, title and parties thereto. Seller has provided Purchaser with true and complete copies (or in the case of
any oral agreements, a complete and correct written description) of all such Intellectual Property Licenses, including all modifications,
amendments and supplements thereto and waivers thereunder. Each Intellectual Property License is valid and binding on Seller in accordance
with its terms and is in full force and effect. Neither Seller nor any other party thereto is, or is alleged to be, in breach of or default under, or has
provided or received any notice of breach of, default under, or intention to terminate (including by non-renewal), any Intellectual Property
License.

(g)    No Trade Secret included in the Seller Transferred Intellectual Property has been authorized to be disclosed or has been
disclosed by the Sellers to any Person other than pursuant to a written confidentiality Contract restricting the disclosure and use thereof. The
Sellers have taken commercially reasonable measures to protect
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the confidentiality of all Trade Secrets included in the Seller Transferred Intellectual Property. Each employee, consultant and contractor of the
Sellers has entered into a written non-disclosure Contract with the Sellers.

(h)    The IT Assets operate in all material respects in accordance with their documentation and functional specifications and
otherwise as required by the Sellers and the operations of Business. Each Seller (i) has taken commercially reasonable measures to preserve and
maintain the performance, security and integrity of the IT Systems (and all Software, information or data stored thereon) including against any
unauthorized use, access, interruption, modification or corruption, and (ii) maintains reasonable documentation regarding all IT Systems, their
methods of operation and their support and maintenance. Sellers has implemented and maintains commercially reasonable data backup, data
storage, system redundancy, business continuity, and disaster avoidance and recovery procedures with respect to the IT Assets. There has been
no failure with respect to any IT Assets that has had a material effect on the operations of the Business and to the Knowledge of the Sellers,
there has been no unauthorized access to or use of any IT Systems.

(i)    No government funding and no facilities of any university, college, other educational institution or research center were
used in the development of any Seller Transferred Intellectual Property owned by the Sellers. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no current or
former employee, consultant or contractor of the Seller that contributed to the creation or development of any Seller Transferred Intellectual
Property has performed any services for any government or any university, college, other educational institution or research center during a
period of time during which such employee, consultant or contractor was also performing services for the Sellers.

2.11    Contracts.

(a)    Section 2.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedule identifies each Contract to which any Seller is a party or by which any Seller is
bound (each, a “Material Contract”):

(i)    that is a collective bargaining or similar agreement with any labor union or other employee association or
organization;

(ii)    relating to the acquisition, transfer, use, development, restriction, sharing, license, sublicense or grant of any
other right of any Technology or any Intellectual Property, including any Intellectual Property License, to or from Sellers (other than:
(i) Off The Shelf Software; (ii) non-disclosure agreements; (iii) open source licenses; and (iv) agreements with employees);

(iii)    imposing any restriction on the Sellers’ right or ability (A) to compete with any other Person, (B) to acquire any
product or other asset or any services from any other Person, to sell any product or other asset to or perform any services for any other
Person or to transact business or deal in any other manner with any other Person, or (C) to develop or distribute any Technology;

(iv)    creating or involving any agency relationship, distribution arrangement or franchise relationship (other than
employment or consulting relationships);

(v)    relating to the creation of any Encumbrance (other than Permitted Encumbrances) with respect to any asset of the
Sellers;

(vi)    involving or incorporating any guaranty, any pledge, any performance or completion bond, any indemnity or any
surety arrangement;

(vii)    creating or relating to any partnership or joint venture or any sharing of revenues, profits, losses, costs or
liabilities;

(viii)    with any Related Party;
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(ix)    that contemplates or might reasonably be expected to involve (A) the payment or delivery of cash or other
consideration in an amount or having a value in excess of $100,000 in the aggregate, or (B) the performance of services having a value
in excess of $100,000 in the aggregate;

(x)    that require Seller to purchase or sell a stated portion of the requirements or outputs of the Business or that
contain “take or pay” provisions;

(xi)    that provide for the indemnification of any Person or the assumption of any Tax, environmental or other Liability
of any Person;

(xii)    that relate to the acquisition or disposition of any business, a material amount of stock or assets of any other
Person or any real property (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise);

(xiii)    that are broker, distributor, dealer, manufacturer's representative, franchise, agency, sales promotion, market
research, marketing consulting and advertising Contracts;

(xiv)    that are employment agreements and Contracts with independent contractors or individual consultants (or
similar arrangements) and which involve annual base compensation of $100,000 or more and are not cancellable without penalty,
severance or other payment obligation (other than accrued earnings with respect to the pre-termination period);

(xv)    with any Governmental Authority;

(xvi)    that relate to a joint venture, partnership or similar cooperative endeavor with a third party;

(xvii)    that are for the sale of any of the Purchased Assets or for the grant to any Person of any option, right of first
refusal or preferential or similar right to purchase any of the Purchased Assets; and

(xviii)    that was entered into in connection with any historic acquisition consummated by the Sellers.

(b)    Each Material Contract is in full force and effect and is a legal, valid and binding contract or agreement of the applicable
Seller(s) and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, each other party thereto, and is enforceable against such Seller(s) and, to the Knowledge of the
Sellers, each other party thereto, in accordance with its terms, subject only to general enforceability exceptions. (i) The Sellers have not, and, to
the Knowledge of the Sellers, no other Person has, materially violated or breached, or declared or committed any material default under, any
Material Contract; (ii) no event has occurred, and no circumstance or condition exists (including the execution of this Agreement and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby), that might (with or without notice or lapse of time) (A) result in a material violation or
breach of any of the provisions of any Material Contract, (B) give any Person the right to declare a default or exercise any remedy under any
Material Contract, (C) give any Person the right to accelerate the maturity or performance of any Material Contract, or (D) give any Person the
right to cancel, terminate or modify any Material Contract; (iii) the Sellers have not received any written notice or other communication
regarding any material violation or breach of, or default under, any Material Contract; and (iv) the Sellers have not waived any material right
under any Seller Contract. Purchaser has been provided with a true, correct and complete copy of all Material Contracts, together with all
supplements, amendments, waivers or other changes thereto.

2.12    Compliance with Legal Requirements.

(a)    General. The Sellers are in material compliance with each Legal Requirement that is applicable to Sellers or the conduct
of the Business or the ownership or use of the Purchased Assets, and have at all times since January 1, 2013 been, in material compliance with
each Legal Requirement that is or was applicable to Sellers, the conduct of the Business or the ownership or use of the Purchased Assets. No
event has occurred, and no condition or
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circumstance exists, that would reasonably be expected to (with or without notice or lapse of time) constitute or result directly or indirectly in
material violation by the Sellers of, or a material failure on the part of the Sellers to comply with, any Legal Requirement that is applicable to
the conduct of the Business or the ownership or use of the Purchased Assets.

(b)    Anti-Corruption Compliance. Sellers have not violated any applicable Anti-Corruption Law. No director, officer or
employee of any Seller, nor to the Knowledge of Sellers, any agent, representative, consultant or other Person acting for or on behalf of any
Seller has, in connection with the conduct or operation of the Business, violated any applicable Anti-Corruption Law. No Seller (including any
of its officers or directors) has received any material written notice of material violation with respect to any applicable Anti-Corruption Law, or
any rules or regulations thereunder.

(c)    Export Controls and Economic Sanctions Compliance.

(i)    Each Seller is and has been in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Legal Requirements relating
to imports, exports and economic sanctions, including all laws administered and enforced by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of
Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) or the U.S. State Department (“Trade Laws”).

(ii)    No Seller has been a party to any agreement or engaged in any transaction or other business, directly or
indirectly, (i) in material violation of Trade Laws or (ii) with any Governmental Entity or other Person that appears on any list of
OFAC-sanctioned parties (including any Person that appears on OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List), is
owned or controlled by such a Person, or is located or organized in any country or territory that is subject to comprehensive OFAC
sanctions.

2.13    Governmental Authorizations. Sellers have all material Governmental Authorizations required for Sellers to conduct the
Business as currently conducted and for the ownership and use of the Purchased Assets, and all such Governmental Authorizations are in full
force and effect. Section 2.13 of the Disclosure Schedule identifies: each Governmental Authorization that is held, or required to be held, by the
Sellers and that is required in order to conduct the Business as presently conducted or hold or use the Purchased Assets (each a “Business
Government Authorization”). Each Business Governmental Authorization identified or required to be identified in Section 2.13 of the
Disclosure Schedule is valid and in full force and effect. The Sellers are in material compliance with all of the terms and requirements of each
Business Governmental Authorization identified or required to be identified in Section 2.13 of the Disclosure Schedule. To the Knowledge of
Sellers, no event has occurred, and no condition or circumstance exists, that would reasonably be expected to (with or without notice or lapse of
time) (a) constitute or result directly or indirectly in a violation of or a failure to comply with any term or requirement of any Business
Governmental Authorization identified or required to be identified in Section 2.13 of the Disclosure Schedule, or (b) result directly or indirectly
in the revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination or material modification of any Business Governmental Authorization
identified or required to be identified in Section 2.13 of the Disclosure Schedule. The Sellers have not received any written notice from any
Governmental Body or any other Person regarding (i) any actual, alleged, possible or potential violation of or failure to comply with any
material term or requirement of any Business Governmental Authorization, or (ii) any actual, proposed, possible or potential revocation,
withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination or modification of any Business Governmental Authorization.

2.14    Regulatory Matters.

(a)    Each existing Medical Device has been and is being developed, manufactured, tested, distributed and/or marketed in material
compliance with all applicable requirements under the FDCA, applicable foreign equivalents and other Health Care Laws, including those
relating to investigational use, premarket clearance or marketing approval to market a Medical Device, quality system regulation, current good
manufacturing practices, packaging, labeling, advertising, promotion, record keeping, adverse event reporting, filing of other reports and
security. No Seller has received any written notice from the FDA or any other Governmental Body (i) contesting the premarket clearance or
approval of, the uses of or the labeling and promotion of any products of the Business, or (ii) otherwise alleging any violation applicable to any
Medical Device of any Legal Requirement.
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(b)    Sellers have not made an untrue statement of a material fact or fraudulent statement to the FDA or any other Governmental Body,
failed to disclose a material fact required to be disclosed to the FDA or any other Governmental Body, or committed an act, made a statement,
or failed to make a statement that, at the time such disclosure was made, could reasonably be expected to provide a basis for the FDA or any
other Governmental Body to invoke its policy respecting “Fraud, Untrue Statements of Material Facts, Bribery, and Illegal Gratuities”, set forth
in 56 Fed. Reg. 46191 (September 10, 1991).

(c)    Neither Sellers, nor any officer, employee or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, agent of Sellers, has been convicted of any crime or
engaged in any conduct for which debarment is mandated by 21 U.S.C. § 335a(a) or any similar Legal Requirement or authorized by 21 U.S.C.
§ 335a(b) or any similar Legal Requirement. None of the Sellers, nor, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, any officer, employee or agent of Sellers
has been convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct for which such Person or entity could be excluded from participating in the federal
health care programs under Section 1128 of the Social Security Act of 1935, as amended (the “Social Security Act”) or any similar Legal
Requirement.

(d)    No Seller has received any written notice that the FDA or any other Governmental Body has (i) commenced, or threatened to the
Sellers to initiate, any action to withdraw its approval or request the recall of any Medical Device, (ii) commenced or threatened to initiate, any
action to enjoin production of any Medical Device, or (iii) commenced or threatened to initiate, any action to enjoin the production of any
medical device produced at any facility where any Medical Device is manufactured, tested or packaged. Since January 1, 2013, no Medical
Device has been recalled, been subject to a product advisory notice, withdrawn, suspended, seized or discontinued (other than for commercial
or other business reasons) by, Sellers in the United States or outside the United States (whether voluntarily or otherwise).

(e)    To the Knowledge of Sellers, there are no facts, circumstances or conditions that would reasonably be expected to form the basis
for any material investigation, suit, claim, action or proceeding against Sellers with respect to the Business relating to or arising under (i) the
FDCA; (ii) the Medicare program (Title XVIII of the Social Security Act), the Medicaid program (Title XIX of the Social Security Act) and the
TRICARE program (10 U.S.C. §§ 1071, et seq.); (iii) the Physician Payments Sunshine Act; (iv) the federal Anti-Kickback Statute (42 U.S.C.
§ 1320a-7(b)) and the False Claims Act (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(a)); (v) the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (42
U.S.C. § 1320d et. seq.), as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act; (vi) Section 501(k) of the
Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended; (vii) any comparable foreign Legal Requirements with respect to matters relating to the provision,
administration, promotion and/or payment of healthcare products or services that are applicable to Sellers; and (viii) the regulations
promulgated pursuant to all such applicable Legal Requirements, each as amended from time to time (collectively, “Healthcare Laws”).

(f)    Sellers hold, and since January 1, 2013 have held, all material Governmental Authorizations under Healthcare Laws that are
necessary for the lawful operation of the business of Sellers, including (i) all authorizations under the FDCA (including Section 510(k) and
Section 515 thereof), and (ii) authorizations of any applicable Governmental Authority that are concerned with the quality, identity, safety,
efficacy, development, testing, manufacturing, labeling, marketing, distribution, sale, pricing, import or export of Business Products and
Services (including without limitation Medical Devices) necessary for the lawful operation of the businesses of Sellers in each jurisdiction in
which Sellers operate or are required to hold such Governmental Regulation (the “Seller Regulatory Permits”).

(g)    Except as would not reasonably be expected to be, individually or in the aggregate, material to Sellers, taken as a whole, the
businesses of each of the Sellers are being, and since January 1, 2013 have been, conducted in compliance with all Healthcare Laws. There is
no Proceeding  pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened, against either Seller for failure to comply with any Healthcare Law.

(h)    Neither of the Sellers is a party to any corporate integrity agreements, monitoring agreements, deferred prosecution agreements,
consent decrees, settlement orders, or similar material agreements with or imposed by any Governmental Authority and no such action is
currently pending. Except as has not had, and would not reasonably
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be expected to be, individually or in the aggregate, material to Sellers, taken as a whole Sellers have not received since January 1, 2013, and is
not subject to any outstanding obligations arising under, any criminal, civil or regulatory action, inspection, Form 483, warning letter, notice of
violation or “untitled” letter, or similar Proceeding, demand, investigation, or notice by the FDA or any similar Government Authority.

(i)    Except as would not reasonably be expected to be, individually or in the aggregate, material to Sellers, taken as a whole, since
January 1, 2013, all reports, documents, claims, permits, adverse event reports, complaints, notices, registrations and applications required to be
filed, maintained or furnished to the FDA or any other Healthcare Regulatory Authority by Sellers have been so filed, maintained or furnished.
All such reports, documents, claims, permits, adverse event reports, complaints, notices, registrations and applications were complete and
accurate in all material respects on the date filed (or were corrected in or supplemented by a subsequent filing).

(j)    Except as available in the public databases of any Healthcare Regulatory Authority, since January 1, 2013, neither of the Sellers
has voluntarily or involuntarily initiated, conducted or issued, caused to be initiated, conducted or issued, or received written notice of any
material recall, field corrective action, market withdrawal or replacement, safety alert, warning, “dear doctor” letter, investigator notice, or
other notice or action to wholesalers, distributors, retailers, healthcare professionals or patients relating to an alleged lack of safety, efficacy or
regulatory compliance of any Business Products and Services or is currently considering initiating, conducting or issuing any material recall of
any Business Products and Services.

2.15     Taxes.
    

(a)    The Sellers have timely filed (taking into account any extensions of time for such filings that have been properly and
timely requested by the Sellers) all income Tax Returns and other material Tax Returns that were required to be filed by them. All such Tax
Returns are complete and accurate in all material respects. All Taxes owed by the Sellers (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) have been
paid or accrued. There are no Encumbrances on any of the Purchased Assets for Taxes (other than Permitted Encumbrances).

(b)    Each Seller has withheld and paid all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or
owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, owner, or other third party, and all Internal Revenue Service Forms W-2 and 1099
required with respect thereto have been properly completed and timely filed.

(c)    There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened audits, investigations, disputes, notices of deficiency,
claims or other Proceedings that could result in an Encumbrance on the Purchased Assets or that otherwise relate to any Tax Liability of either
Seller.

(d)    Since the date of the Interim Balance Sheet, the Sellers have not incurred any material Liability for Taxes outside the
Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past practice that could reasonably be expected to result in the creation of an Encumbrance on the
Purchased Assets.

(e)    None of the Purchased Assets (i) constitutes “tax-exempt use property” within the meaning of Section 168(h) of the Code,
(ii) is “tax-exempt bond financed property” within the meaning of Section 168(g) of the Code, (iii) secures any debt the interest of which is tax-
exempt under Section 103(a) of the Code or (iv) is subject to a 467 rental agreement as defined in Section 467 of the Code.

(f)    VI has never been classified as a C corporation for United States federal income tax purposes and the Sellers are not
“applicable large employers” within the meaning of Code Section 4980H.

(g)    Neither Seller is or has been a party to any ‘‘listed transaction,’’ as defined in Code Section 6707A(c)(2) and Treasury
Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b)(2).

2.16    Employment and Employee Benefit Matters.
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(a)    Sellers have provided Purchaser with a list of all Business Employees and independent contractors or consultants of the
Business as of the date hereof, including any Business Employee who is on a leave of absence of any nature, paid or unpaid, and sets forth for
each such individual the following: (i) name; (ii) title or position (including whether full-time or part-time); (iii) hire or retention date; (iv)
current annual base compensation rate or contract fee; and (v) commission, bonus or other incentive-based compensation. Sellers have paid all
compensation, including wages, commissions, bonuses, fees and other compensation, payable to all Business Employees, independent
contractors or consultants of the Business that is otherwise due and payable for services performed on or prior to the date hereof.

(b)    The terms and conditions of employment of any Business Employee are not, governed by any collective bargaining or
similar agreement. There is no labor strike, work stoppage, picketing, lockout, walkout or other organized work interruption pending or, to the
Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened against the Sellers relating to any Business Employee, and the Sellers have not experienced any such
labor strike, work stoppage, picketing, lockout, walkout or other organized work interruption during the past three years. There are no labor
unions or other organizations representing, purporting to represent and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no union organization campaign is in
progress with respect to, any Business Employee.

(c)    Sellers are and have been for the prior three years in material compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements
pertaining to employment and employment practices to the extent they relate to Business Employees, volunteers, interns, consultants and
independent contractors of the Business, including all Legal Requirements relating to labor relations, equal employment opportunities, fair
employment practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, reasonable accommodation, disability rights or benefits,
immigration, wages, hours, overtime compensation, child labor, hiring, promotion and termination of employees, working conditions, meal and
break periods, privacy, health and safety, workers' compensation, leaves of absence, paid sick leave and unemployment insurance.

(d)    Except as could not result in any material liability (i) all individuals characterized and treated by Seller as consultants or
independent contractors of the Business are properly treated as independent contractors under all applicable Legal Requirements and (ii) all
Business Employees classified as exempt under the Fair Labor Standards Act and state and local wage and hour laws are properly classified.
There are no Actions against Seller pending, or to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened to be brought or filed, by or with any Governmental
Body or arbitrator in connection with the employment of any current or former Business Employee.

(e)    Schedule 2.16(e) lists each Plan in which Business Employees participate (not including standard offer letters which do
not provide for any payment of severance not otherwise required by Legal Requirements). Each such Plan (and each related trust, insurance
contract, or fund) has been maintained, funded and administered in material compliance with the terms of such Plan and applicable Legal
Requirements, including but not limited to ERISA and the Code.

(f)    Each Plan that is intended to meet the requirements of a ‘‘qualified plan’’ under Code Section 401(a) has received or may
rely upon a determination, opinion of advisory letter from the Internal Revenue Service that such Plan is so qualified; and, to the Knowledge of
the Sellers, there no facts or circumstances that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the tax-qualified status of any such Plan.

(g)    No action, suit, proceeding, hearing, or investigation with respect to the administration or the investment of the assets of
any such Plan (other than routine claims for benefits) is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened.

(h)    At no time during the past six years has either of the Sellers or any of its ERISA Affiliates contributed to or incurred any
obligation to contribute to, sponsored or incurred any Liability under or with respect to any defined benefit pension plan or other plan that is or
was subject to Title IV of ERISA or Code Section 412.
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(i)    Neither Seller maintains, contributes to or has an obligation to contribute to, or has any material Liability or potential
Liability with respect to, any group Plan that provides health or life insurance on a group basis for currently or future retired or terminated
Business Employees (or any spouse or other dependent thereof) other than in accordance with COBRA. Neither Seller has any Liability or
potential Liability under any Contract that requires Sellers or any successor to provide health or life insurance for retired or terminated Business
Employees (or any spouse or other dependent thereof).

2.17    Environmental Matters. (a) Sellers have been in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Environmental Laws,
which compliance has included obtaining and maintaining all applicable permits pertaining to Environmental Laws required for the occupation
of the real property currently leased or subleased by the Sellers (the “Leased Real Property”); (b) neither Seller has received any written notice
alleging any past or present material noncompliance with, or material Liability under, any Environmental Laws with respect to the Purchased
Assets or the Business; and (c) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there has not been any Hazardous Materials, treated, stored, transported,
disposed of or arranged to be disposed of, manufactured, distributed, released, or otherwise existing on, under, about, or emanating from or to
the Leased Real Property, and no Person has been exposed to any such Hazardous Materials on the Leased Real Property, except in compliance
with all applicable Environmental Laws.

2.18    Insurance. The Sellers have delivered to Purchaser a copy of all material insurance policies and all material self-insurance
programs and arrangements relating to the operation of the Business and the Purchased Assets. Each of such insurance policies is in full force
and effect. Since January 1, 2013, the Sellers have not received any notice or other communication regarding any actual or specifically
proposed (a) cancellation or invalidation of any insurance policy, (b) refusal of any coverage or rejection of any material claim under any
insurance policy, or (c) material adjustment in the amount of the premiums payable with respect to any insurance policy.

2.19    Proceedings; Orders; Complaints. There is no pending Proceeding, and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no Person has
threatened to commence any Proceeding: (a) against the Sellers pertaining to the Purchased Assets, the Business or the Assumed Liabilities or
(b) that challenges, or that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise materially interfering with, the
consummation of the Transactions. No event has occurred, and no claim, dispute or other condition or circumstance exists, that would
reasonably be expected to directly or indirectly give rise to or serve as a basis for the commencement of any such Proceeding. No Proceeding
has ever been commenced by or against the Sellers pertaining to the Purchased Assets or the Business that remains pending. There is no Order
to which the Sellers, or any of the assets owned or used by the Sellers, is subject pertaining to the Purchased Assets or the Business. To the
Knowledge of the Sellers, no Business Employee is subject to any Order that may prohibit such Business Employee from engaging in or
continuing any conduct, activity or practice relating to the Business. The Sellers have not received any written complaint, claim, demand letter
or similar communication from any Person with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business.

2.20    Product Liability.

(a)    To the Knowledge of Sellers, there are no defects in design, construction or manufacture of any Medical Devices or other
products currently being marketed by the Sellers which would adversely affect performance or create an unusual risk of injury to persons or
property; and (b) there are no citations, decisions, adjudications or written statements by any Governmental Body or consent decrees or other
Orders stating or alleging that any Business Products and Services are defective or unsafe or fail to meet any standards promulgated by any
such Governmental Body. Since January 1, 2013, none of the Business Products and Services has been the subject of any replacement, field fix
or retrofit, modification or recall campaign by Sellers and, to the Knowledge of Sellers, no facts or conditions related to any product exist
which would reasonably be expected to result in such a campaign.

2.21    Product Warranty. Section 2.21 of the Disclosure schedule sets forth the standard terms and conditions of sale or lease of the
Business Products and Services and all forms of guaranty, warranty, right of return, right of credit or other indemnity that legally bind Sellers in
connection with any products that has not yet expired. Except as provided
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by applicable Law, no Business Products and Services are subject to any term and conditions, guaranty, warranty or other indemnity beyond the
applicable standard terms and conditions of sale or lease set forth in Section 2.21 of the Disclosure Schedule. Each product manufactured,
distributed, marketed or sold by Sellers since January 1, 2013, has been in conformity in all material respects with internal specifications, good
manufacturing practices, and standard operating procedures (including in conformity in all material respects with all advertisements,
commercials, promotional materials and public statements regarding such products).

2.22    Related Party Transactions. No manager, executive officer or director of either Seller or any person owning 5% or more of the
equity interests in either Seller (or any of such person's immediate family members or Affiliates or associates) is a party to any Contract with or
binding upon Sellers or the Purchased Assets or has any interest in any property owned by Sellers or has engaged in any transaction with any of
the foregoing within the last twelve (12) months.

2.23    Brokers. Except for the fees and expenses due to Oppenheimer & Co. upon consummation of the Closing, the Sellers have not
agreed or become obligated to pay, or has taken any action that might result in any Person claiming to be entitled to receive, any brokerage
commission, finder’s fee or similar commission or fee in connection with any of the Transactions.

2.24    Compliance with Privacy Laws.

(a) The collection, use and retention of the Personal Information by Sellers, and the transfer of the Personal Information
by Sellers to Purchaser as a result of the Transactions comply in all material respects with all Privacy Laws and are consistent with Sellers’ own
privacy policies. In connection with its collection, storage, transfer (including, without limitation, any transfer across national borders) and/or
use of any Personal Information, Sellers are and have been in material compliance with all applicable Privacy Laws and the requirements of
any Contract or policy (including a policy or terms of use maintained or published by Sellers) to which Sellers are subject or a party. Sellers
have used commercially reasonable physical, technical, organizational and administrative security measures designed to protect all Personal
Information collected by it or on its behalf from and against unauthorized access, use and/or disclosure. Sellers is and has been in compliance in
all material respects with all Laws relating to data loss, theft and breach of security notification obligations.

(b)    There are no Actions pending or to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened with respect to Sellers’ collection, use,
disclosure or retention of the Personal Information. To the Knowledge of Sellers, Sellers have not experienced material unlawful use or, or
access to, Personal Information.

(c)    No decision, judgment or Order, whether statutory or otherwise, has been made or to the Knowledge of Seller is pending,
and no written notice has been received by Seller pursuant to any Privacy Laws, requiring Sellers to take (or refrain from taking) any action
with respect to the Personal Information.

2.25    Takeover Statutes. Sellers have taken all actions necessary so that the restrictions on take-over bids, share acquisitions, business
combinations and stockholder vote requirements contained in any “moratorium,” “control share acquisition,” “business combination,” “fair
price” or other form of anti-takeover laws or regulations that are or may purport to be applicable (“Takeover Statutes”). No Takeover Statutes
will apply with respect to or as a result of the Transactions or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

3.    Representations and Warranties of Purchaser.

Purchaser represents and warrants, to and for the benefit of the Sellers, as follows:

3.1    Organization and Good Standing. Purchaser is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing
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under the laws of the State of Utah. Purchaser is duly qualified, authorized, registered or licensed to do business, in good standing, in any
jurisdiction in which the business of Purchaser requires it to be so qualified, authorized, registered or licensed to do business, except where the
failure to be so qualified would not have a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect.

3.2    Authority; Binding Nature Of Agreements; Non-Contravention.

(a)    Purchaser has the full power and authority to enter into and to perform its obligations under each of the Transaction Documents to
which it is a party; and the execution, delivery and performance by Purchaser of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party have been
duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of the board of directors (or equivalent governing body) of the Purchaser. This Agreement
and each of the other Transaction Documents to which Purchaser is a party constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Purchaser,
enforceable against Purchaser in accordance with their respective terms.

(b)    Neither the execution and delivery of any of the Transaction Documents, nor the consummation or performance of any of the
Transactions, will directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time): (a) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of, or give
any Governmental Body or other Person the right to challenge any of the Transactions or to exercise any remedy or obtain any relief under, any
Legal Requirement or any Order to which Purchaser, or any of the assets of Purchaser, are subject; (b) cause Purchaser or any Affiliate of
Purchaser to become subject to, or to become liable for the payment of, any Tax on or with respect to the Transactions, other than state and
local applicable sales and use tax; or (c) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any of the terms or requirements of, or give any
Governmental Body the right to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate or modify, any Governmental Authorization that is held by
Purchaser or any employee of Purchaser. The approval by the board of directors (or equivalent governing body) of Purchaser of this Agreement
and the Transactions, which has been obtained by Purchaser, is the only approvals of any Person that are necessary to approve this Agreement
and the Transactions under the laws of the State of Utah and the Organizational Documents of Purchaser.

3.3    Certain Proceedings. There is no pending Proceeding that has been commenced against Purchaser and that challenges, or may
have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise interfering with, any of the Transactions. To Purchaser’s actual knowledge,
no such Proceeding has been threatened.

3.4    Brokers. Purchaser has not become obligated to pay, and has not taken any action that might result in any Person claiming to be
entitled to receive, any brokerage commission, finder’s fee or similar commission or fee in connection with any of the Transactions.

4.    Indemnification, Etc.

4.1    Survival Of Representations And Warranties. The representations and warranties made by Sellers, on the one hand, and Purchaser
on the other hand, shall survive the Closing for twelve (12) months (the “Survival Period”); provided, however, that the Special
Representations (as defined below) (other than Section 2.6 (Title to Purchased Assets), which shall survive indefinitely) shall survive the
Closing until the date that is sixty (60) days following the five-year anniversary of the Closing Date; provided, further, that if at any time prior
to the applicable expiration date set forth above, VI, on the one hand, or Purchaser, on the other hand, acting in good faith delivers to the other
party a written notice alleging the existence of an inaccuracy in or a breach of any of the representations and warranties made by the other
party, as the case may be, and asserting a claim for recovery under Section 4.2 based on such alleged inaccuracy or breach, then the claim
asserted in such notice shall survive the applicable expiration date set forth above until such time as such claim is fully and finally resolved,
either by means of a written settlement agreement executed on behalf of VI, Purchaser or by means of a final, non-appealable judgment issued
by a court of
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competent jurisdiction. The “Special Representations” means those representations and warranties contained in 2.1 (Due Organization;
Subsidiaries; Etc.) 2.2(a) (Authority; Binding Nature Of Agreements), 2.6 (Title to Purchased Assets), 2.10(d) (Intellectual Property), 2.23
(Brokers); and 3.2(a) (Authority; Binding Nature Of Agreements).

4.2    Indemnification and Set-Off Rights.

(a)    VI shall hold harmless and indemnify each of the Purchaser Indemnitees from and against, and shall compensate and
reimburse each of the Purchaser Indemnitees, for any Damages that are suffered or incurred by any of the Purchaser Indemnitees or to which
any of the Purchaser Indemnitees may otherwise become subject (regardless of whether or not such Damages relate to any third‑party claim)
arising from: (i) any breach of any representation or warranty made by Sellers in this Agreement, (ii) any breach of any covenant, agreement,
undertaking or obligation of Sellers contained in this Agreement, or of the Sellers in any other Transaction Document; (iii) any Excluded
Liability, or (iv) Fraud by Sellers.

(b)    Purchaser shall hold harmless and indemnify the Seller Indemnitees from and against, and shall compensate and
reimburse the Seller Indemnitees for, any Damages that are suffered or incurred by the Seller Indemnitees or to which the Seller Indemnitees
may otherwise become subject (regardless of whether or not such Damages relate to any third‑party claim) arising from: (i) any breach of any
representation or warranty made by Purchaser in this Agreement; (ii) any breach of any covenant, agreement, undertaking or obligation of
Purchaser contained in this Agreement, or any other Transaction Document, (iii) Fraud by Purchaser, or (iv) the Assumed Liabilities and any
other Liability of Purchaser other than the Excluded Liabilities.

(c)    Right of Offset. Purchaser shall have the right to offset against any and all unpaid Contingent Payments an amount equal
to the aggregate amount of any and all Damages or estimated Damages that are subject to unresolved claims of indemnification made by or on
behalf of any Purchaser Indemnitee in accordance with this Section 4 (after application of any limitations thereon contained in this Section 4)
on or prior to the date such Contingent Payment is made, but only to the extent such aggregate amount exceeds the then remaining Escrow
Property and any amounts previously offset by Purchaser under this Section 4.2(c) and retained by Purchaser with respect to such unresolved
claims for indemnification (such right of Purchaser, its “Offset Right”). Upon the final resolution of any claim made under Section 4 of this
Agreement with respect to which the Offset Right was exercised, to the extent that the sum of the then-remaining Escrow Property and all
amounts previously offset by Purchaser under this Section 4 with respect to any then-unresolved claims for indemnification exceed the
aggregate amount of any and all Damages or estimated Damages that are subject to any unresolved claims of indemnification made or on behalf
of any Purchaser Indemnitee in accordance with this Section 4 (after application of any limitations thereon contained in this Section 4) on or
prior to the date such claim is resolved, then such excess shall be promptly paid to VI without interest or other offset or reduction.

4.3    Limitations.

(a)    General Limitations.

(i)    The amount of Damages that may be recovered by the Purchaser Indemnitees pursuant to any and all claims for
indemnification made under the following Sections will be limited, individually and in the aggregate, as follows: (i) Damages under
Section 4.2(a)(i) (other than Special Representations) are limited to $4,000,000; (ii) Damages under Section 4.2(a)(i) with respect to
Special Representations (excluding Section 2.10(d)) and Sections 4.2(a)(ii) through (iv) are limited to an amount equal to $4,000,000
plus the maximum amount of any unpaid Contingent Payments to be made on or after the date of the applicable claim, and (iii)
Damages under Section 4.2(a)(i) with respect to Section 2.10(d) are limited to $10,000,000.

(ii)    The amount of Damages that may be recovered by the Purchaser Indemnitees pursuant to any and all claims for
indemnification under this Section 4 are limited to the Escrow Funds and set-off in accordance with Section 4.2(c) of the amount of any
unpaid Contingent Payments, subject to the limitations in Section 4.3(a)(i), which recoveries shall be the sole remedy of the Purchaser
under Section 4.2. For the
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avoidance of doubt, there shall be no direct recourse under Section 4.2 to Sellers or any equity or other interest holder in Sellers.

(b)    Mitigation. Without limiting the effect of any other limitation contained in this Section 4, for purposes of computing the amount
of Damages incurred there shall be deducted an amount equal to the amount of any insurance proceeds, indemnification payments, contribution
payments or reimbursements actually received by the Indemnified Parties or any of their Affiliates in connection with such Damages, net of any
out-of-pocket expenses incurred or payable by such Indemnified Parties or their Affiliates with respect thereto (it being understood that the
Indemnified Parties and their Affiliates shall not be obligated to seek to obtain such proceeds, payments, deductions or reimbursements prior to
seeking indemnification under this Section 4, but thereafter shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain an insurance recovery (with no
obligation to litigate or to incur additional expense other than to submit a notice to the respective insurer), and in the event that an insurance
recovery is made by an Indemnified Party or any of its Affiliates with respect to any Damages for which any such Person has been indemnified
hereunder, then a refund equal to the aggregate amount of the recovery shall be made promptly to the Indemnifying Party).

4.4    Defense Of Third Party Claims.

(a)    In the event that any party hereto or any Purchaser Indemnitee or Seller Indemnitee (each, an “Indemnified Party”) desires
to make a claim against another party hereto (the “Indemnifying Party”), which term includes all indemnifying parties if more than one, in
connection with any third-party Proceeding at any time instituted against or made upon it for which it may seek indemnification hereunder (a
“Third-Party Claim”), the Indemnified Party will notify the Indemnifying Party of such Third-Party Claim and of its claims of indemnification
with respect thereto within 15 days of receiving notice of such Third-Party Claims; provided, that failure to give such notice within such 15 day
period will not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its indemnification obligations under this Section 4.4, except to the extent, if any, that the
Indemnifying Party has been actually and materially harmed thereby.

(b)    Subject to clause (d) below, the Indemnifying Party, at its sole cost and expense, will have the right to assume the defense
of the Third-Party Claim with counsel of its choice reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party by written notice to the Indemnified Party
within twenty (20) days after the Indemnifying Party has received notice of the Third-Party Claim; provided, however, that the Indemnifying
Party must conduct the defense of the Third-Party Claim reasonably actively and diligently thereafter in order to preserve its rights in this
regard; provided, further, if the Indemnifying Party is VI, such Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to defend or direct the defense of
any such Third Party Claim that (x) is asserted directly by or on behalf of a Person that is a supplier or customer of the Business, or (y) seeks an
injunction or other equitable relief against the Indemnified Party. The Indemnified Party shall have the right to participate in the defense of any
Third Party Claim with counsel selected by it subject to the Indemnifying Party's right to control the defense thereof. The fees and
disbursements of such counsel shall be at the expense of the Indemnified Party, provided, that if in the reasonable opinion of counsel to the
Indemnified Party, (A) there are legal defenses available to an Indemnified Party that are different from or additional to those available to the
Indemnifying Party; or (B) there exists a conflict of interest between the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party that cannot be waived,
the Indemnifying Party shall be liable for the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to the Indemnified Party in each jurisdiction for which
the Indemnified Party determines counsel is required. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to compromise or defend such Third Party Claim,
fails to promptly notify the Indemnified Party in writing of its election to defend as provided in this Agreement, or fails to diligently prosecute
the defense of such Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party may pay, compromise, defend such Third Party Claim and seek indemnification
for any and all Damages based upon, arising from or relating to such Third Party Claim; provided, however, that the Indemnified Party will not
settle a Third-Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably conditioned,
withheld or delayed).

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Indemnifying Party shall not enter into settlement of any Third Party Claim without
the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party. If a firm offer is made to settle a Third Party Claim without leading to liability or the creation
of a financial or other obligation on the part of the Indemnified Party and provides, in customary form, for the unconditional release of each
Indemnified Party from all liabilities and obligations in connection with such Third Party Claim and the Indemnifying Party desires to accept
and agree to such
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offer, the Indemnifying Party shall give written notice to that effect to the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnified Party fails to consent to such
firm offer within fifteen (15) days after its receipt of such notice, the Indemnified Party may continue to contest or defend such Third Party
Claim and in such event, the maximum liability of the Indemnifying Party as to such Third Party Claim shall not exceed the amount of such
settlement offer (and fees and expenses incurred to date). If the Indemnified Party fails to consent to such firm offer and also fails to assume
defense of such Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party may settle the Third Party Claim upon the terms set forth in such firm offer to settle
such Third Party Claim. If the Indemnified Party has assumed the defense, it shall not agree to any settlement without the written consent of the
Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed).

(c)    In the event the Indemnifying Party fails to assume the defense of the Third-Party Claim in accordance with
Section 4.4(b) above, (i) the Indemnified Party may defend against the Third-Party Claim in any manner it reasonably may deem appropriate;
provided that the Indemnified Party will not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement with respect to the Third-Party
Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent will not be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed by
the Indemnifying Party), (ii) the Indemnifying Party will remain responsible for any Damages the Indemnified Party may suffer as a result of
such Third-Party Claim to the extent provided in this Section 4, and (iii) Indemnified Party shall retain all remedies to which it is entitled under
this Section 4.

(d)    Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Indemnified Party shall have the right, at its discretion, to be responsible for the
prosecution, defense and settlement of any Third-Party Claim if such Third-Party Claim seeks to impose any criminal penalty on the
Indemnified Party (the “Indemnified Party-Handled Claims”). The Indemnified Party shall pursue actively and diligently the prosecution,
defense or settlement of all Indemnified Party-Handled Claims, through counsel of its selection, until such time, if any, that such Indemnified
Party shall elect not to pursue indemnification with respect to such Third-Party Claim. The Indemnified Party shall permit the Indemnifying
Party, upon its reasonable request, to participate in the process of any settlement or other resolution of any Indemnified Party-Handled Claims
until such time, if any, that the Indemnified Party shall elect not to pursue indemnification with respect to such Third-Party Claim; provided,
that such Indemnified Party will not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement with respect to any Indemnified Party-
Handled Claims without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent will not be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or
delayed by the Indemnifying Party). The Indemnifying Party will remain responsible for any Damages of the Indemnified Party as a result of
such Indemnified Party-Handled Claims to the extent subject to indemnification under this Section 4, and the Indemnified Party shall retain all
remedies to which it is entitled under this Section 4.

4.5    Payment of Claims. In the event of any claim for indemnification hereunder, the Indemnified Party will advise the Indemnifying
Party that is required to provide indemnification therefor in writing within 90 days of discovery of facts relad to such claim. If within 30 days of
receipt of such notice, the Indemnifying Party has not contested such claim in writing, the Indemnifying Party will satisfy the full amount
thereof, subject to the limitations on duration, amount and source of recovery set forth in Section 4.3, within ten days after the expiration of
such period. Without limiting the foregoing, nothing in this Section 4 shall be deemed to require the Indemnified Party to obtain jurisdiction
over the Indemnifying Party, or pursue any process in connection therewith beyond that expressly required by the terms of this Section 4. The
parties agree that the payment of any indemnity hereunder shall be treated as an adjustment to the Cash Consideration for Tax purposes to the
extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirements.

4.6    Exercise of Remedies by Indemnitees Other Than Purchaser. No Purchaser Indemnitee (other than Purchaser or any successor
thereto or assign thereof) shall be permitted to assert any indemnification claim or exercise any other remedy under this Agreement unless
Purchaser (or any successor thereto or assign thereof) shall have consented to the assertion of such indemnification claim or the exercise of
such other remedy. No Seller Indemnitee (other than VI or any successor thereto or assign thereof) shall be permitted to assert any
indemnification claim or exercise any other remedy under this Agreement unless VI (or any successor thereto or assign thereof) shall have
consented to the assertion of such indemnification claim or the exercise of such other remedy.

4.7    Effect of Investigation. The representations, warranties and covenants of the Indemnifying Party, and
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the Indemnified Party's right to indemnification with respect thereto, shall not be affected or deemed waived by reason of any investigation
made by or on behalf of the Indemnified Party or by reason of the fact that the Indemnified Party or any of its Representatives knew or should
have known that any such representation or warranty is, was or might be inaccurate.

4.8    Materiality. For purposes of this Section 4, the amount of any Damages for breach of a representation or warranty shall be
determined without regard to any materiality, Material Adverse Effect or other similar qualification contained in or otherwise applicable to such
representation or warranty (but not in determining whether there is a breach of any representation or warranty).

4.9    Sole Remedy. Except for fraud relating to the transactions contemplated hereby, which shall not be subject to any limitations in
this Section 4, Purchaser’s right to seek specific performance of Sellers’ obligations pursuant to Section 5.3, Section 5.4 and any other
covenant, duty or obligation of Sellers that by their terms extend beyond the survival periods set forth in this Section 4 and the rights of
Purchaser and Sellers under Section 1.3, the respective rights of the parties under this Section 4 shall be the sole and exclusive rights and
remedies available to such parties with respect to the matters set forth in this Agreement, and each of the parties hereby absolutely agrees and
covenants not to seek any remedy at law or equity relating to the Transactions other than pursuant to this Section 4.

4.10    Notice of Offset.

(a)    Solely with respect to Damages under Section 4.2(a)(i) with respect to Section 2.9(d), Purchaser’s Offset Right shall be
asserted by giving written notice to VI of a claim for indemnification in accordance with this Section 4, and including in such notice the
estimated amount (the “Offset Amount”), of the Damages otherwise subject to indemnification hereunder (after application of any limits
thereto) relating to such Claim actually incurred or reasonably expected to be incurred that will be subject to the offset right set forth herein (an
“Offset Notice”).

(b)    Offset Objection. VI may in good faith, at any time on or before the thirtieth (30th) Business Day following its receipt of
an Offset Notice (the “Offset Objection Period”), object to the Offset Amount provided in the Offset Notice by delivering written notice to
Purchaser (an “Offset Objection”). The Offset Objection shall set forth in reasonable detail the good faith reasons for the objection to such
Offset Amount. If VI does not timely deliver an Offset Objection, or deliver an Offset Objection that does not object to all of the Offset
Amount set forth in the Offset Notice, VI shall be deemed to have accepted and agreed to the offset of all or such portion of the Offset Amount
specified in the Offset Notice, provided, that any such acceptance of the Offset Amount shall not be deemed to be an acceptance of liability for
the Damages included in such Offset Amount or the associated claim, and Sellers shall retain all of their rights under this Article 4 in respect of
such matters. If VI timely deliver an Offset Objection, Purchaser and Sellers (or their respective representatives) shall attempt in good faith to
agree upon the rights of the respective parties with respect to the disputed Offset Amount. If the parties are not able to fully resolve all such
differences within thirty (30) days from Purchaser’s receipt of an Offset Objection, either Purchaser or VI may submit the dispute to arbitration
by delivering written notice to the other party. The dispute will be finally settled by binding arbitration in Chicago, Illinois, before a single
arbitrator. The arbitration will be administered by JAMS pursuant to its Comprehensive Arbitration Rules and Procedures (or pursuant to its
Streamlined Arbitration Rules and Procedures then in effect if the amount in controversy is $250,000 or less). The arbitrator will be chosen in
accordance with applicable JAMS rules and procedures then in effect. The arbitrator will determine, without actually determining the amount of
Damages or whether any claim for indemnification is valid or reasonable, the maximum reasonable estimate of the amount of Damages (within
any limits herein that may be applicable to the type of claim asserted by Purchaser) that have been incurred or that reasonably could be
expected to be incurred in connection with such claim for indemnification that will be subject to the offset right set forth herein (such amount,
the “Maximum Withheld Amount”). If the arbitrator determines that the Offset Amount is greater than the Maximum Withheld Amount, then
Purchaser shall reduce the Offset Amount to the Maximum Withheld Amount. The arbitrator’s sole role will be to determine the Maximum
Withheld Amount, and not Damages for which indemnification is being sought. The arbitrator will not issue a reasoned
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opinion with respect thereto. Purchaser and Sellers agree that the decision of the arbitrator will have no effect on the determination of the actual
Damages for which indemnification is sought or allowed, and will not be admissible in any dispute with respect to the actual amount of
Damage as evidence.

5.    Covenants.

5.1    Books and Records. For a period of seven years after the Closing Date, each Seller, on the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other
hand, shall provide, or cause to be provided, to each other and each of their respective Representatives, as soon as reasonably practicable after
written request therefor and at the requesting party’s sole expense, reasonable access, during normal business hours, to any books, records,
documents, files and correspondence in the possession or under the control of the other party that the requesting party reasonably needs (A) to
comply with reporting, disclosure, filing or other requirements imposed on the requesting party by a Governmental Body having jurisdiction
over the requesting party in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (B) for use in any other judicial, regulatory,
administrative or other Proceeding or in order to satisfy Tax, audit, accounting, claims, regulatory, litigation or other similar requirements
arising from the Transactions, (C) for use in any Proceeding relating to the infringement of the Intellectual Property rights of another Person,
(D) in connection with Sellers’ obligations pursuant to Excluded Liabilities, or (E) to comply with its obligations under this Agreement;
provided that no party shall be required to provide access to or disclose information where such access or disclosure (y) is related to any claim
against a party or such party’s Affiliates by the requesting party or its Affiliates or (z) would violate any applicable Legal Requirement or waive
any attorney-client or other similar privilege, and each party may redact information regarding itself or its Affiliates or otherwise not relating to
the other party and its Affiliates, the Purchased Assets or the Business, and, in the event such provision of information could reasonably be
expected to violate any applicable Legal Requirement or Contract or waive any attorney-client or other similar privilege, the parties shall take
commercially reasonable measures to make substitute disclosure arrangements in a manner reasonably appropriate under the circumstances in
which the restrictions of this sentence apply. Any information owned by a party that is provided to a requesting party pursuant to this Section
5.1 shall be deemed to remain the property of the providing party. Unless specifically set forth herein, nothing contained in this Agreement
shall be construed as granting or conferring rights of license or otherwise in any such information. No party shall have any Liability to any
other party in the event that any information exchanged or provided pursuant to this Section 5.1 is found to be inaccurate. No party shall have
any Liability to any other party if any information is destroyed or lost after commercially reasonable efforts by such party to retain such
information in accordance with its regular document retention policy.

5.2    Publicity. Neither Seller shall make any public release or announcement concerning the transactions contemplated hereby without
the prior written consent of Purchaser. Purchaser shall provide Sellers with an opportunity to review and provide comments on the press release
pursuant to which Purchaser announces the transactions contemplated hereby, but shall not be otherwise prohibited with respect to releases or
announcements regarding this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

5.3    Confidentiality. From and after the Closing, Sellers shall, and shall cause their Affiliates to, maintain, and shall use their
reasonable best efforts (including through enforcement of nondisclosure agreements) to cause its or their respective Representatives to maintain
all information and materials that are valuable and not generally known by others concerning the Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities in
the strictest confidence and shall limit access to such information and materials to its Representatives and third parties who are reasonably
needed to have such materials or know such information for a legitimate business purpose and who are subject to confidentiality obligations,
except to the extent that Sellers can show that such information (a) is, or becomes generally known to the public otherwise than by the fault of
the Sellers, (b) is legally transmitted or disclosed to the Sellers without restriction on disclosure by a third party that owes no obligation of
confidentiality to the Purchaser, (c) was independently developed by the Sellers without reference to such information or materials, or (d) is
disclosed by Purchaser to a third party without any obligation of confidentiality. The Sellers may also disclose such materials and information
only to the extent they are required by applicable Legal Requirements or Order to be disclosed, provided that the Sellers use commercially
reasonable efforts to give Purchaser prompt written notice of such requirement prior to such disclosure
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and assist the Purchaser in obtaining an order or other appropriate remedy prohibiting or limiting such disclosure. If, in the absence of a
protective order or the receipt of a waiver hereunder, Sellers are nonetheless compelled to disclose such materials or information, the Sellers
may disclose only that portion of such materials or information which Sellers are legally required to disclose, and Sellers will exercise
commercially reasonable efforts, at the Purchaser’s expense, to obtain assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to such material or
information. Purchaser shall promptly reimburse Sellers for any reasonable expenses incurred by Sellers to obtain confidential treatment for
such materials or information upon the Sellers submission of documentation evidencing such expenses.

5.4    Seller Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation.

(a)    Sellers hereby acknowledge and agree that: (i) each Seller is engaged in the Business with respect to the treatment of superficial
vein disease (the “Field”); (ii) VI, directly and indirectly through Management, is conducting the Business throughout the entire world (the
“Territory”); and (iii) VI will directly, and Management will indirectly through VI, receive significant consideration in connection with the
Closing of the Transactions. For purposes of this Section 5.4, “Term” means the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the
third anniversary of the Closing Date.

(b)    During the Term, no Seller, for itself or through or on behalf of any other Person (other than Purchaser), whether as an equity
holder, partner, consultant, advisor, creditor or otherwise, as applicable, will, anywhere in the Territory:

(i)    engage in, participate in or acquire any financial or beneficial interest in (which for the avoidance of doubt will include
engagement as an independent contractor for), any business that engages in the Business in the Field or otherwise designs, develops,
promotes, sponsors, markets, sells, supplies, resells, distributes, installs, supports, maintains, licenses, sublicenses, provides, performs
or offers any product or service that is being offered by or on behalf of the Business in the Field on the date hereof; provided, however,
that nothing in this Section 5.4(b)(i) shall prevent a Seller from owning as a passive investment less than two percent (2%) of the
outstanding shares of the capital stock (or ownership interests) of a publicly held company or investment fund, if such Seller is not
otherwise associated directly or indirectly with such company or any affiliate of such company;

(ii)    encourage, induce, or solicit any employee to leave his or her employment with Purchaser (it being understood that the
placement of general advertisements that are not targeted directly or indirectly towards an employee shall not be deemed to be a breach
of this Section 5.4(b)(ii)); or

(iii)    encourage, induce, or solicit any customer, distributor, vendor, marketer or sponsor of Purchaser to cease its customer,
distributor, vendor, marketer or sponsor relationship with the Purchaser.

(c)    It is agreed that the restrictions contained in this Section 5.4 are reasonable and necessary for the protection of the
interests of Purchaser, that any violation of these restrictions could cause substantial and irreparable injury to Purchaser, that a breach of this
Agreement by the Sellers may not be adequately compensated in an action for damages at law, and that equitable relief may be necessary to
protect Purchaser from a violation of this Agreement and from the harm which this Agreement is intended to prevent. By reason thereof, the
Sellers acknowledge that, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event any of the covenants contained in this
Section 5.4 are breached, Purchaser shall be entitled to seek, in addition to any other remedies and damages available under this Agreement or
otherwise, preliminary and permanent injunctive and other equitable relief to restrain the violation of such covenants by the Sellers or by any
Person or Persons acting for or with the Sellers in any capacity whatsoever. The Sellers acknowledge that no specification in this Section 5.4(c)
of a specific legal or equitable remedy may be construed as a waiver of or prohibition against pursuing other legal or equitable remedies in the
event of a breach of this Section 5.4 by the Sellers.

5.5    Tax Covenants.
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(a)    Purchaser and the Sellers agree to furnish or cause to be furnished to the other, upon reasonable request, as promptly as
practicable, such information and assistance relating to the Purchased Assets, including, without limitation, access to books and
records, as is reasonably necessary for the filing of all Tax Returns by Purchaser or the Sellers, the making of any election relating to
Taxes, the preparation for any audit by any Tax authority and the prosecution or defense of any claim, suit or proceeding relating to any
Tax. Each of Purchaser and Sellers shall retain all books and records with respect to Taxes pertaining to the Purchased Assets until the
earlier of the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations or the sixth (6th) anniversary of the Closing Date.

(b)    To the extent not otherwise provided in this Agreement, VI shall be responsible for and shall promptly pay when due all
Property Taxes and any other Taxes levied with respect to the Purchased Assets attributable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period. All Property
Taxes levied with respect to the Purchased Assets for the Straddle Period shall be apportioned between Purchaser, on one hand, and VI,
on the other hand, based on the number of days of such Straddle Period included in the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the number of days
of such Straddle Period included in the Post-Closing Tax Period. VI shall be liable for the proportionate amount of such Property Taxes
that is attributable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period, and Purchaser shall be liable for the proportionate amount of such Property Taxes that
is attributable to the Post-Closing Tax Period. Upon receipt of any bill for such Property Taxes or other Taxes, Purchaser or VI, as
applicable, shall present a statement to the other setting forth the amount of reimbursement to which each is entitled under this Section
5.5(b) together with such supporting evidence as is reasonably necessary to calculate the proration amount. The proration amount shall
be paid by the party owing it to the other within ten days after delivery of such statement. In the event that Purchaser or VI makes any
payment for which it is entitled to reimbursement under this Section 5.5(b), the applicable party shall make such reimbursement
promptly but in no event later than ten days after the presentation of a statement setting forth the amount of reimbursement to which the
presenting party is entitled along with such supporting evidence as is reasonably necessary to calculate the amount of reimbursement.

(c)    All transfer, stamp, documentary, sales, use, registration, value-added and other similar Taxes (including any penalties and
interest) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (“Transfer Taxes”) will be borne 50% by
the Sellers and 50% by Purchaser, when due. Purchaser and each Seller shall, at its own expense, timely file any Tax Return or other
document with respect to such Taxes or fees (and the parties shall cooperate with respect thereto as necessary).

(d)    The Sellers shall promptly notify Purchaser in writing upon receipt by the Sellers of notice of any pending or threatened
Tax audits or assessments relating to the income, properties or operations of the Sellers that reasonably may be expected to relate to or
give rise to a lien on the Purchased Assets or the Business. Each of Purchaser and the Sellers shall promptly notify the other in writing
upon receipt of notice of any pending or threatened Tax audit or assessment challenging the Allocation.

(e)    Any payments made to any party pursuant to this Section 5.5 shall constitute an adjustment of the Cash Consideration for
Tax purposes and shall be treated as such by Purchaser and the Seller on their Tax Returns to the greatest extent permitted by Legal
Requirements.

5.6    Further Actions; Post-Closing Payments.

(a)    General Assurances. In addition to the actions specifically provided for elsewhere in this Agreement, each of the parties
will cooperate with each other and use its reasonable efforts, after the Closing Date, to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause
to be done, all things reasonably necessary or appropriate on its part to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents, the execution and delivery of such other instruments, certificates, agreements and other documents and the
performance of such other actions as may be necessary or reasonably desirable to consummate and implement expeditiously the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents; provided that all such actions are in accordance with applicable Legal
Requirements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, from time to time, each Seller will execute and
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deliver such further instruments, certificates, agreements and other documents and perform such other actions, at Purchaser’s sole expense, as
Purchaser may reasonably require to more effectively transfer to Purchaser any of the Purchased Assets. The obligations of each party under
this Section 5.6(a) shall expire 12 months after the Closing Date.

(b)    Payments. In the event that, on or after the Closing, either party receives payments or funds due or belonging to the other
party pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents, then the party receiving such payments or funds shall
promptly forward or cause to be promptly forwarded such payments or funds to the proper party (with appropriate endorsements, as
applicable), and will account to such other party for all such receipts. The parties acknowledge and agree that, except as otherwise specifically
provided in this Agreement, there is no right of offset regarding such payments and a party may not withhold funds received from third parties
for the account of the other party in the event there is a dispute regarding any other issue under this Agreement or any other Transaction
Documents. Without limiting the foregoing provisions of this Section 5.6(b), each Seller agrees that Purchaser shall, following the Closing,
have the right and authority to endorse any checks or drafts received by Purchaser in respect of any account receivable of the Business included
in the Purchased Assets and such Seller shall furnish to Purchaser such evidence of this authority as Purchaser may reasonably request.
Following the Closing, if Purchaser or its Affiliates receives any mail or packages addressed to a Seller and delivered to Purchaser not relating
to the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, Purchaser shall promptly deliver (or cause to be delivered) such mail or packages to such
Seller. Following the Closing, if any Seller receives any mail or packages delivered to such Seller relating to the Purchased Assets or the
Assumed Liabilities, such Seller shall promptly deliver (or cause to be delivered) such mail or packages to Purchaser.

(c)    Accounts Receivable. Upon the reasonable request of Sellers, Purchaser will cooperate in good faith to provide to Sellers
such information in the possession of Purchaser reasonably necessary to assist Sellers to collect accounts receivable of the Sellers that are
Excluded Assets. In the event that Purchaser receives payment for any such accounts receivable that are Excluded Assets, pursuant to Section
5.6(b), Purchaser shall promptly deliver the funds received, and all accompanying documentation, to Sellers.

(d)    Additional Actions. Sellers shall, as soon as reasonably practical after Closing, terminate any distribution agreements that
are not Purchased Contracts, in accordance with the respective termination terms of such distribution agreements. If such distribution
agreements are not immediately terminable, but require a notice period prior to termination, and if during such notice period Sellers are
required to repurchase any inventory in connection with such termination, and only if such inventory has a shelf-life of not less than one (1)
year and is saleable, Purchaser shall purchase such inventory from Sellers at the cost to Sellers of such repurchases. In addition, if Sellers are
required by the express terms of such distribution agreements, or as a result of any negotiated compromise or settlement approved by Purchaser
in advance (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld), to pay a termination fee in connection with the termination of any such distribution
agreement, Purchaser and VI shall each be responsible for paying fifty (50%) of the respective termination fee, with Purchaser reimbursing VI
any amounts fronted on Purchaser’s behalf in accordance with this Section 5.6(d).

(e)    Purchaser and Sellers shall each designate an individual representative who will work together in good faith to
accomplish the intent of this Section 5.6(d).

5.7    Employees and Employee Benefits.

(a)    Offers of Employment. The Sellers shall cooperate with Purchaser to make Business Employees reasonably accessible to
Purchaser and to assist Purchaser in its efforts to make employment or consulting offers to such Business Employees that it desires to employ
post-Closing. Prior to the Closing Date, Purchaser shall notify the Sellers in writing of the names of all Business Employees to whom Purchaser
wishes to make an offer of employment. Purchaser shall have the right to make such offers on such terms and conditions and in such
classification (exempt vs. non-exempt or contractor vs. employee) as it deems appropriate. In connection with the Closing, each Business
Employee to whom Purchaser offers employment and who become employees of Purchaser as of the Closing Date are referred to herein as a
“Transferred Employee”. Effective as of the Closing Date, the Sellers shall waive and
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release any restrictive covenants otherwise applicable to Transferred Employees, and shall reasonably cooperate with Purchaser to transition
such Transferred Employees to Purchaser. Sellers shall be solely responsible, and Purchaser shall have no obligations whatsoever for, any
compensation or other amounts payable to any current or former employee, officer, manager, director, independent contractor or consultant of
the Business, including, without limitation, hourly pay, commission, bonus, salary, accrued vacation, fringe, pension or profit sharing benefits
or severance pay for any period relating to the service with Sellers at any time on or prior to the Closing Date, and Seller shall pay all such
amounts to all entitled persons within the time required by applicable Legal Requirements.

(b)    Service Credit. For purposes of eligibility to participate and vesting (but not benefit accrual) under the employee benefit
plans of Purchaser and its affiliates providing benefits to any Transferred Employee at any time after the Closing (the “New Plans”), each
Transferred Employee shall be credited with his or her years of service with Sellers and their Affiliates (and any predecessors) before the
Closing Date, to a similar extent as such Transferred Employee was entitled, before the Closing to credit for such service under any comparable
Plan in which such Transferred Employee participated immediately before the Closing Date.

(c)    WARN. The Sellers agree to provide any required notice under and to otherwise comply with, and to retain all Liabilities
relating to, the WARN Act, with respect to any event affecting Business Employees on or prior to the Closing (including as a result of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, but not in respect of any obligation triggered, in whole or in part, by terminations occurring). At
the Closing, the Sellers shall notify Purchaser of any “employment loss” (as defined in the WARN Act) experienced by any Business Employee
during the 90-day period prior to the Closing Date.

(d)    No Third-Party Beneficiaries. The provisions of this Section 5.7 are solely for the benefit of the respective parties to this
Agreement and nothing in this Section 5.7, express or implied, shall confer upon any employee, consultant, manager or other service provider
(or any dependent, successor, legal representative or beneficiary thereof), any rights or remedies, including any right to continuance of
employment or any other service relationship with Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, or any right to compensation or benefits of any nature or
kind whatsoever under this Agreement. Nothing in this Section 5.7, express or implied, shall be: (i) an amendment or deemed amendment of
any plan providing benefits to any employee, or (ii) construed to interfere with the right of Purchaser or its Affiliates to terminate the
employment or other service relationship of any of the Transferred Employees at any time, with or without cause, or restrict any such entity in
the exercise of their independent business judgment in modifying any of the terms and conditions of the employment or other service
arrangement of the Transferred Employees, or (iii) deemed to obligate any Purchaser or its Affiliates to adopt, enter into or maintain any
employee benefit plan or other compensatory plan, program or arrangement at any time.

5.8    No Additional Representations; Disclaimer.

(a)    Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that no Seller, nor any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives, nor any other
Person acting on behalf such Seller or any of its Affiliates or Representatives, has made any (and Purchaser and its Affiliates have not
relied on any) representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of any information regarding such
Seller or any of its businesses or assets, except as expressly set forth in Article 2 of this Agreement.

(b)    In connection with Purchaser’s investigation of Sellers, Purchaser may have received from or on behalf of Sellers certain
projections, including projected statements of operating revenues and income from operations of Sellers. Purchaser acknowledges that
there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make projections and other forecasts and plans, that Purchaser is familiar with such
uncertainties, that Purchaser is taking full responsibility for making its own evaluation of the adequacy and accuracy of all projections
and other forecasts and plans so furnished to it (including the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying such estimates, projections
and forecasts), and that Purchaser shall have no claim against any Seller or any other Person with respect thereto. Accordingly, no
Seller makes any representations or warranties whatsoever with respect to such estimates, projections and other forecasts and plans
(including the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying such estimates, projections and forecasts), and Purchaser has not relied
thereon.
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6.    Additional Provisions.

6.1    Fees and Expenses. Subject to any terms to the contrary set forth herein, each party hereto shall pay its own costs and expenses
(including, if applicable, any broker’s or finder’s fees and expenses of its representatives) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the
Transactions (whether or not such Transactions shall be consummated).

6.2    Notices. Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be delivered to any party under this Agreement shall be in
writing and shall be deemed properly delivered, given and received when delivered (by hand, by registered mail, by courier or express delivery
service or by facsimile or email) to the address, email address or facsimile telephone number set forth beneath the name of such party below (or
to such other address, email address or facsimile telephone number as such party shall have specified in a written notice given to the other
parties hereto):

if to the Sellers:

1 Pine Hill Drive Two Batterymarch Park, Suite 100
Quincy, MA 02169
Attention: President and CEO
Facsimile: 203.350.0319
Email: cdraper@vascularinsights.com

if to Purchaser:

1600 West Merit Parkway
South Jordan, Utah 84095
Attn: Brian G. Lloyd, Chief Legal Officer
Facsimile: (801) 208-4238
Email: Brian.Lloyd@merit.com

with copies to:

Latham & Watkins LLP
200 Clarendon Street
Boston, MA 02116
Attn: Johan (Hans) V. Brigham
Facsimile: 617.948.6001
Email: johan.brigham@lw.com

Michael L. Sommer
17925 Kings Point Drive, Ste. I
Cornelius, NC 28031
Facsimile: 704.659.4097
Email: msommer@gcondemand.com

Brenner, Saltzman & Wallman LLP
271 Whitney Avenue
New Haven, CT 06511
Attn: George Brencher IV
Facsimile: 203.772.3907
Email: gbrencher@bswlaw.com 

with a copy to:

Parr Brown Gee & Loveless, PC
101 South 200 East
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111
Attn: Michael J. Schefer
Facsimile: (801) 532-7750
Email: mschefer@parrbrown.com

6.3    Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with, and governed in all respects by, the internal laws
of the State of New York (excluding any rule of law that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the laws of the
State of New York). Any Action based upon, arising out of or related to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby may be
brought in the New York State court, or federal court of the United States of America sitting in the State of New York), and, in each case,
appellate courts therefrom, and each of the parties irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of each such court in any such Action,
waives any objection it may now or hereafter have to personal jurisdiction, venue or to convenience of forum, agrees that all claims in respect
of such Action shall be heard and determined only in any such court, and agrees not to bring any Action arising out of or relating to this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby in any other court. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect the right of any party
to serve process in any manner permitted by law or to commence legal proceedings or otherwise proceed against any other party in any other
jurisdiction, in each case, to enforce judgments obtained in any Action brought pursuant to this Section 6.3. Each party hereto hereby waives, to
the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any Action
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arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. Each party hereto (i) certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of
any other party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such party would not, in the event of any Action, seek to enforce the foregoing
waiver and (ii) acknowledges that it and the other parties hereto have been induced to enter into this Agreement by, among other things, the
mutual waiver and certifications in this Section 6.3.

6.4    Successors and Assigns; Parties in Interest. This Agreement shall be binding upon: Sellers and their respective successors and
assigns (if any); and Purchaser and its respective successors and assigns (if any). This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of: the Sellers;
Purchaser; the other Indemnitees (subject to Section 4.6; and the respective successors and assigns (if any) of the foregoing. This Agreement
shall not be assigned by any party hereto to any other Person by operation of law or otherwise without the prior written consent of the other
parties hereto, provided, however that the rights and obligations of any party hereunder may be assigned to one or more Affiliates of such party
so long as such party remains ultimately liable for its obligations hereunder subject to Section 1.4(j). Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, (a) no employee of the Sellers shall have any rights under this Agreement or under any of the other Transaction Documents, and
(b) no creditor of the Sellers shall have any rights under this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents.

6.5    Specific Performance. The parties agree that: (a) in the event of any breach or threatened breach by the a party of any covenant,
obligation or other provision set forth in this Agreement, the non-breaching party shall be entitled to seek (i) a decree or order of specific
performance or mandamus to enforce the observance and performance of such covenant, obligation or other provision, and (ii) an injunction
restraining such breach or threatened breach; and (b) the non-breaching party shall not be required to provide any bond or other security in
connection with any such decree, order or injunction or in connection with any related action or Proceeding. The equitable remedies described
in this Section 6.5 shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies at law or in equity that the parties to this Agreement may elect
to pursue.

6.6    Waiver; Amendment.

(a)    No failure on the part of any Person to exercise any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, and no delay
on the part of any Person in exercising any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, shall operate as a waiver of such power,
right, privilege or remedy; and no single or partial exercise of any such power, right, privilege or remedy shall preclude any other or further
exercise thereof or of any other power, right, privilege or remedy; and (b) no Person shall be deemed to have waived any claim arising out of
this Agreement, or any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, unless the waiver of such claim, power, right, privilege or
remedy is expressly set forth in a written instrument duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Person; and any such waiver shall not be
applicable or have any effect except in the specific instance in which it is given. This Agreement may not be amended, modified, altered or
supplemented other than by means of a written instrument duly executed and delivered on behalf of Purchaser and the Sellers.

6.7    Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall not
affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof or the validity or enforceability of the offending term or
provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. If the final judgment of a court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction declares that
any term or provision hereof is invalid or unenforceable, the parties hereto agree that the court or arbitrator making such determination shall
have the power to limit the term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases, or to replace any invalid or unenforceable term or provision
with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or
provision, and this Agreement shall be enforceable as so modified. In the event such court or arbitrator does not exercise the power granted to it
in the prior sentence, the parties hereto agree to replace such invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a valid and enforceable term or
provision that will achieve, to the extent possible, the economic, business and other purposes of such invalid or unenforceable term.

35



6.8    Entire Agreement. The Transaction Documents set forth the entire understanding of the parties relating to the subject matter
thereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings among or between any of the parties relating to the subject matter thereof. The
letter of intent, dated November 26, 2018, by and between Purchaser and VI, shall be deemed terminated in all respects without continuing
liability of either party.

6.9    No Tax Advice. Each party hereto acknowledges and agrees that it has not received and is not relying upon Tax advice from any
other party hereto, and that it has and will continue to consult its own advisors with respect to Taxes.

6.10    Bulk Sales Laws. The parties hereby waive compliance with the provisions of any bulk sales, bulk transfer or similar Laws of
any jurisdiction that may otherwise be applicable with respect to the sale of any or all of the Purchased Assets to Purchaser; it being understood
that any Liabilities arising out of the failure of Sellers to comply with the requirements and provisions of any bulk sales, bulk transfer or similar
Laws of any jurisdiction which would not otherwise constitute Assumed Liabilities shall be treated as Excluded Liabilities.
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6.11    Miscellaneous.

(a)    For purposes of this Agreement, whenever the context requires: the singular number shall include the plural, and vice
versa; the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders; the feminine gender shall include the masculine and neuter genders;
and the neuter gender shall include the masculine and feminine genders;

(b)    the parties hereto agree that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting
party shall not be applied in the construction or interpretation of this Agreement;

(c)    as used in this Agreement, the words “include” and “including,” and variations thereof, shall not be deemed to be terms of
limitation, but rather shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”;

(d)    except as otherwise indicated, all references in this Agreement to “Sections,” “Schedules,” “Annexes” and “Exhibits” are
intended to refer to Sections, Schedules, Annexes and Exhibits to this Agreement;

(e)    time is of the essence with respect to the performance of this Agreement;

(f)    the underlined headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, shall not be deemed to be a
part of this Agreement and shall not be referred to in connection with the construction or interpretation of this Agreement; and

(g)    this Agreement may be executed in several counterparts (including by facsimile and electronic delivery (PDF)), each of
which shall constitute an original and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute one agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]



The parties to this Agreement have caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered as of the date first written above.

PURCHASER:

MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC.

By: /s/ Fred P. Lampropoulos    
Printed Name: Fred P. Lampropoulos
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

[Signature Page to Asset Purchase Agreement]



SELLERS:

VASCULAR INSIGHTS, LLC

By: /s/ James E. Draper III
Printed Name: James E. Draper III
Title: President and CEO

VI MANAGEMENT, INC.

By: /s/ James E. Draper III
Printed Name: James E. Draper III
Title: President

[Signature Page to Asset Purchase Agreement]



Exhibit A

Definitions

For purposes of the Agreement (including this Exhibit A):

“Action” means any claim, action, cause of action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration, inquiry, audit, notice of violation, proceeding,
litigation, citation, summons, subpoena or investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or otherwise, whether at law or
in equity.

“Affiliate” of a Person means a Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, the first-mentioned Person. For purposes of this definition, “control,” when used with respect to any specified
Person, means the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, directly or indirectly, whether through
ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise, and the terms “controlling” and “controlled by” have meanings correlative to the
foregoing.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 78 dd-1, et seq.), and the UK Bribery Act of 2010
and all similar applicable Anti-Corruption Laws and regulations.

“Bundle Product Component” means a product that satisfies all of the following conditions: (x) such product is not a System, (y) such
product is sold separately and was individually approved by the FDA or an equivalent regulatory body, and (z) the selling price of the Bundled
Sale inclusive of such product is higher than the market price of the System included in such Bundled Sale when sold on a stand-alone basis.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which banking institutions in Salt Lake City, Utah are
not required to be open.

“Business Employees” means all employees of Sellers.

“Business Material Adverse Effect” means any change, event, violation, inaccuracy, circumstance or effect (each, an “Effect” and,
collectively, “Effects”) that has, or could reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on the financial condition, assets, or results
of operations of the Business or value of the Purchased Assets, taken as a whole; provided that none of the following shall be deemed in
themselves, either alone or in combination, to constitute, and none of the following shall be taken into account in determining whether there has
been a Material Adverse Effect: (i) effects arising from or relating to general business or economic conditions; (ii) effects arising from or
relating to general national or international political or social conditions, including the engagement by the United States or any other country in
hostilities, or the escalation thereof; (iii) effects arising from or relating to any changes in financial, banking, securities, or commodities markets
in general; (iv) changes in, or changes in interpretations of, GAAP or other applicable accounting rules, regulations, or pronouncements, and
any effects to the extent arising therefrom or related thereto; (v) changes in, or changes in interpretations of, Legal Requirements after the date
of this Agreement, and any effects arising therefrom or related thereto; (vi) the announcement or pendency of the transactions contemplated
herein, and any effects arising therefrom or related thereto; (vii) any action required to be taken by this Agreement by any Person, and any
effects arising therefrom or related thereto; and (viii) effects arising from or relating to any violation or breach by Purchaser of any
representation or warranty of Purchaser contained in this Agreement, except to the extent, in the case of the foregoing clauses (i) through (iii),
such effects referred to therein have a disproportionate impact on the Business relative to the industry in which the Business competes as a
whole.

“Business Products and Services” means any and all products and services designed, developed, marketed, manufactured licensed,
offered, provided, sold, distributed or otherwise made available or exploited by or for Sellers, including without limitation, the Systems.

“Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
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“Consent” means any approval, notice, consent, ratification, permission, waiver or authorization (including any Governmental
Authorization).

“Contract” means any binding written, oral, implied or other agreement, contract, understanding, arrangement, instrument, note,
guaranty, indemnity, representation, warranty, deed, assignment, power of attorney, certificate, purchase order, work order, license, sublicense,
insurance policy, commitment, covenant, assurance or undertaking of any nature.

“Damages” shall include any actual loss, Action, damage, injury, Liability, claim, demand, settlement, judgment, award, fine, penalty,
Tax, fee (including any reasonable legal fee, expert fee, accounting fee or advisory fee), charge, cost (including any reasonable cost of
investigation) or expense of any nature, provided that in no event shall “Damages” be deemed to include punitive, special, or exemplary
damages (other than any such damages actually paid to a third party in connection with a Third-Party Claim).

“Disclosure Schedule” means the schedule (dated as of the date of the Agreement) delivered to Purchaser on behalf of the Sellers, a
copy of which is attached to the Agreement and incorporated in the Agreement by reference.

“Encumbrance” means any lien, pledge, hypothecation, charge, mortgage, security interest, encumbrance, equity, trust, equitable
interest, claim, preference, right of possession, lease, tenancy, license, encroachment, covenant, infringement, interference, Order, proxy,
option, right of first refusal, preemptive right, community property interest, legend, defect, impediment, exception, reservation, limitation,
impairment, imperfection of title, condition or restriction of any nature (including any restriction on the transfer of any asset, any restriction on
the receipt of any income derived from any asset, any restriction on the use of any asset and any restriction on the possession, exercise or
transfer of any other attribute of ownership of any asset).

“Entity” means any corporation (including any non‑profit corporation), general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability
partnership, joint venture, estate, trust, cooperative, foundation, society, political party, union, company (including any limited liability
company or joint stock company), firm or other enterprise, association, Governmental Body, organization or entity.

“Environmental Law” means any applicable Legal Requirement, and any Order or binding agreement with any Governmental Body:
(a) relating to pollution (or the cleanup thereof) or the protection of natural resources, endangered or threatened species, human health or safety,
or the environment (including ambient air, soil, surface water or groundwater, or subsurface strata); or (b) concerning the presence of, exposure
to, or the management, manufacture, use, containment, storage, recycling, reclamation, reuse, treatment, generation, discharge, transportation,
processing, production, disposal or remediation of any Hazardous Materials. The term “Environmental Law” includes, without limitation, the
following (including their implementing regulations and any state analogs): the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and
Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.; the Solid Waste
Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended by the Hazardous and Solid Waste
Amendments of 1984, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, as amended by the Clean Water Act of
1977, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.; the Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq.; the Emergency Planning
and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11001 et seq.; the Clean Air Act of 1966, as amended by the Clean Air Act
Amendments of 1990, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.; and the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, 29 U.S.C. §§ 651 et seq.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any corporation other trade or business entity or other Person treated as aggregated with the Sellers under
Section 414(b), (c), (m), or (o) of the Code or Section 4001(b) of ERISA.

“FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Administration.

2



“FDCA” means the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938, as amended (including the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.

Fraud” means that a Seller, on the one hand, or Purchaser, on the other hand, shall have committed actual fraud with scienter, in all
cases, solely with respect to the representations and warranties set forth in Section 2 or Section 3, as applicable, of this Agreement and, in the
case of a Seller, as qualified by the Disclosure Schedule in accordance with the terms hereof.

“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied.

“Governmental Authorization” means any: (a) permit, license, certificate, franchise, concession, approval, accreditation, consent,
ratification, permission, clearance, confirmation, endorsement, waiver, certification, designation, rating, registration, qualification or
authorization issued, granted, given or otherwise made available by or under the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to any Legal
Requirement; or (b) right under any Contract with any Governmental Body.

“Governmental Body” means any: (a) nation, principality, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or
other jurisdiction of any nature; (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; (c) governmental or quasi‑governmental
authority of any nature (including any governmental division, subdivision, department, agency, bureau, branch, office, commission, council,
board, instrumentality, organization, unit, body or Entity and any court or other tribunal); (d) multi‑national organization or body; or (e) Entity
or body exercising, or entitled to exercise, any executive, legislative, judicial, administrative, regulatory, police, military or taxing authority or
power of any nature.

“Governmental Order” means any order, judgment, injunction, decree, writ, stipulation, determination or award, in each case, entered
by or with any Governmental Body.

“Hazardous Materials” means: (a) any material, substance, chemical, waste, product, derivative, compound, mixture, solid, liquid,
mineral or gas, in each case, whether naturally occurring or manmade, that is hazardous, acutely hazardous, toxic, or words of similar import or
regulatory effect under Environmental Laws; and (b) any petroleum or petroleum-derived products, radon, radioactive materials or wastes,
asbestos in any form, lead or lead-containing materials, urea formaldehyde foam insulation and polychlorinated biphenyls.

“Healthcare Regulatory Authority” means any federal, national, foreign or multinational governmental health regulatory agency or
authority with jurisdiction over (i) the development, marketing, labeling, sale, use, handling and control, safety, efficacy, reliability,
manufacturing, approval, licensing of any drug, device or over-the-counter pharmaceutical product, (ii) federal healthcare programs under
which such products are purchased or (iii) the protection of personal health information.

“Indebtedness” (i) all outstanding obligations for senior debt and subordinated debt and any other outstanding obligation for borrowed
money, including that evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other instruments (and including all outstanding principal, prepayment
premiums, if any, and accrued interest, penalties, fees and expenses related thereto), (ii) any outstanding obligations under leases, letters of
credit and purchase money obligations, (iii) any amounts owed with respect to drawn letters of credit and (iv) any outstanding guarantees of
obligations of the type described in clauses (i) through (iii) above.

“Intellectual Property” means any and all rights in, arising out of, or associated with any of the following in any jurisdiction throughout
the world: (a) issued patents and patent applications (whether provisional or non-provisional), including divisionals, continuations,
continuations-in-part, substitutions, reissues, reexaminations, extensions, or restorations of any of the foregoing, and other Governmental
Authority-issued indicia of invention ownership (including certificates of invention, petty patents, and patent utility models) (“Patents”); (b)
trademarks, service marks, brands, certification marks, logos, trade dress, trade names, and other similar indicia of source or origin,
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together with the goodwill connected with the use of and symbolized by, and all registrations, applications for registration, and renewals of, any
of the foregoing (“Marks”); (c) copyrights and works of authorship, whether or not copyrightable, and all registrations, applications for
registration, and renewals of any of the foregoing (“Copyrights”); (d) internet domain names and social media account or user names (including
“handles”), whether or not Trademarks, all associated web addresses, URLs, websites and web pages, social media accounts and pages, and all
content and data thereon or relating thereto, whether or not Copyrights; (e) mask works, and all registrations, applications for registration, and
renewals thereof; (f) trade secrets, know-how, inventions (whether or not patentable), discoveries, improvements, technology, business and
technical information, databases, data compilations and collections, tools, methods, processes, techniques, and other confidential and
proprietary information and all rights therein (“Trade Secrets”); (g) computer programs, operating systems, applications, firmware and other
code, including all source code, object code, application programming interfaces, data files, databases, protocols, specifications, and other
documentation thereof (“Software”); and (h) all other intellectual or industrial property and proprietary rights.

“Intellectual Property License” means all licenses, sublicenses, consent to use agreements, settlements, coexistence agreements,
covenants not to sue, waivers, releases, permissions and other Contracts, whether written or oral, relating to any Intellectual Property that is
used or held for use in the conduct of the Business as currently conducted to which Seller is a party, beneficiary or otherwise bound.

“Inventory” means all of the inventory held or owned by any Seller for resale, and all of the Sellers’ raw materials, work in process,
finished products and supply items, in each case, wherever the same may be located.

“IT Assets” means the computer systems, servers (owned, leased or controlled), telecommunications equipment, network equipment
and other equipment, hardware and software owned, leased or licensed (including software used or accessed through a software as a service
relationship) by the Seller.

“Knowledge of the Sellers” or any other similar knowledge qualification, means the actual knowledge of any of James (Chip) Draper,
Carl Wisnosky or John Marano, after reasonable inquiry of their direct reports and any other Seller employee who could reasonably be
expected to have knowledge of the subject matter, and a reasonable review of documents within their possession or control.

“Legal Requirement” means any applicable federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other law, statute, legislation, constitution,
principle of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, decree, proclamation, treaty, convention, rule, regulation, ruling, guidance,
directive, pronouncement, requirement, specification, determination, decision, opinion or interpretation issued, enacted, adopted, passed,
approved, promulgated, made, implemented or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Body.

“Liability” means any debt, obligation, duty or liability of any nature (including any unknown, undisclosed, unmatured, unaccrued,
unasserted, contingent, indirect, conditional, implied, vicarious, derivative, joint, several or secondary liability), regardless of whether such
debt, obligation, duty or liability would be required to be disclosed on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP and regardless of
whether such debt, obligation, duty or liability is immediately due and payable.

“Medical Device” means each product subject to the FDCA or similar Legal Requirement in any foreign jurisdiction that is developed,
manufactured, tested, distributed and/or marketed by the Business.

“Off The Shelf Software” means software that is licensed under “shrink-wrap” or “click-through” Contracts and is generally
commercially available on reasonable terms through commercial distributors or in retail stores and does not required aggregate or annual
payments of more than $20,000 in the aggregate.

“Open Source Software” means any software that contains, or is derived in any manner (in whole or in part) from, any software that is
distributed as free software, open source software (e.g., GNU General Public License, Apache Software License, MIT License or other license
identified as an open source license by the Open Source Initiative (www.opensource.org) or the Free Software Definition (as promulgated by
the Free Software Foundation)).
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“Order” means any: (a) order, judgment, injunction, edict, decree, ruling, pronouncement, determination, decision, opinion, verdict,
sentence, subpoena, writ or award issued, made, entered, rendered or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any court,
administrative agency or other Governmental Body or any arbitrator or arbitration panel; or (b) Contract with any Governmental Body entered
into in connection with any Proceeding.

“Ordinary Course of Business” means an action taken by or on behalf of the Sellers in the normal and ordinary course of operating the
Business; provided, that an action shall not be deemed to have been taken in the “Ordinary Course of Business” unless such action is consistent
with the past practices of the Sellers and is taken in the ordinary course of the normal day‑to‑day operations of the Sellers.

“Organizational Documents” means the articles of incorporation, certificate of incorporation, charter, by-laws, articles of formation,
certificate of formation, regulations, operating agreement, certificate of limited partnership, limited liability company agreement or partnership
agreement and all other similar documents, instruments or certificates executed, adopted or filed in connection with the creation, formation or
organization of a Person, including any amendments thereto.

“Permitted Encumbrance” means (i) any restriction on transfer arising under applicable securities law, (ii) statutory liens for current
Taxes or other governmental charges not yet due and payable; (iii) mechanics’, carriers’, workers’, repairers’, landlords’ and similar statutory
Encumbrances arising or incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business for amounts which are not delinquent, or the amount or validity of which
is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings by or on behalf of the Sellers and their Subsidiaries; (iv) zoning, entitlement,
building and other land use regulations imposed by Governmental Bodies having jurisdiction over the Leased Real Property which are not
violated by the current use and operation of the Leased Real Property; (v) covenants, conditions, reservations, restrictions, rights-of-way,
easements and other similar matters of record or minor title or survey exceptions and other similar restrictions affecting title to the fee interest
of the Leased Real Property which do not materially impair the occupancy or use of the Leased Real Property for the purposes for which it is
currently operated or used; (vi) Encumbrances on the fee interest of the Leased Real Property which do not materially impair or interfere with
the occupancy, operation or use of the Leased Real Property for the purposes for which it is currently operated or used by the Sellers or a
Subsidiary of the Sellers, (vii) Encumbrances affecting the lessor or licensor under any real property lease agreement, (viii) Encumbrances
arising under worker’s compensation, unemployment insurance, social security, retirement and similar Legal Requirements; (ix) purchase
money Encumbrances and Encumbrances securing rental payments under capital lease arrangements; (x) Encumbrances securing Indebtedness
that is repaid or cancelled at Closing (and which Encumbrances are released at Closing); and (xi) non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual
Property.

“Person” means any individual, Entity or Governmental Body.

“Personal Information” means the personally identifiable information regulated by Privacy Laws and collected, used, disclosed or
retained by Sellers such as an individual’s name, address, age, gender, identification number, family status, citizenship, employment, assets,
liabilities, source of funds, payment records, credit information, personal references and health records.

“Plan” shall mean each: (a) employment, consulting, severance, termination, pension, retirement, supplemental retirement, excess
benefit, profit sharing, bonus, incentive, deferred compensation, retention, transaction and change in control plan, program, arrangement,
agreement, policy or commitment, (b) stock option, restricted stock, profits units, membership unit, deferred stock, performance stock, stock
appreciation, stock unit or other equity or equity-based plan, program, arrangement, agreement, policy or commitment, and (c) savings, life,
health, disability, accident, medical, dental, vision, death benefit, cafeteria, insurance, flex spending, adoption/dependent/employee assistance,
tuition, vacation, paid-time-off, perquisite, outplacement, welfare benefit, fringe benefit and other similar compensation or benefit plan,
program, arrangement, agreement, policy (whether formal or informal) or commitment, including in each case each “employee benefit plan” as
defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA (whether or not subject to ERISA), in any case, which either is sponsored, maintained or contributed to by the
Sellers on behalf of, or under which the Sellers have any obligation or liability, whether actual or contingent, to provide compensation or
benefits to or for the benefit
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of, any current or former Business Employee, or the spouses, beneficiaries or other dependents thereof.

“Post-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax Period beginning after the Closing Date and that portion of a Straddle Period beginning after
the Closing Date.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax Period ending on or before the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle Period ending on
the Closing Date.

“Pre-Closing Taxes” means any Liability of the Sellers or their Affiliates for any Tax and any Liability for Taxes imposed on the
Purchased Assets or with respect to the Business for any period or portion thereof prior to the Closing Date, including without limitation any
Liability of the Sellers for the Taxes of any other Person under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or
foreign law), as a transferee or successor, by Contract or otherwise.

“Pre-Closing Environmental Matters” means, as of or prior to the Closing Date, (i) the presence or Release of Hazardous Materials in,
on or under the Leased Real Property or any other property owned, leased or used by Sellers in connection with the Business and the Purchased
Assets regardless of how the Hazardous Materials came to rest at, on or under any such property, (ii) any disposal of Hazardous Materials to
any third-party offsite locations in connection with the Business (including without limitation from the Leased Real Property or any other
property owned, leased or used by Sellers in connection with the Business and the Purchased Assets), (iii) the failure of the Sellers, the
Business or any properties or operations used in connection with the Business to be in compliance with any Environmental Laws, and (iv) any
other act, omission or condition existing with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets which gives rise to Liability under any
Environmental Laws.

“Privacy Laws” means all applicable Laws of any nation or other jurisdiction in which Sellers operates governing the collection, use,
disclosure and retention of Personal Information, including without limitation the Standards for the Protection of Personal Information of
Residents of the Commonwealth, 201 CMR 17.00, et seg.

“Proceeding” means any Action, suit, litigation, arbitration, proceeding (including any civil, criminal,
administrative, investigative or appellate proceeding and any informal proceeding), prosecution, contest, hearing, inquiry, inquest, audit,
examination or investigation commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any Governmental Body or any
arbitrator or arbitration panel.

“Property Taxes” means all real property Taxes, personal property Taxes and similar ad valorem Taxes.

“Purchaser Indemnitees” means the following Persons: (a) Purchaser; (b) Purchaser’s current and future Affiliates; (c) the respective
Representatives of the Persons referred to in clauses “(a)” and “(b)” above; and (d) the respective successors and assigns of the Persons referred
to in clauses “(a)”, “(b)” and “(c)” above.

“Purchaser Material Adverse Effect” means an event, condition, change, development or other matter will be deemed to have a
“Purchaser Material Adverse Effect” on Purchaser if such event, condition, change, development or other matter, either individually or in
combination with any other event, condition, change, development or other matter had or could reasonably be expected to have a material
adverse effect on (a) the business, condition (financial or otherwise), capitalization, assets, liabilities, operations, financial performance or
prospects of the Purchaser’s business, taken as a whole, or (b) the ability of Purchaser to consummate the Transactions; provided, however, that
none of the following shall be deemed in themselves, either alone or in combination, to constitute, and none of the following shall be taken into
account in determining whether there has been a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect: (i) any adverse change, effect or event attributable to
conditions affecting the industry in which Purchaser participates, the U.S. economy or any other economy where Purchaser operates or the
capital markets in general or the markets in which they operate, except to the extent that any of the foregoing has had a disproportionate effect
on Purchaser as compared to other participants in the industry in which they operate; or (ii) the effect of any change arising in connection with
any “act of God” including weather, natural disasters (other than earthquakes), hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military actions
or any escalation or material worsening of any such hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or
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terrorism or military actions.

“Registered Intellectual Property” means any issued Patent, pending Patent application, Mark registration, application for Mark
registration, Copyright registration, application for Copyright registration and Domain Name registration owned, filed or applied for by the
Sellers.

“Registrations” means those authorizations and/or approvals issued by any Governmental Body (including premarket approval
applications, premarket notifications, investigational device exemptions, manufacturing approvals or authorizations, CE Marks, pricing and
reimbursement approvals, labeling approvals or their foreign equivalent) that are held by Sellers as of the Closing, for the manufacture,
distribution, marketing, storage, transportation, use and sale of the products being sold by the Business as of the Closing.

“Related Party” means each of the following: (a) each individual or Entity who is, or who has at any time been, an equity holder,
director, manger or officer of the Sellers; (b) each member of the family of each of the individuals referred to in Clause “(a)” above; and (c) any
Entity (other than the Sellers) in which any one of the individuals or Entities referred to in clauses “(a)” and “(b)” above holds or held (or in
which more than one of such individuals collectively hold or held), beneficially or otherwise, a controlling interest or a material voting,
proprietary or equity interest.

“Release” means any release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching, or migration
at, into, or through the environment, whether sudden or non-sudden and whether accidental or non-accidental.

“Representatives” means equity holders, managers, officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys, accountants, advisors and
representatives.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Seller Contract” means any Contract: (a) to which a Seller is a party; (b) by which a Seller or any of its assets is or may become bound
or under which a Seller has, or may become subject to, any obligation; or (c) under which a Seller has or may acquire any right or interest.

“Seller Indemnitees” means the following Persons: (a) VI; (b) VI’s current and future Affiliates; (c) the respective Representatives of
the Persons referred to in clauses “(a)” and “(b)” above; and (d) the respective successors and assigns of the Persons referred to in clauses “(a)”,
“(b)” and “(c)” above, in each case in their capacity as such.

“Seller Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property that is owned, used, or licensed by the Sellers.

“Seller Technology” means all Technology used in connection with, relating to or necessary for the conduct of the Business, including
in connection with any Business Products and Services.

“Straddle Period” means any Tax Period beginning before or on and ending after the Closing Date.

“Subsidiary” or “Subsidiaries” (whether or not capitalized) of any Person means any corporation, partnership, limited liability
company, joint venture or other legal entity of which such Person (either above or through or together with any other subsidiary), owns, directly
or indirectly, more than fifty percent (50%) of the shares or other equity interests the holders of which are generally entitled to vote for the
election of the board of directors or other governing body of such corporation or other legal entity.

“Systems” means, collectively, the ClariVein®IC system and the ClariVein®OC system, which are specialty infusion and occlusion
catheter systems with rotating wire tips designed for the controlled 360-degree dispersion of
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physician-specified agents to the targeted treatment area, as developed by the Sellers prior to the Closing and, for purposes of Section 1.4, as
may be improved or modified by Purchaser or its Affiliates after the Closing

“Tax” or “Taxes” means any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, branch profits, license, payroll, employment, excise,
severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental, customs duties, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social
security, unemployment, disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, ad valorem, value added, alternative or
add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalty, or addition thereto, whether disputed or not
and including any obligation to indemnify or otherwise assume or succeed to the Tax liability of any other Person by Legal Requirement, by
Contract or otherwise but excluding for this purpose Contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business not pertaining primarily to Taxes.

“Tax Period” means any period prescribed by any Governmental Body for which a Tax Return is required to be filed or a Tax is
required to be paid.

“Tax Returns” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, transfer pricing report or information return or statement relating
to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof, filed or required to be filed with a Governmental
Body.

“Technology” means all software, computer programs, databases, compilations, content, websites, information, designs, formulae,
compositions, algorithms, procedures, methods, techniques, ideas, know-how, research and development, technical data, subroutines, tools,
materials, specifications, processes, inventions (whether patentable or not and whether reduced to practice or not), invention disclosures,
improvements, apparatus, creations, works of authorship, content and other similar materials, and all recordings, graphs, drawings, reports,
analyses, documentation, user manuals and other writings, in any form whether or not specifically listed herein.

“Transaction Documents” means: (a) this Agreement; (b) the Escrow Agreement; (c) the Assumption Agreement; (d) the Bill of Sale;
(e) the certificate of non-foreign status under Treasury Regulations section 1.1445-2(b); (f) the Secretary’s Certificate; (g) the Trademarks
Assignment; (h) the Patents Assignment; (i) the IP Assignment and (j) the Yale Assumption Agreement.

“Transactions” means (a) the execution and delivery of the respective Transaction Documents, and (b) all of the transactions
contemplated by the respective Transaction Documents, including, among other things: (i) the sale by the Sellers and the purchase by Purchaser
of the Purchased Assets in accordance with this Agreement, (ii) the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities by Purchaser pursuant to the
Assumption Agreement; and (iii) the performance by the Sellers and Purchaser of their respective obligations under the Transaction
Documents, and the exercise by the Sellers and Purchaser of their respective rights under the Transaction Documents.

“Unpaid Seller Transaction Expenses” means (i) any and all fees and disbursements payable to legal counsel, accountants and other
advisors of the Sellers that are payable by or on behalf of the Sellers in connection with the Transactions, (ii) any retention bonuses, change in
control payments, severance or termination payments and any similar payments to be paid or payable by or on behalf of the Sellers in
connection with the Transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents and any employer-side payroll taxes incurred in connection
therewith, (iii) any fees payable to a broker, underwriter or finder engaged by or on behalf of Sellers, including, but not limited to,
Oppenheimer & Co., and (iv) all other miscellaneous expenses or costs, in each case, incurred by the Sellers or any of their Related Parties that
are payable by the Sellers, in connection with the Transactions but only to the extent they have not been paid by the Sellers in cash on or prior
to the close of business on the day immediately preceding the Closing.

“WARN Act” means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, as amended, or any similar state or local plant
closing or mass layoff law.

“Warranty Obligations” means all obligations under the product warranties described in Section 2.21 of the Disclosure Schedule,
specifically Sellers’ standard product warranties in respect of sales of the Systems described in
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paragraph 1 of Section 2.21 of the Disclosure Schedule, the product warranties in the Distributor Agreements, the “Customer First” program as
referenced in paragraph 3 of Section 2.21 of the Disclosure Schedule, including warranty service on products in the field, but excluding any
provisions (including warranties) in pricing agreements referenced in paragraphs 4 through 10 of Section 2.21 of the Disclosure Schedule,
relating to products of the Business sold on or prior to the Closing.

“Worldwide Net Sales” means the gross amounts invoiced for sales of the Systems to third parties by Purchaser, its Affiliates and its or
their respective transferees or licensees of substantially all rights pertaining to the Systems (collectively, the “Sales Parties”), less any of the
following deductions related to the Systems and actually taken on such sales for: (a)  normal and customary trade and quantity discounts
actually given; (b) credits, rebates and chargebacks and allowances to the customer on account of purchase of such Systems, or on account of
retroactive price reductions affecting such Systems; (c) amounts paid, granted or accrued on rejection or returns of such Systems; (d) packing,
freight, shipping, postage, custom duties and insurance costs on shipments to the customer that are separately itemized; and (e) sales, value-
added, and excise taxes, tariffs, duties and any other taxes and governmental charges related to the sale of such Systems to the customer, in each
case, to the extent such deductions: (i) are applicable and in accordance with standard allocation procedures, (ii) have not already been
deducted or excluded, and (iii) are incurred in the ordinary course of business in type and amount consistent with good industry practice.
Worldwide Net Sales shall be determined from the books and records in accordance with GAAP, applied on a consistent basis by Purchaser, and
may include using accrual accounting where applicable. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Worldwide Net Sales shall not include non-commercial
sales, such as transactions among the Sales Parties that are not intended for re-sale, or sales for pre-clinical or clinical trials or other testing. In
the case of any transfer of any System among the Sales Parties for resale, Worldwide Net Sales shall be determined based on the subsequent
sale of such System by the Sales Party to a third party. If a System is sold in a bundle with one or more Bundle Product Components (“Bundled
Sales”), Worldwide Net Sales on the Bundled Sales shall be calculated by multiplying the Worldwide Net Sales of that Bundled Sale by the
fraction A/(A+B), where A is the average sale price of the System included in the Bundled Sale when sold separately and B is the average sale
price of all Bundle Product Components included in the Bundled Sale when sold separately. If neither the System nor all of the Bundle Product
Components in the Bundled Sale were sold separately during one or more of the immediately preceding twelve (12) months, then the proration
fraction shall be determined in a consistent and equitable manner that reflects the relative contribution of the System to the amount received on
such Bundled Sale as the parties shall in good faith negotiate and agree.
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Cash Consideration    Section 1.2
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Contingent Asset    Section 1.6
Contingent Initial Resolution Period    Section 1.4(d)(ii)
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Contingent Payment Audit    Section 1.4(d)(ii)
Contingent Payment Period    Section 1.4(b)
Contingent Payments    Section 1.4(a)
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Fred P. Lampropoulos, certify that:
 

1.      I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “Report”) of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. (the “Registrant”);
 
2.      Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Report;
 
3.      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Report;
 
4.      The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the Registrant and have:

 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this Report is being prepared;

 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with general accepted accounting principles;

 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) disclosed in this Report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.      The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 

Date: May 3, 2019
 

  
/s/ Fred P. Lampropoulos

 

Fred P. Lampropoulos
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
 

(principal executive officer)
 



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Raul Parra, certify that:
 

1.      I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “Report”) of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. (the “Registrant”);
 
2.      Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Report;
 
3.      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Report;
 
4.      The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the Registrant and have:

 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this Report is being prepared;

 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with general accepted accounting principles;

 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) disclosed in this Report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.      The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 

Date: May 3, 2019
 

  
/s/ Raul Parra

 

Raul Parra
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

(principal financial officer)
 



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2019, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Fred P. Lampropoulos, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

 
(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 

Date: May 3, 2019 /s/ Fred P. Lampropoulos
 

Fred P. Lampropoulos
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
 

(principal executive officer)
 
This certification accompanies the foregoing Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Registrant for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A signed original of this certification has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2019, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Raul Parra, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

 
(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.

 

Date: May 3, 2019 /s/ Raul Parra
 

Raul Parra
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

(principal financial officer)
 
This certification accompanies the foregoing Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Registrant for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A signed original of this certification has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


